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ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME - Unaudited

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

Feb 29, Feb 28, Feb 29, Feb 28,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2004 2003
Revenues $61,371 $55,082 $120,628 $107,900
Cost of services 18,198 16,387 36,073 32,138
Selling, general and administrative 21,671 19,808 42,014 39,010
Total operating expenses 39,869 36,195 78,087 71,148
Income from operations 21,502 18,887 42,541 36,752
Other income 687 546 _ 1,422 _ 1,142
Income before income taxes 22,189 19,433 43,963 37,894
Provision for income taxes _7,452 _7,286 15,318 14,211
Net income $14,737 $12,147 $28,645 $23,683
Basic earnings per common share $0.45 $0.36 $0.86 $0.70
Diluted earnings per common share $0.43 $0.35 $0.82 $0.68
Weighted average common shares (Basic) 32,928 33,617 33,364 33,711
Weighted average common shares (Diluted) 34,164 34,565 34,871 34,626

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

FactSet Research Systems Inc.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - Unaudited

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

Feb 29, Feb 28, Feb 29, Feb 28,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2004 2003
Net income $14,737 $12,147 $28,645 $23,683
Change in unrealized loss on investments, net of taxes (94) 15 (75) __(13)
Comprehensive income $14,643 $12,162 $28,570 $23,670

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

FactSet Research Systems Inc.



CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(In thousands, except per share data)

February 29, August 31,
2004 2003
ASSETS (Unaudited)
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 36,811 $ 51,126
Investments 86,508 118,136
Receivables from clients and clearing brokers, net 38,779 35,704
Deferred taxes 5,086 5,493
Other current assets 2,651 1,888
Total current assets 169,835 212,347
LONG-TERM ASSETS
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, at cost 85,681 104,768
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (66,884 ) (85,421)
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 18,797 19,347
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Goodwill 13,677 13,677
Intangible assets, net 4,813 5,195
Deferred taxes 5,511 3,467
Other assets 2,247 2,126
TOTAL ASSETS $214,880 $256,159
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY February 29, August 31,
2004 2003
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 13,373 $ 13,793
Accrued compensation 8,495 15,228
Deferred fees 8,354 9,876
Dividends payable 1,918 2,020
Current taxes payable _ 3,946 _ 2,457
Total current liabilities 36,086 43,374
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred rent and other liabilities _7,204 556
Total liabilities 43,290 43,930
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 5)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued — —
Common stock, $.01 par value 350 346
Capital in excess of par value 54,353 47,413
Retained earnings 218,308 193,611
Accumulated other comprehensive loss __(225) —(150)
272,786 241,220
Less treasury stock, at cost (101,196 ) (28,991 )
Total stockholders’ equity 171,590 212,229
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $214,880 $256,159

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

FactSet Research Systems Inc.

Six Months Ended

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - Unaudited February 29, February 28,
(In thousands) 2004 2003
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $28,645 $23,683
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 7,549 8,664
Deferred tax benefit (1,637) (226)
Gain on sale of equipment (210) ——
Accrued ESOP contribution 1,320 1,164



Net income adjusted for non-cash items 35,667 33,285

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquired working capital

Receivables from clients and clearing brokers (3,075) (5,104)
Prepaid taxes -—— (362)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (634) 2,207
Accrued compensation (5,603) (4,520)
Deferred fees (1,522) (3,432)
Current taxes payable 1,489 (1,523)
Other working capital accounts, net (117) (87)
Income tax benefits from stock option exercises _ 479 __103
Net cash provided by operating activities 26,684 20,567

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Sales (purchases) of investments, net 31,553 (20,041)
Acquisition of business, net of working capital acquired - (7,702)
Landlord contributions to leasehold improvements 6,092 ——

Purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements (6,405) (3,928)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 31,240 (31,671)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividend payments (3,856) (3,196)
Repurchase of common stock (72,205) (16,428)
Proceeds from employee stock plans _ 3,822 _ 1,176
Net cash used in financing activities (72,239 ) (18,448)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (14,315) (29,552)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period _51,126 _44,819
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $36,811 $15,267

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FactSet Research Systems Inc.

February 29, 2004

(Unaudited)

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company” or “FactSet”) provides online integrated database services to the global investment community. The Company combines more than 200 databases into a
single online source of information and analytics. FactSet’s revenues are derived from month-to-month subscription charges.

Solely at the option of each client, these charges may be paid either in commissions from securities transactions or in cash. To facilitate the payment for services in commissions, the Company’s
wholly owned subsidiary, FactSet Data Systems, Inc. (“FDS”), is a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and is a registered broker-dealer under Section 15 of the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934. Services paid in commissions are derived from securities transactions introduced and cleared on a fully disclosed basis primarily through two clearing brokers. That is, a
client paying subscription charges on a commission basis directs the clearing broker, at the time the client executes a securities transaction, to credit the commission on the transaction to FDS.

FactSet Limited, FactSet France, Inc., FactSet GmbH, FactSet Pacific, Inc., LionShares Europe S.A.S., Innovative Systems Techniques, Inc. (“Insyte”) and FactSet Mergerstat, LLC
(“Mergerstat”) are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, with operations in London, Paris, Frankfurt, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Sydney, Avon (France), Boston and Santa Monica, California. The
Company dissolved eLumient.com, Insyte’s wholly owned, inactive subsidiary, on December 23, 2002.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the opinion of management, the accompanying condensed statements of financial condition and related condensed interim statements of income, comprehensive income and cash flows include all
normal adjustments in order to present fairly the results of the Company’s operations for the interim periods presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the financial
statements and footnotes to them included in the Company’s Annual Report of Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2003. The significant accounting policies of the Company and its
subsidiaries are summarized below.

Financial Statement Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany activity and balances have been eliminated from the consolidated
financial statements.

Cost of services is composed of employee compensation and benefits for the software engineering and consulting groups, clearing fees net of recoveries, data costs, amortization of identifiable
intangible assets, computer maintenance and depreciation expenses and client-related communication costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses include employee compensation and benefits
for the sales, product development and various other support departments, travel and entertainment expenses, promotional costs, rent, amortization of leasehold improvements, depreciation of furniture
and fixtures, office expenses, professional fees and other expenses.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant
estimates have been made in areas that include income and other taxes, depreciable lives of fixed assets, accrued liabilities, accrued compensation, receivable reserves and allocation of purchase price
to assets and liabilities acquired. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

FactSet applies Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”), Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, to its business arrangements for revenue recognition. Clients are invoiced monthly, in
arrears, to reflect the actual services rendered to them. Subscription revenue is earned each month as the service is rendered to clients, according to the specific subscription and the number of
workstations deployed for such month. A provision is made to allow for billing adjustments as a result of cancellation of service or reduction in number of workstations. Such provisions are accounted
for as a reduction of subscription revenue, with a corresponding reduction to subscriptions receivable. FactSet recognizes revenue when all the following criteria are met:

*  The client subscribes to our research services,

« the FactSet service has been rendered and earned during the month,

« the amount of the subscription is fixed and determinable based on established rates for each product
offering, quoted on an annualized basis, and

+  collectibility is reasonably assured.



Amounts that have been earned but not yet paid through the receipt of commissions on securities transactions or through cash payments are reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition as receivables from clients and clearing brokers, net. As of February 29, 2004, the amount of receivables from clients and clearing brokers, net that was unbilled totaled $21.6 million. Since
the Company invoices its clients monthly in arrears, the $21.6 million unbilled as of February 29, 2004 was billed at the beginning of March 2004. Amounts that have been received through
commissions on securities transactions or through cash payments that are in excess of earned subscription revenues are reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as deferred fees.

In March 2003, EITF 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, was issued. The EITF consensus applies to the Company for all transactions entered into beginning with FactSet’s
first quarter of fiscal 2004, effective September 1, 2003. EITF 00-21 contains further guidance on revenue recognition, particularly with respect to situations in which companies offer multiple services
or deliverables to a customer for a single, bundled price. Under the guidance in SAB 101, the Company’s subscriptions represent a single earnings process. Collection of subscription revenues through
FDS’s external clearing brokers does not represent a separate service or earnings process since FDS is not the principal party to the settlement of the securities transactions for which the clearing
brokers charge clearing fees. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, FactSet changed the presentation of its revenues in order to report them on a net rather than gross basis. This restatement, at that time, had no effect on the then
previously reported operating income, net income, earnings per share or stockholders’ equity for periods prior to the restatement. All the restated quarterly and annual amounts for prior required
reporting periods have previously been presented in FactSet’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2003. In the second quarter of fiscal 2004, revenue generated from cash paying clients totaled
$48.1 million and revenue generated from commission paying clients, net of $1.6 million in clearing fees, amounted to $13.3 million. For the first six months of fiscal 2004, revenue generated from
cash paying clients totaled $93.2 million and revenue generated from commission paying clients, net of $3.8 million in clearing fees, amounted to $27.4 million.

Clearing Fees

Clearing fees are expensed as a cost of service in the period incurred, at the time that a client executes securities transactions through clearing brokers. The Company earns the right to recover the
clearing fee from its clients at the time the securities transactions are executed, which is the period in which the clearing fees are incurred. This cost recovery is recorded as a reduction of cost of
services. Clearing fees and the related cost recovery in the first six months of fiscal years 2004 and 2003 approximated $3.8 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and money market investments with maturities of 90 days or less and are reported at fair value.

Investments
Investments have maturities greater than 90 days from the date of acquisition, are classified as available-for-sale securities and are reported at fair value. Fair value is determined for most investments
from readily available quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included net of tax in accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity.

Property, Equipment and I hold Improv

Computers and related equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of three years or less. Depreciation of furniture and fixtures is recognized using the double
declining balance method over estimated useful lives between five and seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related leases or estimated
useful lives of the improvements, whichever period is shorter.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consist of acquired technology resulting from the acquisitions of the Insyte, LionShares and Mergerstat businesses and are amortized on a straight-line basis using estimated useful
lives ranging between five and ten years.

Internal Use Software

The Company capitalizes only those direct costs incurred during the application development and implementation stages for developing, purchasing or otherwise acquiring software for internal use that
management believes have a probable future application in the Company’s subscription-based service. These costs are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the underlying software, generally
three years or less. All costs incurred during the preliminary planning project stage, including project scoping, identification and testing of alternatives, are expensed as incurred. Capitalized direct costs
associated with developing, purchasing or otherwise acquiring software for internal use are reported in the Property, Equipment & Leasehold Improvements line item of the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Financial Condition. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the software, beginning when the software is implemented and ready for its
intended use.

Landlord Contributions to I hold Improwvi S
In conjunction with entering into leases for office space, the Company receives contributions from landlords towards leasehold improvements which are included in the Deferred Rent and Other
Liabilities line item of the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. These contributions are amortized over the lives of the respective lease to which they pertain.

Income and Deferred Taxes

Deferred taxes are determined by calculating the future tax consequences associated with differences between financial accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is
established to the extent management considers it more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The effect on deferred taxes from income tax law changes
is recognized immediately upon enactment. The deferred tax provision is derived from changes in deferred taxes on the balance sheet and reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Income as a
component of income taxes. Income tax benefits derived from the exercise of non-qualified stock options or the disqualifying disposition of incentive stock options are recorded directly to capital in
excess of par value.

Earnings Per Share

The computation of basic earnings per share in each period is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding
includes shares issued to the Company’s employee stock plans. Diluted earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of common shares and potentially dilutive common shares
outstanding. Shares available pursuant to grants made under the Company’s stock option plans are included as common share equivalents using the treasury stock method.

Stock-Based Compensation

As discussed under New Accounting Pronouncements, the Company follows the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. The Company accounts for
stock-based compensation plans in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25. Stock option exercise prices equal the fair market value of the Company’s stock price on the date of grant. Therefore, no
compensation costs are recorded.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 148, (“SFAS 148”), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure. This statement provides
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. The statement also amends the disclosure requirements of
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123, (“SFAS 123”), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements
about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company accounts for its stock option
and employee stock purchase plans under APB Opinion No. 25, under which no compensation cost has been recorded. Stock option exercise prices equal the fair market value of the Company’s stock
price on the date of grant; thus no compensation costs are recorded. Had compensation cost for the two types of plans been determined pursuant to the measurement principles under SFAS 123, the
Company’s net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts for the three and six months ended February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

February 29,  February 28, February 29,  February 28,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income, as reported $14,737 $12,147 $28,645 $23,683
Deduct: Stock-based employee

compensation expense determined

under fair value based method

for all awards, net of related tax effects (1,976) (1,861) (3,399) (3,629)
Pro forma net income $12,761 $10,286 $25,246 $20,054
Basic - as reported $ 0.45 $ 0.36 $ 0.86 $ 0.70
Basic - pro forma $ 0.39 $ 0.31 $ 0.76 $ 0.59

Diluted - as reported $ 043 $ 0.35 $ 0.82 $ 0.68



Diluted - pro forma $ 0.37 $ 0.30 $ 0.72 $ 0.58

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants in the first six
months of fiscal 2004 and 2003:

STOCK OPTION PLANS

February 29, February 28,
Six months ended 2004 2003
Risk-free interest rate 2.57% 2.29%
Expected life 4.1 years 4.1 years
Expected volatility 50% 53%
Dividend yield 0.7% 0.6%
EMPLOYEE STOCK
PURCHASE PLAN February 29, February 28,
Six months ended 2004 2003
Risk-free interest rate 0.97% 1.43%
Expected life 3 months 3 months
Expected volatility 28% 51%
Dividend yield 0.6% 0.6%

In March 2003, EITF 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, was issued. The EITF consensus applies to us for all transactions entered into beginning with our first quarter of
fiscal 2004, effective September 1, 2003. EITF 00-21 contains further guidance on revenue recognition, particularly with respect to situations in which companies offer multiple services or deliverables
to a customer for a single, bundled price. Under the guidance in SAB 101, the Company’s subscriptions represent a single earnings process. Collection of subscription revenues through FDS’s external
clearing brokers does not represent a separate service or earnings process since FDS is not the principal party to the settlement of the securities transactions for which the clearing brokers charge
clearing fees. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

3. COMMON STOCK AND EARNINGS PER SHARE

Six Months Ended
Shares of common stock outstanding were as follows: February 29, February 28,
In thousands and unaudited 2004 2003
Balance at September 1, 33,660 33,788
Common stock issued for employee stock plans 377 229
Repurchase of common stock (2,070) _(_632)
Balance at February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003 31,967 33,385

On July 16, 2002, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program to acquire shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock in open market or negotiated transactions. This program
authorized the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of FactSet common stock. The program established no minimum number of shares for repurchase. During the second quarter of fiscal 2004, the
Company repurchased 65,000 shares at an average cost of $37.59 per share. Since the inception of the stock repurchase program, FactSet has purchased approximately 772,000 shares at an average
cost of $26.64 per share.

In January 2004, the Company purchased two million shares of its common stock from one of its co-founders, Howard E. Wille, at a price per share of $34.58. The purchase reduced the
Company’s weighted average common shares by one million in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. In subsequent quarters, the purchase will decrease the Company’s weighted average common shares
by an additional one million.

A reconciliation between the weighted average shares outstanding used in the basic and diluted EPS computations is as follows:

Weighted
Average
In thousands, except per share data; and unaudited Net Income  Common Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
For the Three Months Ended February 29, 2004
Basic EPS
Income available to common stockholders $14,737 32,928 $0.45
Diluted EPS
Dilutive effect of stock options — 1,236
Income available to common stockholders $14,737 34,164 $0.43
For the Three Months Ended February 28, 2003
Basic EPS
Income available to common stockholders $12,147 33,617 $0.36
Diluted EPS
Dilutive effect of stock options — 948
Income available to common stockholders $12,147 34,565 $0.35
Weighted
Average
In thousands, except per share data; and unaudited Net Income  Common Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
For the Six Months Ended February 29, 2004
Basic EPS
Income available to common stockholders $28,645 33,364 $0.86

Diluted EPS



Dilutive effect of stock options — _1,507
Income available to common stockholders $28,645 34,871 $0.82

For the Six Months Ended February 28, 2003

Basic EPS

Income available to common stockholders $23,683 33,711 $0.70
Diluted EPS

Dilutive effect of stock options — 915

Income available to common stockholders $23,683 34,626 $0.68
4. SEGMENTS

The Company has three reportable segments based on geographic operations: the United States, Europe and Asia Pacific. Each segment markets online integrated database services to investment
managers, investment banks and other financial services professionals. The U.S. segment services financial institutions throughout North America, while the European and Asia Pacific segments
service investment professionals located in Europe and other regions.

The European segment is headquartered in London, England and maintains office locations in Frankfurt, Germany and Paris and Avon, France. The Asia Pacific segment is headquartered in
Tokyo, Japan with office locations in Hong Kong and Sydney, Australia. Mainly sales and consulting personnel staff each of these foreign branch operations. Segment revenues reflect direct sales of
products and services to clients based in their respective geographic locations. There are no intersegment or intercompany sales of the FactSet service. Each segment records compensation, travel,
office and other direct expenses related to its employees. Expenditures related to the Company’s computing centers, data costs, clearing fees net of recoveries, income taxes and corporate headquarters
charges are recorded by the U.S. segment and are not allocated to the European and Asia Pacific segments. Goodwill of $13,677,000 at February 29, 2004, which reflects three prior acquisitions, is
included within the U.S. segment. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 2, “Accounting Policies”.

Segment Information
In thousands and unaudited u.s. Europe Asia Pacific Total

For The Three Months Ended February 29, 2004

Revenues from clients $ 48,959 $ 9,606 $ 2,806 $ 61,371
Segment operating profit * 16,221 4,002 1,279 21,502
Total assets at February 29, 2004 201,929 9,307 3,644 214,880
Capital expenditures 2,171 32 30 2,233

For The Three Months Ended February 28, 2003

Revenues from clients $ 44,188 $ 8,393 $ 2,501 $ 55,082
Segment operating profit * 14,270 3,581 1,036 18,887
Total assets at February 28, 2003 202,146 10,049 3,787 215,982
Capital expenditures 2,998 67 6 3,071

For The Six Months Ended February 29, 2004

Revenues from clients $ 96,255 $ 18,865 $ 5,508 $120,628
Segment operating profit * 31,763 8,085 2,693 42,541
Capital expenditures 6,203 79 123 6,405

For The Six Months Ended February 28, 2003

Revenues from clients $ 86,336 $ 16,504 $ 5,060 $107,900
Segment operating profit * 27,411 7,245 2,096 36,752
Capital expenditures 3,792 118 18 3,928

* Expenses, including income taxes, are not allocated or charged between segments. Expenditures associated with
the Company’s computer centers, clearing fees net of recoveries, data fees, income taxes, and corporate
headquarters charges are recorded by the U.S. segment.

5. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Commitments

The Company leases office space domestically in Greenwich and Stamford, Connecticut; Boston and Newton, Massachusetts; New York, New York; Chicago, Illinois; Manchester, New Hampshire;
Reston, Virginia; Tuscaloosa, Alabama; San Mateo and Santa Monica, California; and internationally in London; Tokyo; Hong Kong; Sydney; Frankfurt; and Paris and Avon, France. The leases expire
on various dates through August 2013. Total minimum rental payments associated with the leases are recorded as rent (a component of selling, general and administrative expenses) on a straight-line
basis over the periods of the respective lease terms.

During January 2004, the Company authorized, at its sole option, the release from escrow of its 15-year global headquarter lease, which will consolidate the Company’s current Greenwich and
Stamford offices into a single office in Norwalk, CT. The Company is expected to take possession of the leased property in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. The future minimum rental payments are
included in the table below.

At February 29, 2004, the Company’s lease commitments for office space provide for the following future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases with remaining terms in
excess of one year:

In thousands and unaudited

Years Ended August 31,

2004 (Remainder) $ 4,326
2005 6,686
2006 6,718
2007 5,242
2008 5,238
Thereafter 44,212
Minimum lease payments $ 72,422

Revolving Credit Facilities

In fiscal 2004, the Company renewed its 364-day revolving credit facility and continued to maintain its existing three-year credit facility. The credit facilities (the “facilities”) are available in an
aggregate principal amount of up to $25.0 million for working capital and general corporate purposes, with the facilities split into two equal tranches and maturing in March 2005 and November 2004.
Approximately $1.6 million in aggregate of these credit facilities has been utilized for letters of credit issued during the ordinary course of business as of February 29, 2004. The Company is obligated
to pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the facilities at a weighted average annual rate of 0.175%. The facilities also contain covenants that, among other things, require the Company to
maintain minimum levels of consolidated net worth and certain leverage and fixed charge ratios.

Taxes
In the normal course of business, the Company’s tax filings are subject to audit by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. Audits by four tax authorities are currently ongoing. Although there is



inherent uncertainty in the audit process, the Company has no reason to believe that such audits will result in the payment of additional taxes or penalties or both that would have a material adverse
effect on its results of operations or financial position, beyond current estimates.

6. IDENTIFIED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company’s identifiable intangible assets consist of acquired technology resulting from the acquisitions of the Insyte, LionShares and Mergerstat businesses in August 2000, April 2001 and January
2003, respectively. The weighted average useful life of the acquired technology is 8.83 years. These intangible assets have no assigned residual values. The gross carrying amounts and accumulated
amortization totals related to the Company’s acquired technology were approximately $6,438,000 and $1,626,000 at February 29, 2004, and $6,438,000 and $862,000 at February 28, 2003,
respectively. Amortization expense of approximately $191,000 and $382,000 was recorded in the three and six months ended February 29, 2004. Estimated amortization expense of the identifiable
intangible assets (acquired technology) for the remainder of fiscal 2004 and the remaining fiscal years is as follows:

Estimated

Amortization

In thousands and unaudited Fiscal Year Expense
2004 (Remainder) $ 382

2005 764

2006 736

2007 659

2008 420

Thereafter $1,851

7. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
In March 2004, the Company purchased one million shares of its common stock from one of its co-founders, Charles J. Snyder, at a price per share of $38.12. The purchase will reduce FactSet’s

weighted average common shares by 833,333 in the third quarter of fiscal 2004. In subsequent quarters, the purchase will decrease the Company’s weighted average common shares by an additional
166,667. This purchase had no effect on earnings per share for the three and six months ended February 29, 2004.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — Unaudited

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
Feb29, Feb 28, Feb29, Feb 28,
In thousands, except per share data 2004 2003  Change 2004 2003  Change
Revenues $61,371 $55,082 114% $120,628 $107,900 11.8%
Cost of services 18,198 16,387 11.1 36,073 32,138 12.2
Selling, general and administrative 21,671 19,808 9.4 42,014 39,010 7.7
Operating income 21,502 18,887 13.8 42,541 36,752 15.8
Net income 14,737 12,147 21.3 28,645 23,683 21.0
Diluted earnings per common share $ 043 $ 035 229% $ 082 $ 068 20.6%

REVENUES

Revenues for the quarter ended February 29, 2004 grew 11.4% to $61.4 million from $55.1 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. During the first half of fiscal 2004, revenues expanded 11.8% to
$120.6 million. Incremental subscriptions to our value-added applications and databases by our existing clients as well as the net addition of 64 clients over the past year were the main catalysts for this
growth for both of these periods. Approximately half of our revenue is derived from sales of databases and applications, while the remaining revenue is generated from our base fee and sales of
incremental passwords.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2004, overseas revenues increased 13.9% to $12.4 million compared to $10.9 million in the same period in the prior year. Revenues from European operations
advanced 14.4% and revenues from our Asia Pacific operations grew 12.2%. International revenues for the first six months of fiscal 2004 were $24.4 million, an increase of 13% from the same period
a year ago. Approximately 20% of our total revenues for both the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2004 were attributed to our international operations. Over 95% of the Company’s revenues are
received in U.S. dollars. Net monetary assets held by our international branch offices during the quarter ended February 29, 2004 were immaterial. Accordingly, our exposure to foreign currency
fluctuations was not material.

Demand for our Portfolio Analytics applications continued to rise during the second quarter of fiscal 2004. Portfolio Analytics had over 360 clients representing approximately 2,700 subscribers at
February 29, 2004 compared to approximately 335 clients and 2,400 subscribers at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2003.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2004, client count increased 6.9% to 992 versus 928 clients for the same period a year ago. Passwords, a measure of users of our services, remained constant at
19,400 as of February 29, 2004. Approximately one quarter of our revenue is generated from our investment banking clients, with most of the remaining revenue derived from our investment
management clients.

Total client subscriptions at February 29, 2004 rose 11.8% from a year ago to $249.2 million. Subscriptions at a given point in time represent the forward-looking revenues for the next twelve
months from all services currently being supplied to our clients. At February 29, 2004, the average subscription per client increased 4.6% to $251,000, up from an average of $240,000 a year ago.
International subscriptions were $50.5 million, representing over 20% of total client subscriptions.

No individual client accounted for more than 5% of total subscriptions. Subscriptions from the ten largest clients did not surpass 25% of total client subscriptions. At February 29, 2004, client
retention remained at a rate in excess of 95%.

OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of Services

Cost of services increased 11.1% to $18.2 million for the second quarter of fiscal 2004 from $16.4 million in the same period in fiscal 2003. During the first six months of fiscal 2004, cost of services
grew 12.2% to $36.1 million compared to $32.1 million during the first half of fiscal 2003. The primary drivers for increases in cost of services for both the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2004
were increases in employee compensation and benefits and data costs. During the second quarter of fiscal 2004, this increase was partially offset by a decrease in depreciation on computer-related
equipment.

Employee compensation and benefits expense grew $1.7 million in the quarter ended February 29, 2004 and $3.1 million in the first half of fiscal 2004 versus the comparable periods in fiscal
2003. The increases in both periods were primarily the result of employee additions and increases in merit compensation during the past twelve months. Data costs expanded $800,000 during the
second quarter of fiscal 2004 and $1.1 million compared to the same periods in fiscal 2003. Expanded database offerings and higher data fees resulting from a higher number of client users during the
second quarter and first half of fiscal 2004 caused the increase from the same year ago periods. During the first quarter of fiscal 2004, we completed our upgrade of our mainframe computers located in
our two data centers. The acquisition cost of our new Hewlett-Packard Marvel mainframe computers was significantly lower than the acquisition cost of the replaced mainframes resulting in a
$900,000 decrease in depreciation of computer-related equipment during the second quarter of fiscal 2004 as compared to the prior year period.

Selling, General and Administrative
Selling, general, and administrative (SG&A) expenses rose 9.4% to $21.7 million from $19.8 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. During the first six months of fiscal 2004, SG&A expenses
grew 7.7% to $42.0 million from $39.0 for the six months ended February 28, 2003. The increase during the three months ended February 29, 2004 were due to higher costs related to employee



compensation and benefits, travel and promotional expenses and professional fees partially offset by lower miscellaneous expenses. The increase for the first half of fiscal 2004 compared to the first
half of 2003 was due to growth in employee compensation and benefits and professional fees partially offset by lower miscellaneous expenses.

Employee compensation and benefits expense increased $1.4 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2004 compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2003 and $2.4 million for the first half of fiscal
2004 versus the same period in fiscal 2003. Growth in employee headcount and increased merit compensation largely contributed to the increases in the second quarter and the six months ended
February 29, 2004. Travel and promotional expenses grew $500,000 in the second quarter of fiscal 2004 compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2003 due to increased travel by our sales force as well
as increased spending on promotional product conferences. Professional fees grew $600,000 during the three months ended February 29, 2004 and $700,000 for the first half of fiscal 2004 versus the
comparable fiscal 2003 periods as a result of higher legal, tax planning and other consulting fees. Lower accruals related to taxes other than incomes taxes were primarily responsible for the $700,000
decrease in miscellaneous expenses for both the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2004 versus the same periods in fiscal 2004.

Operating Margin

Operating margin for the quarter ended February 29, 2004 was 35.0% compared to 34.3% for the same period a year ago. The operating margin for the first six months of fiscal 2004 was 35.3%
compared to 34.1% for the first half of fiscal 2003. Declines in computer-related expenses, occupancy costs and miscellaneous expenses as a percentage of revenues, partially offset by increases in
employee compensation and benefits, data costs, travel and promotional expenses and professional fees as a percentage of revenues, contributed to the improvement in second quarter operating
margins. The improvement in operating margin during the first half of 2004 is attributable to declines in computer-related expenses, occupancy costs and miscellaneous expenses as a percentage of
revenues, partially offset by increases in employee compensation and benefits data costs and professional fees.

Income Taxes

For the quarter ended February 29, 2004, income tax expense rose to $7.5 million from $7.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. Income tax expense for the six months ended February 29,
2004 increased to $15.3 million from $14.2 million in the first six months of fiscal 2003. The effective tax rate for the second quarter of fiscal 2004 was 33.6% compared to 37.5% in the prior year
period. During the first six months of fiscal 2004, the effective tax rate was 34.8% compared to 37.5% in the six months ended February 28, 2003. The decrease in the effective tax rate in the three and
six months ended February 29, 2004 compared to the prior year periods is due to additional federal income tax planning completed in the past twelve months and a tax benefit of $776,000 recognized
in the quarter ended February 29, 2004 which related primarily to the settlement of prior year tax returns for certain state credits.

Liquidity
For the six months ended February 29, 2004, cash generated by operating activities was $26.7 million, an increase of $6.1 million over the same period in fiscal 2003. The year over year increase in
cash flow from operating activities was primarily due to higher levels of profitability, decreased year over year growth rates in receivables from clients and clearing brokers, higher deferred fees
collected and an increase in current taxes payable, partially offset by a higher payout of accrued compensation and a reduction in accounts payable and accrued expenses during the first six months of
fiscal 2004.

In January 2004, we purchased two million shares of our common stock from one of our co-founders, Howard E. Wille, at a price per share of $34.58. In addition, we purchased one million shares
of our common stock in March 2004, from another co-founder, Charles J. Snyder, at a price per share of $38.12.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures for the second quarter of fiscal 2004 totaled $2.2 million and $6.4 million for the six months ended February 29, 2004. Approximately $1.0 million in capital expenditures
during the second quarter of fiscal 2004 related to computer-related equipment purchases for our data centers while the remainder related to expansion of our offices in the U.S. During the first six
months of fiscal 2003, approximately $4.9 million related to the acquisition of computer-related assets primarily for our data centers and $1.5 million related to expansion of our domestic offices. We
completed our mainframe computer upgrade by placing in service five Hewlett-Packard Marvel mainframe computers during the first quarter of fiscal 2004, for a total of eight installed at our two data
centers. Capital expenditures for fiscal 2004 should total approximately $35 million, net of landlord contributions to leasehold improvements.

Revolving Credit Facilities

In fiscal 2004, we renewed our 364-day revolving credit facility and continued to maintain our existing three-year credit facility. The credit facilities (the “facilities”) are available in an aggregate
principal amount of up to $25.0 million for working capital and general corporate purposes, with the facilities split into two equal tranches and maturing in March 2005 and November 2004.
Approximately $1.6 million in aggregate of these credit facilities has been utilized for letters of credit issued during the ordinary course of business as of February 29, 2004. We are obligated to pay a
commitment fee on the unused portion of the facilities at a weighted average annual rate of 0.175%. The facilities also contain covenants that, among other things, require us to maintain minimum
levels of consolidated net worth and certain leverage and fixed charge ratios.

Share Repurchases
On July 16, 2002, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program to acquire shares of our outstanding common stock in open market or negotiated transactions. This program authorized
the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of our common stock. The program established no minimum number of shares for repurchase. During the second quarter of fiscal 2004, we repurchased 65,000
shares at an average cost of $37.59 per share. Since the inception of the stock repurchase program, we have purchased approximately 772,000 shares at an average cost of $26.64 per share.

In January 2004, we purchased two million shares of our common stock from one of our co-founders, Howard E. Wille, at a price per share of $34.58. The purchase reduced our weighted average
common shares by one million in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. In subsequent quarters, the purchase will decrease our weighted average common shares by an additional one million.

In March 2004, we purchased one million shares of our common stock from our other co-founder, Charles J. Snyder, at a price per share of $38.12. The purchase will reduce our weighted average
common shares by 833,333 in the third quarter of fiscal 2004. In subsequent quarters, the purchase will decrease our weighted average common shares by an additional 166,667.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 148, (“SFAS 148”) Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure. This statement provides
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. The statement also amends the disclosure requirements of
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123, (“SFAS 123”), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements
about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. As permitted by SFAS 123, we account for our stock option and
employee stock purchase plans under APB Opinion No. 25, under which no compensation cost has been recorded. Stock option exercise prices equal the fair market value of our stock price on the date
of grant; thus no compensation costs are recorded. Had compensation cost for the two types of plans been determined pursuant to the measurement principles under SFAS 123, our net income and
earnings per share would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts for the three and six months ended February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

February 29,  February 28, February 29,  February 28,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income, as reported $14,737 $12,147 $28,645 $23,683
Deduct: Stock-based employee

compensation expense determined

under fair value based method

for all awards, net of related tax effects (1,976) (1,861) (3,399) (3,629)
Pro forma net income $12,761 $10,286 $25,246 $20,054
Basic - as reported $ 0.45 $ 0.36 $ 0.86 $ 0.70
Basic - pro forma $ 0.39 $ 0.31 $ 0.76 $ 0.59
Diluted - as reported $ 043 $ 0.35 $ 0.82 $ 0.68

Diluted - pro forma

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants in the first six
months of fiscal 2004 and 2003:

STOCK OPTION PLANS
February 29, February 28,
Six months ended 2004 2003



Risk-free interest rate 2.57% 2.29%

Expected life 4.1 years 4.1 years
Expected volatility 50% 53%
Dividend yield 0.7% 0.6%
EMPLOYEE STOCK

PURCHASE PLAN February 29, February 28,
Six months ended 2004 2003
Risk-free interest rate 0.97% 1.43%
Expected life 3 months 3 months
Expected volatility 28% 51%
Dividend yield 0.6% 0.6%

In March 2003, EITF 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, was issued. The EITF consensus applies to us for all transactions entered into beginning with our first quarter of
fiscal 2004, effective September 1, 2003. EITF 00-21 contains further guidance on revenue recognition, particularly with respect to situations in which companies offer multiple services or deliverables
to a customer for a single, bundled price. Under the guidance in SAB 101, our subscriptions represent a single earnings process. Collection of subscription revenues through FDS’s external clearing
brokers does not represent a separate service or earnings process since FDS is not the principal party to the settlement of the securities transactions for which the clearing brokers charge clearing fees.
The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies, which are in compliance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, require us to apply methodologies, estimates and judgments that have a significant
impact on the results we report in our financial statements. In our annual report on Form 10-K, we have discussed those policies that we believe are critical and require the use of judgment in their
application. Since the date of that Form 10-K, there have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies or the methodologies or assumptions applied under them.

Forward-Looking Factors
Business Outlook
The following forward-looking statements reflect our expectations as of March 16, 2004. Given the number of risk factors, uncertainties and assumptions discussed below, actual results may differ

materially. We do not intend to update our forward-looking statements until our next quarterly results announcement, other than in publicly available statements.

Third Quarter Fiscal 2004 Expectations

o Revenues are expected to range between $62.5 million and $64.0 million
o Operating margins are expected to range between 34.5% and 35.5%.
o The effective tax rate is expected to range between 36.5% and 37.0%

Full Year Fiscal 2004

o Capital expenditures should total approximately $35.0 million, net of landlord contributions to leasehold improvements.

Recent Developments

In March 2004, we purchased one million shares of FactSet common stock from one of our co-founders, Charles J. Snyder, at a price per share of $38.12. The purchase will reduce our weighted
average common shares by 833,333 in the third quarter of fiscal 2004. In subsequent quarters, the purchase will decrease our weighted average common shares by an additional 166,667. This purchase
had no effect on earnings per share for the three and six months ended February 29, 2004.

Recent Market Trends

We are exposed to various economic and financial risks associated with equity and foreign currency markets as well as risks related to interest rate fluctuations during the normal course of business.
The major equity indices (for example Dow Jones 30 Industrials, Russell 2000®, Nasdaq Composite®, and MSCI European Index) have experienced significant volatility since March 2000. Continued
volatility in general economic and market conditions is still possible in the near future. External factors such as the threat of hostilities among various nations or continued military actions by the
United States could undermine any potential continued economic recovery. A decline in the worldwide markets could adversely impact a significant number of our clients (primarily investment
management firms and investment banks) and increase the likelihood of personnel and spending reductions among our existing and potential clients. Continued investigations into the investment
management industry by various regulatory bodies could have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, changes to regulations regarding soft dollar payments could have an negative impact to our
operations.

The fair market value of our investment portfolio at the February 29, 2004 was $86.5 million. It is anticipated that the fair market value of our portfolio will continue to be immaterially affected by
fluctuations in interest rates. Preservation of principal is the primary goal of our investment portfolio. Pursuant to our established investment guidelines, third-party managers construct portfolios to
achieve high levels of credit quality, liquidity and diversification. Our investment policy dictates that the weighted-average duration of short-term investments may not exceed two years. Our
investment guidelines do not permit us to invest in puts, calls, strips, short sales, straddles, options or futures, nor are we permitted to invest on margin. Because we have no outstanding long-term
indebtedness and we have a restrictive investment policy, our financial exposure to fluctuations in interest rates is expected to remain low.

Taxes

In the normal course of business, our tax filings are subject to audit by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. Audits by four tax authorities are currently ongoing. Although there is inherent
uncertainty in the audit process, we have no reason to believe that such audits will result in the payment of additional taxes or penalties or both that would have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations or financial position, beyond current estimates.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains forward-looking statements that are based on management’s current expectations, estimates and projections. All statements that address
expectations or projections about the future, including statements about our strategy for growth, product development, market position, subscriptions and expected expenditures and financial results are
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements may be identified by words like “expected,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “intends,” “projects,” “should,” “indicates,” “continues,” “subscriptions,”
“commitments” and similar expressions. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions (“future factors”). Therefore, actual
results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in such forward-looking statements. We will publicly update forward-looking statements as a result of new information or future
events in accordance with applicable Securities and Exchange Commission regulations.

Future factors include, but are not limited to, our ability to hire and retain qualified personnel; the maintenance of our leading technological position; the impact of global market trends on our
revenue growth rate and future results of operations; the negotiation of contract terms supporting new and existing databases or products; retention of key clients and their current service levels;
increased competition in our industry; the successful resolution of ongoing and other probable audits by tax authorities; the continued employment of key personnel; the absence of U.S. or foreign
governmental regulation restricting international business; and the sustainability of historical levels of profitability and growth rates in cash flow generation.

» & » 6 »

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio of cash, cash equivalents and investments. Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and money market investments
with maturities of 90 days or less. Our investment portfolio, which is designed for the preservation of principal, consists of U.S. Treasury notes and bonds, corporate bonds and municipal bonds. The
investment portfolio is subject to interest rate risk as investments are sold or mature and are reinvested at current market rates. Derivative financial instruments are not permitted by our investment
guidelines.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES



Within 90 days prior to the filing date of this report, the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that all material information required to be filed in this quarterly report has been made known to them in a timely fashion. There have been
no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls, subsequent to the date of such evaluation.

PartII OTHER INFORMATION

Ttem 1. Legal Proceedings: None

Item 2. Changes in Securities: None

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities: None

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders: None
Item 5. Other Information: None

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K:

(a) Exhibits:

EXHIBIT
NUMBER DESCRIPTION
10.2 Amendment to 364-Day Credit Agreement, dated March 25, 2004
109 Stock Purchase and Amendment Agreement, dated January 21, 2004, between
: the Company and Howard E. Wille
Lease dated December 17, 2003, between the Company and Merritt 7 Venture L.L.C.
10.10
(released from escrow on January 8, 2004)
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
32.2 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

We filed or furnished one report on Form 8-K during the quarter ended February 29, 2004. Information regarding the item on which we reported is as follows:

Date Filed or Furnished Item No. Description
December 16, 2003 Items 7 On December 16, 2003, we announced our results for the
and 12 three months ended November 30, 2003.*

* The furnished Form 8-K is not to be deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any filing.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.
Registrant

Date:  April 14, 2004 /sl ERNEST S. WONG

Ernest S. Wong,
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Secretary

EXHIBIT INDEX
EXHIBIT
NUMBER
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer

32.2 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14 OR 15d-14 OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Philip A. Hadley, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FactSet Research Systems Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this quarterly report (the “Evaluation Date”); and
c) presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have
identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this quarterly report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: April 14, 2004
/s/_Philip A. Hadley
Philip A. Hadley
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14 OR 15d-14 OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ernest S. Wong, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FactSet Research Systems Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this quarterly report (the “Evaluation Date”); and
c) presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have
identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and



6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this quarterly report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: April 14, 2004
/s/ _Ernest S. Wong
Ernest S. Wong
Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1

FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending February 29, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Philip A. Hadley, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Philip A. Hadley
Philip A. Hadley
Chief Executive Officer
April 14, 2004

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to FactSet Research Systems Inc. and will be retained by FactSet Research Systems Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 32.2

FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FactSet Research Systems Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending February 29, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Ernest S. Wong, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

[s/ Ernest S. Wong
Ernest S. Wong
Chief Financial Officer
April 14, 2004

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to FactSet Research Systems Inc. and will be retained by FactSet Research Systems Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 10.2

EXECUTION COPY

AMENDMENT TO 364-DAY CREDIT AGREEMENT

This Amendment to 364-Day Credit Agreement (the “Amendment”), dated as of March 25, 2004, is between (i) FactSet Research Systems, Inc. (the “Borrower”), and (ii) JPMorgan Chase
Bank (the “Bank”).

WHEREAS, the Borrower and the Bank are parties to a 364-Day Credit Agreement dated as of November 20, 1998, as amended (the “Credit Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Bank and the Borrower desire to amend the Credit Agreement to extend the Maturity Date.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is acknowledged, it is hereby agreed as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. Terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Credit Agreement.

Section 2. Amendment to Section 1.01. The definition of the term Maturity Date, in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement, is hereby amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“Maturity Date” means March 23, 2005.

Section 3. Representations. The Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the Bank that: (i) the representations and warranties set forth in Article III of the Credit Agreement are true and
correct in all material respects with the same effect as if made on the date hereof, except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date; (ii) before and after giving effect to
this Amendment, no Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing; and (iii) the making and performance by the Borrower of this Amendment have been duly authorized by all necessary

corporate action.

Section 4. Conditions. The amendment set forth in Section 2 above shall become effective on the date first above written provided that the Bank shall have received a counterpart of this
Amendment duly executed and delivered by the Borrower.

Section 5. Miscellaneous. Except as specifically amended hereby, the Credit Agreement shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with the provisions thereof as in existence on the date
hereof. After the date hereof, any reference to “this Agreement”, “herein”, “hereunder” and similar terms referring to the Credit Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the Credit Agreement as
amended hereby. This Amendment (i) shall become effective as of the date first above written, (ii) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, and (iii)
may be executed in counterpart (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Should any terms or provisions of the
Credit Agreement conflict with the terms and provisions contained in this Amendment, the terms and provisions of this Amendment shall prevail.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, by their officers thereunto duly authorized, have executed this Amendment as of the day and year first above written.

FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC. JPMORGAN CHASE BANK

By: /s/ Ernest S. Wong By: /s/T. David Short

Its: Chief Financial Officer Its: Vice President
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STOCK PURCHASE
AND AMENDMENT AGREEMENT

STOCK PURCHASE AND AMENDMENT AGREEMENT, dated as of January 21, 2004 (the “Agreement”), between Howard E. Wille (the “Stockholder” or “Wille”) and FactSet Research
Systems Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”).

WHEREAS, Wille and the Company are parties to the Registration Rights Agreement dated June 27, 1996 (the “Registration Rights Agreement”), pursuant to which Wille may, at any time and
from time to time, demand that the Company register pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, those shares of Company common stock, $.01 par value per share, (“Common Stock”) held by
Wille, and the Company is obligated to use all reasonable efforts to cause the prompt registration of Common Stock specified in such request;

WHEREAS, Wille has informed the Company he might wish to present a demand to the Company for the registration of shares of Common Stock;

WHEREAS, the parties hereto deem Wille to have submitted a written registration rights demand, dated as of the Closing Date (as defined herein), covering the Shares (as herein defined) pursuant
to Section 1(a) of the Registration Rights Agreement;

WHEREAS, the parties hereto deem the Company to have exercised its right, pursuant to section 1(a) of the Registration Rights Agreement, to postpone for up to 90 days the filing of the
registration statement it would otherwise be required to file pursuant to the Wille registration rights demand; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to purchase, and Wille desires to sell or cause to be sold to the Company, 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock held by Wille as of the Closing Date;

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements to be performed as hereinafter set forth, and for other good and sufficient consideration, the receipt of
which is hereby acknowledged, agree as follows:

1. PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES.
(a) On the Closing Date the Company shall purchase from Wille, and Wille shall sell to the Company, 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock (herein referred to as the “Shares™).
(b) The purchase price payable by the Company for the Shares shall be $34.58375 per Share or an aggregate amount of $69,167,500, in cash (the “Aggregate Purchase Price”).

(c) The closing of the purchase and sale of the Shares (the “Closing”) shall take place at 10:00 AM EST on January 26, 2004 (the “Closing Date”), or at such other time as Wille and the
Company may agree to in writing. At the Closing, the Company shall deliver the Aggregate Purchase Price to Wille against receipt of which Wille shall deliver the Shares to the Company. Delivery of
the Aggregate Purchase Price shall be by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designed in writing by Wille. Delivery of the Shares shall be by transfer of a valid security
entitlement to the securities account designated by the Company.

(d) As of the Closing Date, (i) Wille shall be deemed properly and with full legal effect to have submitted a written demand for registration of the Shares, and (ii) the Company shall be deemed
properly and with full legal effect to have postponed for a reasonable period of time, but not in excess of 90 calendar days from the Closing Date, the filing of the registration statement otherwise
deemed to be required to be prepared and filed in accordance with the Wille demand for registration of the Shares.

2. OVER-ALLOTMENT OPTION. The Registration Rights Agreement is hereby amended, effective as of the date of which this Agreement is being executed and delivered, by inserting
the following immediately following Section (2)(k):

Section 2(1): Over-allotment Option.

If the Stockholder Howard E. Wille (“Wille”) shall so request, in connection with a registration demand pursuant to Section 1 hereof, the Company shall grant the underwriters of the offering to
be made in respect of such registration demand the option to purchase Common Stock from its treasury or its authorized unissued shares up to the lesser of 10% of the number of shares covered
by the registration demand or 300,000 shares in respect of any over-allotment option (a “Green Shoe”) for such offering.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

(i) Organization. The Company is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite corporate or other power and authority
and all necessary governmental approvals to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as currently conducted, except to the extent that the failure to be in good standing or to
have such approvals would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

(ii) Authorization; Validity of First Amendment. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby have ben duly authorized by the Company, and no other corporate or other action on the part of the Company or its Board of Directors is necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by the
Company of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and no vote of, or consent by, the holders of any class or series of securities issued by the Company is
necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(iii) Consents; Approvals; Violations of Contracts or Laws. The execution and delivery by the Company of, and the performance by the Company of its obligations under, this Agreement
will not violate (i) any provision of applicable law, (ii) the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of the Company, (iii) any agreement or other instrument binding upon the Company or any of its
subsidiaries that is material to the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole or (iv) any judgment, order or decree of any governmental body, agency or court applicable to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, except, in the cases of clauses (i), (iii) and (iv), for violations that would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a
whole, or the Company’s ability to perform its obligations hereunder; and no consent, approval, authorization or order of, or qualification with, any governmental body or agency or other person or

third party is required for the performance by the Company of its obligations under this Agreement.
(b) Representations and Warranties by Wille. Wille represents and warrants to the Company that:
(i) Share Ownership. As of the Closing Date, he owns the Shares free and clear of all liens and encumbrances.

(ii) Authorization; Execution; Delivery. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Wille, and Wille has any authorization and approval required by law to consummate
the transactions contemplated hereby.

(iif) Consents; Approvals; Violations of Contracts or Laws. The execution and delivery by Wille of, and the performance by Wille of his obligations under, this Agreement, will not
violate (i) any provision of applicable law, (ii) any agreement or other instrument binding upon him, or (iii) any judgment, order or decree of any governmental body, agency or court applicable to him,
except for violations that would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on his ability to perform his obligations hereunder.

4. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

5. ENTIRE AMENDMENT; NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES. The Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement as amended hereby (a) constitute the entire agreement between
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior amendments and understandings, both written and oral, with respect to such matters and (b) are not intended to confer upon
any person other than Wille and the Company any rights or remedies hereunder.



6. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable under any present or future applicable law or order, and if the rights or obligations of
any party under this Agreement will not be materially or adversely affected thereby, (i) such provision will be fully severable, (ii) this Agreement will be construed and enforced as if such illegal,
invalid or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part hereof, and (iii) the remaining provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect and will not be affected by any such
illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by its severance herefrom.

7. AGREEMENT TO REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT. Except as amended hereby, the Registration Rights Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and is hereby ratified,
adopted and confirmed in all respects. This Agreement shall be deemed to be an amendment to the Registration Rights Agreement. All references in the Registration Rights Agreement to “this
Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof”, “herein”, or words of like import, and all references to the Registration Rights Agreement in any other agreement or document shall hereafter be deemed to refer to
the Registration Rights Agreement as amended hereby.

8. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, but such counterparts shall
together constitute one and the same. Each counterpart may consist of a number of copies hereof and each signed by less than all, but together signed by all, of the parties.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.

By: /s/ Philip A. Hadley
Name: Philip A. Hadley,

Title:  Chairman of the Board and
Title:  Chief Executive Officer

HOWARD E. WILLE

By: /s/ Howard E. Wille
Name: Howard E. Wille
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LEASE

MERRITT 7 VENTURE L.L.C., Landlord

AND

FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS, INC., Tenant

Date: December 16, 2003

Space: 38,045 s.f., Entire First Floor
38,045 s.f., Entire Second Floor
38,045 s.f., Entire Third Floor
12,785 s.f., Fourth Floor

Building 601 Merritt
7 Corporate Park Norwalk,
Connecticut 06851
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LEASE, dated December 16, 2003, between MERRITT 7 VENTURE L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company having its principal place of business at c/o Albert D. Phelps, Inc., 401
Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851 (hereinafter called “Landlord”), and FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation having an office at One Greenwich Plaza, Greenwich,
Connecticut 06830 (hereinafter called “Tenant”).

WITNESSETH:

ARTICLE 1

Premises, Definitions, Term, and Rent. Etc.

Section 1.1 Premises. Landlord does hereby lease to Tenant, and Tenant does hereby hire from Landlord, subject to the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions of this Lease,
for the term hereinafter stated, certain premises consisting of approximately 126,920 rentable square feet comprising 38,045 rentable square feet, the entire First Floor; 38,045 rentable square feet, the
entire Second Floor; 38,045 rentable square feet, the entire Third Floor; and 12,785 rentable square feet, a portion of the Fourth Floor of the building (hereafter called the “Building™), known as
Building 601, located at the Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, substantially as shown shaded on the rental plans annexed hereto as Exhibit A. Said leased premises, together with
all fixtures, equipment, improvements, installations and appurtenances which at the commencement of, or during the term of this Lease, are thereto attached (except items not deemed to be included
therein and removable by Tenant as provided in Article 4 of this Lease) are hereinafter called the “Premises”. The plot of land on which the Building is located is hereinafter called the “Land” and is
legally described on attached Exhibit B.

Section 1.2  Definitions. For the purposes of this Lease, unless the context otherwise requires:

(a) “Building Systems” shall mean the mechanical, gas, electrical, sanitary, heating, air-conditioning, ventilating, elevator, plumbing, life-safety, roof and other service systems of the Building.

(b) “Business Days” shall mean all days except Saturdays, Sundays and the following holidays: New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and
Christmas Day. This definition may be changed by Landlord (provided such changes are limited to recognition of nationally recognized holidays) from time to time, upon not less than thirty (30) days’
notice to Tenant.

(©) “Business Hours” applicable to the Premises shall mean Tenant’s customary hours of doing business, as may be modified from time to time by notice to Landlord. Initially, Business Hours
shall be 8 A.M. to 6 P.M. on Business Days and 8 A.M. to 1 P.M. on Saturdays.



(d) “Common Areas” shall mean all of the areas of the Property not intended to be occupied by tenants, including without limitation elevator shafts, utility closets, fire stairs, the parking areas of
the Garage, the exterior of the Building, the roof, plaza areas, truck docks, the main entrance lobby, elevator lobbies, bathrooms, landscaping and the Land.

(e) “Control” shall mean ownership of more than 35% of the outstanding voting stock of a corporation or other majority equity and/or control interest if not a corporation and/or the possession
of power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policy of such corporation or other entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by statute or according to the provisions
of a contract.

) “Environmental Laws” shall mean all applicable federal, state, county, and local statutes, laws, regulations, rules, ordinances, codes, standards, guidelines, orders, licenses and permits of any
Governmental Authorities relating to environmental, health or safety matters, including by way of illustration and not by way of limitation, the Clean Air Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act
of 1972, the Solid Waste Disposal Act of 1970, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1970, the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the Toxic Substances Control Act and any state and local equivalents of the preceding laws, including, but not
limited to Connecticut General Statute § 22a-1 et seq., including any amendments or extensions thereof and all future similar statutes, laws, rules, regulations, and directives and any rules, regulations,
standards or guidelines issued pursuant to any of said Environmental Laws.

(g “Garage” shall mean the garage that is located directly under and around the Building.

(h) “Governmental Authorities” or a “Governmental Authority” shall mean any federal, state, county, municipal or local government or any quasi-governmental authority, now or hereafter
created and all departments, commissions, boards, bureaus and offices thereof having or claiming jurisdiction over the Building or any portion thereof.

@) “Hazardous Substances” shall mean any hazardous or toxic chemical, waste, byproduct, pollutant, contaminant, compound, product or substance, including, without limitation, asbestos,
polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum (including crude oil or any fraction thereof), and any material the exposure to, or manufacture, possession, presence, use, generation, storage, transportation,
treatment, release, disposal, abatement, cleanup, removal remediation or handling of which is now, or may in the future be, prohibited, controlled or regulated by any Environmental Laws.

j “Insurance Requirements” shall mean all rules, regulations and requirements of the Connecticut Board of Fire Underwriters, the Connecticut Fire Insurance Rating Organization and any
similar bOdy from time to time.

(k) “Landlord’s Representatives” shall mean the employees, contractors and other agents of Landlord as may be designated in writing by Landlord.

[0)] “Park” shall mean the Merritt 7 Corporate Park, currently consisting of Buildings 101, 201, 301, 401, 501 and the Building, Norwalk, CT, all of which are owned by Landlord or affiliates of
Landlord.

(m) “Property” shall mean, collectively, the Land and Building.

(n) “Requirements” shall mean all present and future laws, rules, orders, ordinances, regulations, statutes, requirements, codes and executive orders, extraordinary as well as ordinary, of all
Governmental Authorities now existing or hereafter created, and of any and all of their departments and bureaus affecting the Property or any portion thereof, or any street, avenue or sidewalk
comprising a part of or in front thereof, including without limitation the Americans With Disabilities Act and the regulations thereunder.

(o) [intentionally omitted]

()] “Substantially Completed” or “Substantial Completion” shall mean (i) the stage in the progress of work when such work (or a designated portion thereof) is sufficiently complete in
accordance with applicable plans and specifications so that the applicable party can occupy or utilize the work for its intended use, in accordance with applicable law, or continue with its own work
efficiently and in phase as the case may be; (ii) a certificate of occupancy has been approved for such work by the City of Norwalk; and (iii) a certificate of Substantial Completion has been issued by
the independent architect who or which prepared the applicable plans and specifications.

(Q) “Tenant Work” shall mean the tenant improvement work necessary to complete the Premises, which work will be performed pursuant to Article 29 herein.

(r) “Tenant’s Property” shall mean Tenant’s moveable fixtures and moveable partitions, telephone and other equipment, furniture, furnishings, work stations, decorations (excluding wall and
floor coverings) and other items of personal property. Tenant’s Property shall include without limitation, all moveable equipment and other items installed in Tenant’s cafeteria, bookcases attached to
walls, fitness equipment, video equipment and video conferencing equipment, including specialty screens, bars, built-in art work and displays. Tenant’s Property shall not include the Tenant Work and
Additional Tenant Work (as hereinafter defined).

(s) “Tenant’s Representatives” shall mean those for whom in the circumstances Tenant is responsible in law.
®) “Term” shall mean the aggregate of the Initial Term and any Extended Terms as to which Tenant has exercised its option.
(u) “Unavoidable Delay” shall mean any and all delays beyond the reasonable control of a party, including without limitation delays caused by the other party hereto, governmental restrictions,

governmental regulations, order of civil, military or naval authority, governmental preemption, acts of God, fire, earthquake, floods, explosions, extreme weather conditions, enemy action, civil
commotion, riot or insurrection, fire or other unavoidable casualty, strikes or any other cause beyond such party’s control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, lack of funds shall not be deemed a cause
beyond either party’s reasonable control.

Section 1.3 Term. The initial term of this Lease (the “Initial Term”) shall commence (the “Term Commencement Date”) on January 1, 2005, subject to possible adjustment pursuant to Section

1.5 hereof. Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, the Initial Term shall end on the earlier of (a) the fifteenth (15th) anniversary of the Term Commencement Date, or (b) the date upon which said
Term may expire or be terminated pursuant to any of the conditions or limitations or other provisions of this Lease or pursuant to law.

Section 1.4 Rent.
(a) The annual rent reserved under this Lease for the Initial Term shall be and consist of a net rent (“Net Rent”), namely:

@) At the rate of (Redacted) per annum (which is calculated at the rate of (Redacted) per rentable square foot) for the first, second, third, fourth and fifth years of the Initial Term of this
Lease; and

(ii) At the rate of (Redacted) per annum (which is calculated at the rate of (Redacted) per rentable square foot) for the sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth and tenth years of the Initial Term of
this Lease; and

(iii) At the rate of (Redacted) per annum (which is calculated at the rate of (Redacted) per rentable square foot) for the eleventh, twelfth and thirteenth years of the Initial Term of this
Lease; and

(iv) At the rate of (Redacted) per annum (which is calculated at the rate of (Redacted) per rentable square foot) for the fourteenth and fifteenth years of the Initial Term of this Lease.

(b) The Net Rent plus the cost of Tenant’s electric consumption as set forth in Article 24 hereof, plus the cost of Operating Expenses as set forth in Article 26 hereof and plus such additional rent
and other charges as shall become due and payable hereunder (collectively, the “Rent”), shall be payable as hereinafter provided to Landlord at its office, or such other place as Landlord may designate,
in lawful money of the United States of America.

(c) Net Rent due hereunder for each lease year during the Term shall be payable in advance by Tenant in twelve (12) equal monthly installments, each installment to be paid on the first (1st) day
of each calendar month during the Term, provided, however, if the Term Commencement Date is advanced or delayed pursuant to Section 1.5 of this Lease, such that the first (1st) lease year of the
Term shall be more than one (1) calendar year (in the case of an advance in the Term Commencement Date), or less than one (1) calendar year (in the case of a delay in the Term Commencement Date),
then the Net Rent for such first lease year shall be adjusted in a manner consistent with the intent and purposes of Section 1.5, and the first installment of Net Rent shall be due on the Term
Commencement Date, as same has been advanced or delayed pursuant to Section 1.5 of this Lease. If, by reason of any of the other provisions of this Lease, the Term Commencement Date shall
commence on any day other than the first day of a calendar month or if the Term shall end on a date other than the last day of a calendar month, the Rent for such partial calendar month shall be
prorated on the basis of the number of days in such month (“Daily Rate”). Rent for such partial month shall be the product of the number of days in such month that are part of the Term multiplied by
the Daily Rate.

Section 1.5 Delays in Substantial Completion of Tenant Work and Additional Tenant Work.



(a) Substantial Completion of Tenant Work and Additional Tenant Work. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that:

@) Tenant will be relocating its operations from three (3) various other locations in Fairfield County, Connecticut (the “Other Locations™), to the Premises;

(ii) pursuant to the schedule for the completion of the Tenant Work and Additional Tenant Work attached hereto as Exhibit F (the “Work Schedule”), Substantial Completion of two (2)
floors of the Premises (the “Initial Delivered Premises”), as same shall be designated by Tenant prior to the commencement of the Tenant Work, is anticipated to occur by August 13, 2004, and
Substantial Completion of the balance of the Premises (the “Subsequent Delivered Premises™) is anticipated to occur by August 20, 2004;

(iii) Tenant anticipates commencing such relocation on an on-going or rolling basis to the Premises upon the Substantial Completion of each portion of the Premises, as aforesaid;

(iv) if Tenant is unable to timely relocate its operations as aforesaid, Tenant may be subject to Holdover Penalties (as hereinafter defined) under Tenant’s lease(s) for space in such Other
Locations;

) Tenant further desires the Substantial Completion of certain other components of the Additional Tenant Work in accordance with the Work Schedule; and
(vi) the Tenant Work and Additional Tenant Work is being performed by Landlord’s construction manager pursuant to the Construction Management Agreement (as hereinafter defined).

(b) Early Delivery of Substantial Completion of Tenant Work.

@) Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that if the Initial Delivered Premises are Substantially Completed and delivered to Tenant on or prior to August 13, 2004, the Term
Commencement Date, solely with respect to the Initial Delivered Premises, shall be advanced to a date that is four (4) months after the date of such Substantial Completion and delivery to Tenant,
provided, however, such Term Commencement Date shall not be advanced hereunder to a date earlier than December 17, 2004. If the Term Commencement Date is advanced as aforesaid, then Tenant
shall pay to Landlord, for each day that such Term Commencement Date is so advanced, the following:

(A) Net Rent in an amount equal to the product of (x) a fraction, the numerator of which is the total rentable square footage of the Initial Delivered Premises, and the denominator of which is the
total rentable square footage of the Premises, and (y) $6,432.93;

(B) Operating Expenses (as hereinafter defined) with respect to the Initial Delivered Premises prorated and apportioned on a per diem basis consistent with the intent and purposes of Section
26.1 of this Lease; and

©) all other items of Rent hereunder with respect to the Initial Delivered Premises prorated and apportioned on a per diem basis consistent with the intent and purposes of this Lease.

If such Term Commencement Date is advanced under this Section 1.5(b)(i), the first (1st) lease year of the Initial Term with respect to the Initial Delivered Premises shall be extended to commence on

such advanced Term Commencement Date and expire on December 31, 2005, and the second (2nd) lease year of the Initial Term shall still be deemed to commence on January 1, 2006. Any
advancement of the Term Commencement Date under this Section 1.5(b)(i) shall not be deemed to advance the Term Commencement Date with respect to any other portion of the Premises.

(ii) Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that if the Subsequent Delivered Premises are Substantially Completed and delivered to Tenant on or prior to August 20, 2004, the Term
Commencement Date, solely with respect to the Subsequent Delivered Premises, shall be advanced to a date that is four (4) months after the date of such Substantial Completion and delivery to Tenant,
provided, however, such Term Commencement Date shall not be advanced hereunder to a date earlier than December 17, 2004. If the Term Commencement Date is advanced as aforesaid, then Tenant
shall pay to Landlord, for each day that such Term Commencement Date is so advanced, the following:

(A) Net Rent in an amount equal to the product of (x) a fraction, the numerator of which is the total rentable square footage of the Subsequent Delivered Premises, and the denominator of which
is the total rentable square footage of the Premises, and (y) $6,432.93;

(B) Operating Expenses with respect to the Subsequent Delivered Premises prorated and apportioned on a per diem basis consistent with the intent and purposes of Section 26.1 of this Lease;
and
©) all other items of Rent hereunder with respect to the Subsequent Delivered Premises prorated and apportioned on a per diem basis consistent with the intent and purposes of this Lease.

If such Term Commencement Date is advanced under this Section 1.5(b)(ii), the first (1st) lease year of the Initial Term with respect to the Subsequent Delivered Premises shall be extended to
commence on such advanced Term Commencement Date and expire on December 31, 2005, and the second (2nd) lease year of the Initial Term shall still be deemed to commence on January 1, 2006.

(o) Delay in Substantial Completion of Tenant Work and Building Cafeteria.

@) Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that if the Initial Delivered Premises are Substantially Completed after August 31, 2004, for reasons other than Tenant Delay (as
hereinafter defined), Third Party Delay (as hereinafter defined), or Unavoidable Delay, the Term Commencement Date with respect to the Initial Delivered Premises shall be delayed day-for-day for
each day after August 31, 2004, that the Initial Delivered Premises are not Substantially Completed, in which case:

(A) Net Rent shall be abated for each day that such Term Commencement Date is so delayed in an amount equal to the product of (x) a fraction, the numerator of which is the total rentable
square footage of the Initial Delivered Premises, and the denominator of which is the total rentable square footage of the Premises, and (y) $6,432.93;

(B) Operating Expenses with respect to the Initial Delivered Premises prorated and apportioned on a per diem basis consistent with the intent and purposes of Section 26.1 of this Lease shall be
abated for each day that such Term Commencement Date is so delayed; and

©) all other items of Rent with respect to the Initial Delivered Premises prorated and apportioned on a per diem basis consistent with the intent and purposes of this Lease shall be abated for
each day that such Term Commencement Date is so delayed.

If such Term Commencement Date is delayed under this Section 1.5(c)(i), the first (1st) lease year of the Initial Term with respect to the Initial Delivered Premises shall be deemed to commence on
such delayed Term Commencement Date and expire on December 31, 2005, and the second (2nd) lease year of the Initial Term shall still be deemed to commence on January 1, 2006. Any delay of the
Term Commencement Date under this Section 1.5(c)(i) shall not be deemed to delay the Term Commencement Date with respect to any other portion of the Premises.

(ii) Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that if either the Subsequent Delivered Premises or the Building Cafeteria (as hereinafter defined) are Substantially Completed after
August 31, 2004, for reasons other than Tenant Delay, Third Party Delay, or Unavoidable Delay, the Term Commencement Date with respect to the Subsequent Delivered Premises shall be delayed
day-for-day for each day after August 31, 2004, that the Subsequent Delivered Premises or the Building Cafeteria are not Substantially Completed, in which case:

(A) Net Rent shall be abated for each day that such Term Commencement Date is so delayed in an amount equal to the product of (x) a fraction, the numerator of which is the total rentable
square footage of the Subsequent Delivered Premises, and the denominator of which is the total rentable square footage of the Premises, and (y) $6,432.93;

(B) Operating Expenses with respect to the Subsequent Delivered Premises prorated and apportioned on a per diem basis consistent with the intent and purposes of Section 26.1 of this Lease
shall be abated for each day that such Term Commencement Date is so delayed; and

©) all other items of Rent with respect to the Subsequent Delivered Premises prorated and apportioned on a per diem basis consistent with the intent and purposes of this Lease shall be abated
for each day that such Term Commencement Date is so delayed.

on such delayed Term Commencement Date and expire on December 31, 2005, and the second (2nd) lease year of the Initial Term shall still be deemed to commence on January 1, 2006. Any delay of
the Term Commencement Date under this Section 1.5(c)(ii) shall not be deemed to delay the Term Commencement Date with respect to any other portion of the Premises.

(iii) In addition to (and not in lieu of) the provisions of Section 1.5(c)(i) and (ii), in the event any of the Initial Delivered Premises and/or the Subsequent Delivered Premises are
Substantially Completed after August 31, 2004, and Tenant, using commercially reasonable efforts, is not able to move and actually occupy the Premises for conduct of regular business by September
30, 2004, and, as a further consequence thereof, Tenant is obligated to pay Holdover Penalties to the landlord(s) under the lease(s) for the Other Locations, then Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for
Tenant’s Holdover Penalties resulting from such delay within ten (10) Business Days after written request therefor by Tenant.



(iv) (Redacted)
(A) (Redacted)
(B) (Redacted)

©) agrees, to the extent practicable, to relocate its facilities and personnel in the Other Location known as “Greenwich Plaza” to the Premises, prior to relocating its facilities and personnel in
the Other Locations to the Premises; and

(D) represents to Landlord that the Holdover Penalties under the leases for the Other Locations shall not commence until October 1, 2004.
(d) Delay, of Certain Additional Tenant Work. Landlord and Tenant agree that in the event the Emergency Generator (as hereinafter defined) is not installed and fully operational by August 30,

2004, for reasons other than Tenant Delay, Third Party Delay or Unavoidable Delay, then Landlord shall pay to Tenant, within ten (10) days of demand therefor, the sum of Four Hundred and 00/100
Dollars ($400.00) for each day of such delay.

(e) Acknowledgement of Changes to Term Commencement Date. If the Term Commencement Date is advanced or delayed pursuant to the provisions of this Section 1.5, Landlord and Tenant
shall, reasonably promptly thereafter, enter into a written agreement memorializing such advance or delay in the Term Commencement Date with respect to the portion(s) of the Premises affected by
such advance or delay.

) Certain Defined Terms. For purposes of this Section 1.5, the following capitalized terms shall have the following definitions:

“Holdover Penalties” shall mean, with respect to each lease for each Other Location, the difference between (i) the holdover rent and any and all other penalties actually charged by the landlord
thereunder to Tenant pursuant to such lease, and (ii) the rent that Tenant is paying under such lease immediately prior to the holdover thereof.

“Tenant Delay” shall mean actual delays in the Substantial Completion of the Tenant Work or Additional Tenant Work (or such specified portions thereof) resulting from (i) the failure by Tenant to
comply with the timing set forth for the various line-items in the Work Schedule that are the responsibility solely of Tenant; or delays in the Tenant Work or Additional Tenant Work under Section 8.3.1
of the General Conditions of the Construction Management Agreement.

“Third Party Delay” shall mean actual delays in the Substantial Completion of the Tenant Work or Additional Tenant Work (or such specified portions thereof) resulting from or caused by third
party contractors or subcontractors that are not subject to supervision by Landlord’s construction manager under the Construction Management Agreement or otherwise, including, without limitation,
the Specialized Service Providers (as hereinafter defined), or any furniture systems or partition suppliers or installers retained directly by Tenant. The parties agree that if Landlord’s construction
manager is paid a fee or other remuneration under the Construction Management Agreement based on the fees paid to such third party contractors or subcontractors, Landlord’s construction manager
shall, for purposes of determining whether any delay caused by a third party contractor or subcontractor constitutes “Third Party Delay” hereunder, be deemed to have supervised such third party
contractor or subcontractor.

Section 1.6  Pre-Term Commencement Date Occupancy. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, Tenant shall have the right to use and occupy the Premises (or any
portion thereof) at any time on or after the Substantial Completion thereof, but will not pay Rent thereon until the Term Commencement Date applicable thereto.

Section 1.7 Payment of Rent. Tenant does hereby covenant and agree promptly to pay the Rent reserved as and when the same shall become due and payable, without demand therefor, and
without any set-off or deduction whatsoever, except as may be herein provided, and to keep, observe and perform, and to permit no violation of, each and every of the covenants, agreements, terms,

provisions and conditions herein contained on the part and on behalf of Tenant to be kept, observed and performed.

Section 1.8 Measurement. In determining the rentable area of the Building and the Premises or any portion thereof pursuant to any provision of this Lease, the rentable area shall be the
rentable area thereof in square feet determined in accordance with the Standard Method of Floor Measurement for Office Buildings adopted by The Real Estate Board of New York, Inc., 1981 edition.

Section 1.9  (Redacted)

ARTICLE 2

Commencement of Tenant Work and Additional Tenant Work

Section 2.1 Commencement. As of the date of this Lease, Tenant, in accordance with the provisions of Article 29 hereof, shall have the right to commence the Tenant Work and the Additional
Tenant Work for purposes of Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises on or after the date hereof in accordance with the Work Schedule.

ARTICLE 3
Use of Premises

Section 3.1 Permitted Uses. The Premises shall be used for the following, but no other, purpose, namely: general and executive office use and any other legal purpose and uses incidental
thereto, including without limitation, operation of vending machines; installation, maintenance, and operation of telephone switching equipment, electronic data and word processing equipment,
computer processing facilities and business machines, printing and copying equipment, and transmitting and receiving equipment (whether by radio, microwave transmission or otherwise); and
meeting rooms. Tenant shall not use the Premises or any part thereof, or permit the Premises or any part thereof to be used, for any purpose other than the uses hereinbefore specifically mentioned.

Section 3.2  Prohibitions. Tenant shall not use or permit the use of the Premises or any part thereof in any way which would violate any of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and
conditions of this Lease or for any unlawful purposes or in any unlawful manner and Tenant shall not suffer or permit the Premises or any part thereof to be used in any manner or anything to be done
therein or anything to be brought into or kept therein which, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, shall in any way impair the character, reputation or appearance of the Building as a high quality
office building, materially impair or interfere with any of the building services or the proper and economic heating, cleaning, air conditioning or other servicing of the Building or the Premises, or
materially impair or interfere with the use of any of the other areas of the Building by Landlord or any other tenant of the Building. Tenant shall not install any electrical or other equipment of any kind
which causes any such impairment or interference. Standard office equipment shall not be deemed to cause such impairment or interference.

Section 3.3  Retail Uses. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, Tenant covenants and agrees that Tenant will not use the Premises or any part thereof, or permit the
Premises or any part thereof to be used:

(a) for the retail operation of a banking, trust company, or safe deposit business,
(b) as the retail operation of a savings bank, or as a savings and loan association, or as a loan company (provided that ATMs installed for use solely by Tenant’s employees and invitees are
permitted),

(o) as a retail restaurant (provided that vending machines for use by Tenant’s employees and invitees are permitted), or
(d) as a retail bar for the sale of alcoholic beverages.
Section 3.4 Licenses and Permits. If any governmental license or permit shall be required for the proper and lawful conduct of Tenant’s business or other activity carried on in the Premises,

then Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall duly procure and thereafter maintain such license or permit and submit the same to inspection by Landlord. Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall, at all times,
comply with the Requirements of each such license or permit.

ARTICLE 4

Appurtenances, Not to be Removed



Section4.1  Appurtenances.

(a) (i) All improvements, installations and appurtenances of a permanent nature, (i.e. that are attached to, or built into, the Premises at the commencement of or during the Term hereof and that
cannot be removed without substantial damage to the Premises (hereinafter severally and collectively called in this Section, “Appurtenances”), whether or not furnished or installed at the expense of
Tenant or by Tenant) shall be and remain part of the Premises and be deemed the property of Landlord at the end of the Term and shall not be removed by Tenant, except as otherwise expressly
provided in this Lease. Any Tenant’s Property furnished and installed in any part of the Premises (whether or not attached thereto or built therein) may be removed from the Building by Tenant prior to
the expiration of the Term hereof and shall be removed from the Building by Tenant prior to such expiration (or if Tenant acting with reasonable promptness is not able to remove the same from the
Building prior to such expiration, such Tenant’s Property shall be removed from the Building by Tenant within sixty (60) days thereafter). If any Tenant’s Property (other than the last generation of
cabling, and provided such cabling is properly hung on hangers and/or trays) is not removed by Tenant from the Building within the time above specified therefor, then Landlord (in addition to all other
rights and remedies to which Landlord may be entitled at any time) may at its election deem that the same has been abandoned by Tenant to Landlord, but no such election shall relieve Tenant of
Tenant’s obligation to pay the expense of removing the same from the Building or the expense of repairing damage to the Premises or to the Building arising from such removal. The reasonable cost
and expense of any such removal and the cost and expense of repairing any damage to the Premises or to the Building arising from removal shall be paid by Tenant within thirty (30) days of receipt of
an invoice therefor.

(ii) Notwithstanding anything set forth in Section 4.1(a)(i) above (unless Landlord notifies Tenant, in writing, no less than sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the Term that Tenant
need not cause said removal), Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall cause the removal of any interior connecting stairwells and raised file floors if same are installed in the Premises or connecting
the Premises with any other leased space of Tenant’s Affiliates, and Tenant shall repair any and all damage resulting from the removal. In the event Landlord requires Tenant to remove the interior
connecting stairwells and/or the raised file floors, Tenant shall have the right to cause said removal up to thirty (30) days after the expiration of the Term without being deemed to have held over its

tenancy.

(b) Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, at the end of the Term, Tenant shall not be required to remove or replace any Appurtenances (including wiring or cabling) approved
by Landlord, unless Landlord required removal thereof at the time of approval. Landlord may, at Tenant’s expense, only require removal of specific items (such as interior stairs and raised floor
systems), which would substantially increase the cost of removal over the standard tenant improvements. In furtherance of the foregoing, (i) Landlord agrees that Tenant shall not be obligated to restore
any portion of the Premises with respect to which any Tenant Work has been performed, unless Landlord required restoration thereof at the time of Landlord’s approval of such Tenant Work, (ii)
Landlord agrees that Tenant shall not be obligated to restore any portion of the common areas, shell, fagade, or other portions of the Building to or which any Additional Tenant Work has been
performed, unless Landlord required restoration thereof at the time of Landlord’s approval of such Additional Tenant Work, and (iii) Landlord hereby waives the right to require that Tenant remove any
Appurtenances installed by Tenant that are customary and reasonable for corporate tenants in similar buildings in the lower Fairfield County area (such as raised floor areas of 20,000 square feet or less
in area each, ordinary electrical phone and computer wiring, pantry installations of 1,500 square feet or less in area each, wall coverings, window treatments, decorations and millwork, private
bathrooms, and supplemental HVAC and/or exhaust systems located within the Premises).

Section 4.2 Landlord’s Reservations. For the purpose of complying with its obligations under this Lease, Landlord reserves the right to utilize and have access through all the perimeter walls
of the Premises, the Building roof, any space in and/or adjacent to the Premises used for shafts, stairways, stacks, pipes, vertical conveyors, mail chutes, pneumatic tubes, conduits, ducts, electric or
other utilities, rooms containing elevator or air conditioning machinery and equipment, sinks or other similar or dissimilar Building facilities. Landlord shall be responsible for maintenance, repair and
replacement of same when necessary.

ARTICLE 5

Various Covenants/Insurance

Section 5.1 Tenant’s Covenants. Tenant covenants and agrees that Tenant will:
(a) Good Care. Take good care of the Premises, except for Landlord’s obligations under this Lease.

(b) Rules and Regulations. Faithfully observe and comply with the rules and regulations annexed hereto as Exhibit D and such additional reasonable rules and regulations as Landlord hereafter
at any time or from time to time may make and may communicate in writing to Tenant reasonably prior to enforcement, which, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, shall be necessary or desirable
for the reputation, safety, care or appearance of the Building, or the preservation of good order therein, or the operation or maintenance of the Building, or the equipment thereof, or the comfort of
tenants or others in the Building; provided, however, that in the case of any conflict between the provisions of this Lease and any such rule or regulation, the provisions of this Lease shall control, and
provided further that nothing contained in this Lease shall be construed to impose upon Landlord any duty or obligation to enforce the rules and regulations or the terms, covenants or conditions in any
other lease as against any other tenant so long as Landlord enforces the rules and regulations uniformly and non-discriminatorily among all tenants and provided further that Landlord shall not be liable
to Tenant for violation of the same by any other tenant, its employees, agents, visitors, invitees, subtenants or licensees. In no event may any additional rules or regulations limit the use of the Premises
permitted in Article 3 herein or cause Tenant to incur additional costs, liabilities or obligations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord hereby agrees that, to the extent the Building is a “smoke-free”
building, Landlord shall designate one or more smoking areas around the Building, provided, that such smoking areas shall not be located in close proximity to the entrance doorway to Tenant’s plaza-
level reception area.

(o) Inspection By Landlord. Provided such entry does not materially interfere with the conduct of Tenant’s business, permit Landlord or its representatives, to enter the Premises at all
reasonable hours and upon prior reasonable notice (not less than 24 hours’ notice, except for an emergency) for the purposes of inspection, or of making repairs, replacement or improvements in or to
the Premises or the Building or equipment, or of complying with all Requirements or of exercising any right reserved to Landlord by this Lease (including the right during the progress of any such
repairs, replacements or improvements or while performing work and furnishing materials in connection with compliance with any such Requirements, to keep and store within the Premises all
necessary materials, tools and equipment so long as such storage does not interfere with Tenant’s ability to use and enjoy the Premises and is placed in storage areas designated by Tenant), so long as
such entry does not materially interfere with Tenant’s ability to conduct its business in the Premises.

(d) Waiver of Claims. Make no claim against Landlord or any lessor under any ground or underlying lease for any injury or damage to Tenant or to any other person or for any damage to, or
loss (by theft or otherwise) of, or loss of use of, any property of Tenant or of any other person, irrespective of the cause of such injury, damage or loss, unless caused by the negligence or willful
misconduct of Landlord, its agents or employees, in the operation or maintenance of the Premises or the Building. No property other than such as might normally be brought upon or kept in the
Premises as an incident to the reasonable use of the Premises for the purposes specified in this Lease shall be brought upon or kept in the Premises.

(e) Alterations. Except as hereinafter provided, make no alterations, improvements or installation, repairs, additions, improvements, or replacements (hereinafter collectively called “Tenant’s
Changes”) in, to or about the Premises without Landlord’s prior written consent, and then only by contractors or mechanics reasonably approved by Landlord. Tenant’s Changes shall be done at
Tenant’s sole expense and at such times and in such manner as to comply with the Rules and Regulations. Prior to the commencement of any Tenant’s Changes, Tenant shall submit to Landlord, for
Landlord’s written approval, plans and specifications (to be prepared by and at the expense of Tenant to the extent the preparation of plans and specifications are appropriate to the kinds of changes and
consistent with standard architectural documents) of such proposed Tenant’s Changes. Any item of Tenant’s Property which is placed in the Premises shall not be deemed incorporated in the Premises
for purposes of this Section. Any mechanic’s lien filed against the Premises or the Property for work done for, or claimed to have been done for, or materials furnished to, or claimed to have been
furnished to Tenant shall be discharged by Tenant within sixty (60) days after Tenant’s receiving written notice that the same has been filed, at Tenant’s expense, by filing the bond required by law or
otherwise (or bonding over the lien at a title company). Tenant shall have the right to contest the amount or validity of any such lien by appropriate proceedings, at Tenant’s sole expense, provided that
Tenant shall have delivered to Landlord a surety bond or title insurance reasonably satisfactory to Landlord sufficient to cause such lien to be removed or insured over as an encumbrance upon the
Property. All Tenant’s Changes shall at all times comply with (1) the Requirements, (2) reasonable rules and regulations of Landlord, and (3) plans and specifications prepared by and at the expense of
Tenant theretofore submitted to Landlord for Landlord’s prior written approval to the extent that the preparation of plans and specifications are appropriate to the kinds of changes to be made and are
consistent with standard architectural documents. No Tenant’s Changes shall be undertaken, started or begun by Tenant or by Tenant’s Representatives or anyone else acting for or on behalf of Tenant
until Landlord has approved such plans and specifications or other appropriate documentation, and no amendments or additions to such plans and specifications shall be made without the prior written
consent of Landlord. Tenant agrees that it will not at any time prior to or during the Term of this Lease, either directly or indirectly, use any contractors and/or labor and/or materials if the use of such
contractors and/or labor and/or materials would or will create any difficulty with other contractors and/or labor engaged by Landlord in the construction, maintenance and/or operation of the Building
or any part thereof. If, in Landlord’s good faith and reasonable judgment, any Tenant request for Landlord approval under this Section 5.1(e) and such Tenant request will not adversely affect the
exterior of the Building, the Building structure or the Building Systems, then Landlord’s consent to same shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Anything in this Lease to the
contrary notwithstanding, to the extent Tenant’s Changes are merely decorative, or non-structural, and otherwise do not affect the exterior of the Building or the Building Systems, Landlord’s consent
to same shall not be required.

) Insurance Ratings. Not violate, or permit the violation of, any condition imposed by the standard fire insurance policy issued for office buildings in the County of Fairfield and State of
Connecticut, nor do anything or permit anything to be done, or keep anything or permit anything to be kept, in the Premises which would result in insurance companies of good standing refusing to
insure the Building or any such property in amounts and against risks as reasonably determined by Landlord.

(g Landlord’s Access. Permit Landlord, at reasonable times (but only during Business Hours on Business Days) and upon prior reasonable notice (not less than 24 hours’ notice, except for an
emergency) without disruption to Tenant’s normal course of business, to show the Premises to any mortgagee or any prospective purchaser of the Building and/or the Land or of Landlord’s interest
therein, and their representatives, and during the period of twelve (12) months preceding the date of expiration of the Term hereof, similarly show any part of the Premises to any person contemplating



the leasing of all or a portion of the same; provided, however, Tenant may require that all such persons be accompanied by a Tenant Representative (other than in the case of emergencies). The
provisions of this subsection (g) shall not apply after such time as Tenant has vacated substantially all of Premises.

(h) Surrender. At the end of the Term, quit and surrender to Landlord the Premises “as is” and in broom-clean and in good order and condition except for ordinary wear and tear and loss by fire
or other casualty. Any Tenant’s Property, other than last generation of cabling properly hung on hangers and/or trays, which shall remain in the Premises for more than sixty (60) days after the
expiration or termination of the Term of this Lease shall be deemed to have been abandoned, and either may be retained by Landlord as its property or may be disposed of in such manner as Landlord
may see fit; provided, however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing (but subject to Sections 4.1(a)(i) and 4.1(b) hereof), Tenant will, upon request of Landlord made not later than thirty (30) days after
the expiration or termination of the Term hereof, promptly remove from the Building any such Tenant’s Property at Tenant’s own cost and expense.

(i) Estoppel Certificate. At any time and from time to time upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior notice by Landlord to Tenant, execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord, or to anyone
Landlord shall designate, a statement of Tenant (or if Tenant is a corporation, an appropriate officer of Tenant) in writing certifying that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or if there
have been modifications, that the same is in full force and effect as modified and stating the modifications), specifying the dates to which the Net Rent, additional rent and other charges have been paid
in advance, if any, and stating whether or not to the best knowledge of the signer of such certificate Tenant has not issued to Landlord any notice of default in performance of any provision of this
Lease and if so, specifying each such default of which the signer may have knowledge, it being intended that any such statement so delivered may be relied upon by any lessor under any ground or
underlying lease, or any lessee or mortgagee, or any prospective purchaser, lessee, mortgagee, or assignee of any mortgage, of the Building and/or the Land or of Landlord’s interest therein. In the
event Tenant requests such statement from Landlord, Landlord shall give such statement to Tenant on the same terms and within the same time period as stated above.

[0)] Indemnification of Landlord.

@) Indemnify, defend and save harmless, Landlord, ING Clarion Partners, Albert D. Phelps, Inc. and any mortgagee and any lessor under any ground or underlying lease, and their
respective officers, directors, contractors, agents and employees (each, an “Indemnified Party”), from and against any and all liability (statutory or otherwise), claims, suits, demands, damages,
judgments, costs, interest and expenses (including, but not limited to, counsel fees and disbursements incurred in the defense of any action or proceeding), to which they may be subject or which they
may suffer by reason of, or by reason of any claim for, any injury to, or death of, any person or persons or damage to Property (including any loss of use thereof) or otherwise arising from or in
connection with the use of or from any work, installation or thing whatsoever done (other than by any Indemnified Party) in the Premises or Building prior to, during, or subsequent to, the Term of this
Lease or arising from any condition of the Premises or Building due to or resulting from any default by Tenant in the performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease or from any act, omission or
negligence of Tenant or any of Tenant’s officers, directors, agents, contractors, employees, subtenants, licensees or invitees.

(ii) No Indemnified Party shall be liable to Tenant and Tenant hereby waives all claims against each Indemnified Party for any injury to or death of any person or damage to or destruction
of Property in or about the Premises, Building or Land by or from any cause whatsoever, including, without limitation, gas, fire, oil, electricity or leakage of any character from the roofs, walls,
basement or other portion of the Premises, Building or Land, but excluding, however, the gross negligence or willful misconduct of any such Indemnified Party.

k) Tenant Insurance Requirements. At its own cost and expense, keep in force during the Term of this Lease:

i) Commercial general liability insurance which insures against claims for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage based upon, involving, or arising out of the Tenant’s use,
occupancy, or maintenance of the Premises. Such insurance shall afford the following limits:

Each Occurrence $1,000,000
General Aggregate $2,000,000
Products/Completed Operations Aggregate $1,000,000
Personal Injury Liability $1,000,000
Fire Damage Legal Liability $50,000
Medical Payments $5,000

Tenant’s commercial general liability insurance shall name Landlord, as additional insured for claims arising from Tenant’s use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises. This coverage shall
include blanket contractual liability, broad form property damage liability, premises/operations and products/completed operations hazards. Such insurance shall be written on an occurrence basis and
contain a standard separation of insureds provision.

(ii) Business automobile liability insurance covering owned, hired and non-owned vehicles with limits of $1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence.

(iif) Worker’s compensation and employers liability insurance. The employers liability insurance shall afford limits of $500,000 per accident, $500,000 per employee for bodily injury by
disease, and $500,000 policy limit for bodily injury by disease. Such insurance shall comply with Tenant’s obligations to its employees under the laws of the state in which the Premises are located.

(iv) Umbrella/excess liability insurance, on an occurrence basis, that applies excess of required commercial general liability, business automobile liability, and employers liability policies
with the following limits:

Each Occurrence $5,000,000
Annual Aggregate $5,000,000

These limits shall be in addition to and not including those stated for the underlying commercial general liability, business automobile liability, and employers liability insurance required herein.
Such excess commercial general liability policies shall name Landlord as additional insured for claims arising from Tenant’s use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises.

W) All risk property insurance including theft, sprinkler leakage and boiler and machinery coverage on all of Tenant’s trade fixtures, furniture, inventory and other personal property in
the Premises, and on any alterations, additions, or improvements made by Tenant upon the Premises.

All such insurance (except for worker’s compensation and employers liability insurance, which shall be issued by insurers reasonably acceptable to Landlord) shall be effected under valid and
enforceable policies (which may cover the Premises and other locations); shall be issued by insurers of recognized responsibility reasonably acceptable to Landlord with a minimum Best’s rating of A-
X and shall contain a provision whereby the insurer agrees not to cancel the insurance applicable to the Building without thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Landlord.

On or before the date that Tenant occupies and uses any portion of the Premises after Substantial Completion thereof, Tenant shall furnish Landlord with a certificate evidencing the aforesaid
insurance coverages, and renewal certificates shall be furnished to Landlord at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date of each policy for which a certificate was theretofore furnished. The
certificates shall include a cancellation provision where the insurer agrees to make best endeavors to give thirty (30) days’ notice of cancellation or material change.

Section 5.2 Tenant’s Insurer Rating; Certification of Insurance.

(a) Tenant shall not knowingly do or permit anything to be done that would invalidate the insurance policies required herein. Liability insurance maintained by Tenant shall be primary coverage
without right of contribution by any similar insurance that may be maintained by Landlord for claims arising from Tenant’s use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises.

(b) In the event that Tenant fails to provide evidence of insurance required to be provided by Tenant in this Lease, within thirty (30) days following Landlord’s written request thereof, Landlord
shall be authorized (but not required) to procure such coverage in the amount stated with all costs thereof to be chargeable to Tenant and payable upon written invoice thereof.

(o) The limits of insurance required by this Lease, or as carried by Tenant, shall not limit the liability of Tenant or relieve Tenant of any obligation thereunder. Any deductible selected by Tenant
shall be the sole responsibility of Tenant.

(d) Should Tenant engage the services of any contractor to perform work in the Premises (pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.1(e)), Tenant shall ensure that such contractor carries
commercial general liability (including completed operations coverage), business automobile liability, umbrella/excess liability, worker’s compensation and employers liability coverages in amounts
reasonably acceptable to Landlord. Contractor shall name Landlord as additional insured on the liability policies required hereunder.

Section 5.3  Landlord’s Insurance. Landlord shall procure and maintain the following:

(a) All risk property insurance on the Building (including, from and after Substantial Completion thereof, the Tenant Work and Additional Tenant Work). Landlord shall not be obligated to
insure any furniture, equipment, trade fixtures, machinery, goods, or supplies which Tenant may keep or maintain in the Premises or any alteration, addition, or improvement (other than the Tenant



‘Work and Additional Tenant Work) which Tenant may make upon the Premises. In addition, Landlord may elect to secure and maintain rental income insurance. Landlord may elect to self-insure for
the coverage required under this section. If the annual cost to Landlord for such Property or rental income insurance exceeds the standard rates because of the nature of Tenant’s operations, Tenant
shall, upon receipt of appropriate invoices, reimburse Landlord for such increased cost.

(b) Commercial general liability insurance, which shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, insurance required to be maintained by Tenant. Landlord may elect to self-insure for this coverage.
Tenant shall not be named as an additional insured on any policy of liability insurance maintained by Landlord.

Section 5.4 Waiver of Claim and Subrogation. Landlord and Tenant hereby mutually waive their respective rights of recovery against each other for any loss of, or damage to, either party’s
property. Each party shall obtain any special endorsement, if required by its insurers whereby the insurer waives its rights of subrogation against the other party. By this Article 5, Landlord and Tenant
intend that the risk of loss or damage to either party’s property be borne by the parties’ insurance carriers and Landlord and Tenant shall look solely to and seek recovery from only their respective
insurance carriers in the event a loss is sustained for which insurance is required under this Lease. For this purpose, applicable deductible amounts shall be treated as though they were recoverable
under such policies.

Section 5.5 Landlord’s Covenants. Landlord covenants and agrees that Landlord will:

(a) Maintenance of Building, At its expense (subject to reimbursement pursuant to the provisions of Article 26 hereof), keep and maintain the Property, including the landscaping of the Land
and its fixtures, appurtenances and facilities serving the Premises, the Common Areas, including the structure of the Building, the Building Systems and any Common Areas of the Park, in good
condition and repair as a first class office park in the southern Fairfield County market, including the landscaping of the Land and its fixtures, appurtenances and facilities serving the Premises, exterior
windows of the Building and Common Area facilities, including the parking areas utilized by Tenant, the roof of the Building and the structure of the Building, the Building Systems in good condition
and repair. Landlord agrees to comply with all local code requirements regarding the Building Systems and fire/safety regulations affecting the Building throughout the Term.

(b) Damage. Promptly repair (in a good and workmanlike manner using materials at least comparable to the original construction) or replace, if necessary, any damage done to the Property by
Landlord or Landlord’s Representatives and make any repairs and replacements to the Premises and the Building Systems within the Premises which Tenant is not required to make pursuant to other
provisions of this Lease. Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, (i) Landlord’s repair responsibilities shall include structural matters (including without limitation roof, exterior walls,
load bearing interior walls, foundations, columns); all core areas (including without limitation telephone closets, electric closets, fire stairs, Common Areas); HVAC; mechanical; electrical; plumbing;
life safety systems; utility/sewer lines; fire sprinkler; extraordinary repairs and damages to Tenant’s finishes caused by failures of items which Landlord is to repair; and (ii) Tenant’s repair obligations
shall be limited to ordinary interior repairs and damage caused by its negligence or willful misconduct. Any work done by Landlord pursuant to this Section in the Premises after the Term
Commencement Date shall be performed during non-Business Hours, except in the event of an emergency. Landlord shall diligently attempt to minimize all noise, smells, dust and debris.

(©) Tenant Access. Permit Tenant to have access to the Property 24 hours per day, seven (7) days per week throughout the Term, subject to reasonable security requirements.

(d) Indemnification of Tenant. Except for the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant or Tenant’s Representatives, indemnify, defend and save harmless, Tenant and Tenant’s
Representatives, from and against any and all liability (statutory or otherwise), claims, suits, demands, damages, judgments, costs, interest and expenses (including, but not limited to, counsel fees and
disbursements incurred in the defense of any action or proceeding), to which they may be subject or which they may suffer by reason of, or by reason of any claim for, any injury to, or death of, any
person or persons or damage to Property (including any loss of use thereof) or otherwise arising from or in connection with the use of or from any work, installation or thing whatsoever done (other
than by Tenant or Tenant’s Representatives) in the Property prior to, during, or subsequent to, the Term or arising from any condition of the Premises or the Property due to or resulting from any default
by Landlord or Landlord’s Representative in the performance of Landlord’s obligations under this Lease or from any act, omission or negligence of Landlord or any of Landlord’s Representatives.

ARTICLE 6

Changes or Alterations by Landlord

Section 6.1 Reservation of Right. Landlord reserves the right to make such changes, alterations, additions, improvements, repairs or replacements in or to the Building (including the
Premises) and the fixtures and equipment thereof, as well as in or to the street entrances, halls, passages, elevators, escalators, stairways (but not interior stairways within the Premises) and other parts
thereof, and to erect, maintain and use pipes, ducts and conduits in and through the Premises, all as Landlord may reasonably deem necessary to maintain the Building (and with respect to the Premises,
to maintain its obligations under this Lease); provided, however, that (a) there shall be no unreasonable obstruction of the means of access to the Premises or unreasonable interference with the use or
appearance of the Premises or the conduct of Tenant’s business or any unreasonable interference in the parking spaces to be provided to Tenant hereunder, or the access to the Building from such
parking spaces, (b) Landlord shall not make any such changes, alterations, additions, improvements, repairs or replacements (x) in or to the Additional Tenant Work (other than as set forth in clause (y),
below) without Tenant’s sole discretion consent (provided that if Tenant leases less than 100,000 rentable square feet in the Building, then such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned
or delayed by Tenant), (y) in or to the Additional Tenant Work for health and safety or code compliance reasons without Tenant’s consent, which consent cannot be unreasonably withheld, conditioned
or delayed, or (z), other than as set forth in clause (x), in or to the fagade, exterior walls or roofline of the Building, without Tenant’s consent, which consent cannot be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed. Nothing contained in this Article 6 shall relieve Tenant of any duty, obligation or liability of Tenant with respect to making any repair, replacement or improvement or
complying with any law, order or requirement of any governmental or other authority. Any repairs/alterations made by Landlord shall not (i) interfere with Tenant’s use or enjoyment of the Premises or
Tenant’s access to the Premises; (ii) reduce the square footage of the Premises; or (iii) damage the appearance of the Premises. Furthermore, any pipes or conduits that may be installed by Landlord in
the Premises shall be installed above the ceiling, below the floor or concealed or boxed in a manner consistent with Tenant’s décor and subject to Tenant’s prior written approval. Any damage caused to
the Premises (including Tenant’s decor) shall be repaired by Landlord, at its sole cost and expense.

Section 6.2 No Easements. Neither this Lease nor any use by Tenant shall give Tenant any easement or other right in or to the use of any door or any passage or any concourse or any plaza
connecting the Building with any other building, other than the parking facility on the Land or to any public convenience, and the use of such doors, passages, concourses, plazas and conveniences
may, with prior notice to Tenant, be regulated or discontinued by Landlord provided that Tenant’s amenity is not diminished and occupancy of the Premises is not materially adversely affected. Such
use of doors, concourses, and passages or plazas shall be uniformly applied to all tenants and will not interfere with Tenant’s ability to conduct its business. If at any time any windows of the Premises
are temporarily darkened or obstructed incident to or by reason of repairs, replacements, maintenance and/or cleaning in, on, to or about the Building or any part or parts thereof or are temporarily or
permanently closed or rendered inoperable, Landlord shall not be liable for any damage Tenant may sustain thereby and Tenant shall not be entitled to any compensation therefor nor abatement of rent
nor shall the same release Tenant from its obligation hereunder nor constitute an eviction, unless such damage is caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any of Landlord’s
Representatives. Landlord agrees to afford Tenant access to the Premises and the parking facility at all times.

Section 6.3 No Allowance. Except as otherwise specified in this Lease, there shall be no allowance to Tenant for a diminution of rental value and no liability on the part of Landlord by reason
of inconvenience, annoyance or injury to business arising from Landlord, Tenant or others making any changes, alterations, additions, improvements, repairs or replacements in or to any portion of the
Building or the Premises, or in or to fixtures, appurtenances or equipment, thereof, and no liability upon Landlord for failure of Landlord or others to make any changes, alterations, additions,
improvements, repairs or replacements in or to any portion of the Building or the Premises, or in or to the fixtures, appurtenances or equipment thereof. Landlord agrees to perform any work
contemplated under this Article with due diligence so as to minimize any interference with Tenant’s business operation at the Premises.

ARTICLE 7
Damage by Fire

Section 7.1 Restoration; Abatement. If any part of the Property shall be damaged by fire or other casualty, Tenant or Landlord shall give prompt written, or oral in case of emergency, notice
thereof to the other party. Landlord shall proceed with reasonable diligence to repair such damage, including Tenant’s improvements, the Tenant Work and Additional Tenant Work, and if any part of
the Premises shall be rendered untenantable (or if the parking for the Building shall be substantially impaired) by reason of such damage, the Rent payable hereunder shall be abated to the extent that
such Rent relates to such part of the Premises for the period from the date of such damage to the date when such part of the Premises shall have been made tenantable and the parking restored, or to
such earlier date upon which the Term with respect to such part of the Premises shall expire or terminate. Landlord shall not be liable for any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or injury to the
business of Tenant resulting in any way from such damage or the repair thereof (unless caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or Landlord’s Representatives). Tenant
understands that Landlord will not carry insurance of any kind on Tenant’s Property, and that Landlord shall not be obligated to repair any damage to Tenant’s Property or replace the same.

Section 7.2 Termination Rights.

(a) Within sixty (60) days after damage by fire or other casualty to the Property, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a written certificate (the “Estimate”) from an independent general contractor
(not an employee or agent of Landlord) licensed in the State of Connecticut and reasonably acceptable to Tenant, estimating the period required for restoration of the damage from the date of the
Estimate. If substantial alteration or reconstruction of the Building shall be required as a result of damage by fire or other casualty (whether or not the Premises shall have been damaged by such fire or
other casualty), then this Lease and the Term and estate hereby granted may be terminated by Tenant by notice of such termination within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s receipt of the Estimate. In the
event of the giving of such notice of termination, this Lease and the Term and estate hereby granted shall expire as of the date of the casualty with the same effect as if such date were the date



hereinbefore specified for the expiration of the Term, and the Rent payable hereunder shall be apportioned as of such date of termination. “Substantial alteration or reconstruction” shall be deemed
required hereunder if more than one (1) floor of the portion of the Building constituting the Premises are substantially damaged and, pursuant to the Estimate, restoration of same shall be reasonably
estimated to require more than one (1) year to complete from the date of Estimate. In the case of a casualty within the last two (2) years of the Term, the applicable period shall be thirty (30) days.

(b) In addition, if Landlord shall not have Substantially Completed the restoration and obtained the approval of a certificate of occupancy for the Premises within thirty (30) days after the end of
the restoration period covered by the Estimate, then Tenant shall receive one (1) day of Rent abatement for each day of delay, commencing after the restoration is Substantially Completed; and if the
restoration is not Substantially Completed within sixty (60) days after the end of the period covered by the Estimate, Tenant shall receive one (1) day of Rent abatement for each day thereafter until the
restoration is Substantially Completed. After Substantial Completion, Landlord shall diligently complete the balance of the restoration including any punch list work identified by Tenant.

Section 7.3  Express Agreement. This Lease shall be considered an express agreement governing any case of damage to or destruction of the Building or any part thereof by fire or other
casualty and any statute providing for such a contingency in the absence of express agreement, and any other law of like import now or hereafter in force, shall have no application in such case.

ARTICLE 8
Condemnation
Section 8.1  Lease Termination.
(a) If the whole of the Property, or such part thereof or of the associated parking areas as will render the remainder untenantable shall be acquired or condemned for any public or quasi-public

use or purpose, this Lease shall end as of the date of the vesting of title in the condemning authority (either through court order or by voluntary conveyance by Landlord in lieu of condemnation) with
the same effect as if said date were the scheduled expiration date. If only a part of the Property shall be so acquired or condemned, then, except as otherwise provided in this Article, this Lease and the
Term shall continue in force and effect but, from and after the date of the vesting of title, the Net Rent shall be an amount that bears the same ratio to the Net Rent payable immediately prior to such
condemnation pursuant to this Lease as the value of the untaken portion of the Premises (appraised after the taking and repair of any damage to the Building pursuant to this Section) bears to the value
of the entire Premises immediately before the taking, and any additional rent payable shall be adjusted to reflect the diminution of the Premises. The value of the Premises before and after the taking
shall be determined for the purposes of this Section by an independent appraiser, which appraiser shall, if necessary, be chosen by arbitration pursuant to Article 44 herein. A taking of more than twenty
percent (20%) of the Premises will, at Tenant’s option, be deemed to be a taking of one hundred percent (100%) of the Premises.

(b) If more than fifty percent (50%) of the Building or a material part of the Land shall be so acquired or condemned, then Landlord may give to Tenant, within sixty (60) days next following the
date upon which Landlord shall have received notice of vesting of title, ninety (90) days’ notice of termination of this Lease. If the part of the Building so acquired or condemned shall contain more
than five percent (5%) of the total area of the Premises immediately prior to such acquisition or condemnation, or if, by reason of such acquisition or condemnation, Tenant no longer has reasonable
means of access to the Premises or associated parking, Tenant, at Tenant’s sole option, may give to Landlord, within sixty (60) days following the date upon which Tenant shall have received notice of
vesting of title, ninety (90) days’ notice of termination of this Lease. Any dispute concerning the exercise by Landlord or Tenant of an option to terminate this Lease pursuant to this Section shall be
submitted to arbitration pursuant to Article 44 herein. In the event any such notice of termination is given by Landlord or Tenant, this Lease shall terminate upon the expiration of said ninety (90) day
period with the same effect as if the date were the scheduled expiration date. If a part of the Property shall be so acquired or condemned, and the Lease shall not be terminated pursuant to the provisions
of this Section, Landlord, at Landlord’s expense, shall restore that part of the Property not so acquired or condemned to a self-contained rental unit and substantially the same condition as prior thereto.
In the event of any termination of this Lease pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the Rent shall be apportioned as of the date of such termination, and any prepaid portion of Rent for any period
after such date shall be promptly refunded by Landlord to Tenant.

Section 8.2  Expiration. In the event of termination in any of the cases hereinbefore provided, this Lease and the Term and estate hereby granted shall expire as of the date of such termination
with the same effect as if that were the date hereinbefore set for the expiration of the full Term.

Section 8.3 Award. In the event of any condemnation or taking hereinbefore mentioned of all or a part of the Building, Landlord shall be entitled to receive the entire award in the
condemnation proceeding, including any award made for the value of the estate vested by this Lease in Tenant, and Tenant hereby expressly waives any and all right, title and interest of Tenant now or
hereafter arising in and to any such award or any part thereof and assigns the same to Landlord, and Tenant shall be entitled to receive no part of such award and shall have no claim against Landlord
on account thereof; provided however, that Tenant shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the unamortized cost of the Tenant Work in excess of the Tenant Allowance plus the unamortized cost
of the Additional Tenant Work in excess of the Additional Tenant Allowance, amortized on a straight line basis over fifteen (15) years. In addition, Tenant shall have the right to seek a separate award
for (a) its relocation costs, (b) the goodwill of its business and (c) any taking of Tenant’s Property.

Section 8.4 Temporary Taking, It is expressly understood and agreed that the provisions of this Article 8 shall not be applicable to any condemnation or taking for governmental occupancy
for a limited period. For purposes of this Section, “limited period” shall be deemed to be twelve (12) months or less. It is also understood and agreed that in the event the Premises or a portion thereof is
condemned or taken for governmental occupancy for twelve (12) months or less, the Rent payable hereunder shall be abated to the extent that such Rent relates to the condemned or taken part of the
Premises.

ARTICLE 9
Compliance with L.aws

Section 9.1 Tenant’s Obligations. Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall comply with all Requirements and all Insurance Requirements, at any time duly issued or in force, applicable to the
Premises or any part thereof or to Tenant’s use thereof, except that Tenant shall not hereby be under any obligation to comply with any Requirements or Insurance Requirements requiring any alteration
of or in connection with the Premises, unless such alteration is required by reason of a condition which has been created by, or at the instance of, Tenant, or is attributable to the particular use or manner
of use to which Tenant puts the Premises (however, Landlord not Tenant shall be required to comply with Requirements and Insurance Requirements relating to the Building generally), or is required
by reason of a breach of any of Tenant’s covenants and agreements hereunder. Where any alteration of or in connection with the Premises is required by any such Requirements or Insurance
Requirements, and, by reason of the express exception hereinabove contained, Tenant is not under any obligation to make such alteration, then Landlord shall make such alteration and pay the cost
thereof.

Section 9.2 Landlord’s Obligations. Landlord shall, at its expense, comply with all Requirements and Insurance Requirements within the Property (including the Premises) which are
Building-wide or which result from the negligence or willful act or breach of this Lease by Landlord or any of Landlord’s Representatives. Landlord shall also comply with all Requirements (including
without limitation the Americans With Disabilities Act) and Insurance Requirements applicable to the Common Areas and with all Requirements and Insurance Requirements with which Tenant is not
obligated to comply under Section 9.1 herein. Such expenses of Landlord shall be deemed Operating Expenses to the extent provided in Article 26 hereto.

Section 9.3 Condition at L.ease Execution. Landlord shall deliver the shell Premises to Tenant as follows: (i) HVAC stubbed and ready for Tenant’s distribution; (ii) all columns and perimeter
walls sheet-rocked and taped; (iii) fire protection systems or sprinklers stubbed; (iv) four-inch sleeved penetrations from the telephone closets for communications services wiring from carriers’ point
of entry in the basement of the Building to locations within the Premises; (v) free of all asbestos; (vi) vacant and broom-clean. Landlord has completed the floor lobby areas and the floor common
bathrooms to a standard comparable to the other buildings in the Park.

Section 9.4 Tenant’s Right to Contest. Tenant shall have the right to contest, by appropriate legal proceedings diligently conducted in good faith, in the name of Tenant or Landlord or both, at
no expense to Landlord, the validity or application of any Legal Requirement or Insurance Requirement imposed upon Tenant hereunder, subject to the following:

(a) If by the terms of any such law, ordinance, order, rule, regulation or requirement, compliance therewith pending the prosecution of any such proceeding may legally be delayed without the
incurrence of any lien, charge or liability of any kind against the Property or any part thereof and without subjecting Tenant or Landlord to any liability, civil or criminal, for failure so to comply
therewith, Tenant may delay compliance therewith until the final determination of such proceeding; and

(b) If any lien, charge or civil liability would be incurred by reason of any such delay, Tenant nevertheless may contest as aforesaid and delay as aforesaid, provided that such delay would not
subject Landlord to criminal liability or a default under any fee mortgage and Tenant (i) furnishes to Landlord security, reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, against any loss or injury by reason of such
contest or delay, and (ii) prosecutes the contest with due diligence.

Landlord shall promptly execute and deliver any appropriate papers which may be necessary or proper to permit Tenant to so contest the validity or application of any such law, ordinance, order,
rule, regulation or requirement.

Section 9.5 Landlord’s Right to Contest. Landlord shall have the right to contest, by appropriate legal proceedings diligently conducted in good faith, in the name of Landlord or Tenant or
both, at no expense to Tenant, the validity or application of any Legal Requirement or Insurance Requirement imposed upon Landlord hereunder, subject to the following:



(a) If by the terms of any such law, ordinance, order, rule, regulation or requirement, compliance therewith pending the prosecution of any such proceeding may legally be delayed without the
incurrence of any lien, charge or liability of any kind against Tenant and without subjecting Tenant to any liability, civil or criminal, for failure so to comply therewith, Landlord may delay compliance
therewith until the final determination of such proceeding; and

(b) If any lien, charge or civil liability would be incurred by Tenant by reason of any such delay, Landlord nevertheless may contest as aforesaid and delay as aforesaid, provided that such delay
would not subject Tenant to criminal liability and Landlord (i) furnishes to Tenant security, reasonably satisfactory to Tenant, against any loss or injury by reason of such contest or delay, and (ii)
prosecutes the contest with due diligence.

Tenant shall promptly execute and deliver any appropriate papers which may be necessary or proper to permit Landlord to so contest the validity or application of any such law, ordinance, order,
rule, regulation or requirement.

Section 9.6  Hazardous Substances.
(a) In order to induce Tenant to enter into this Lease, Landlord represents to Tenant that, to the best of Landlord’s knowledge, there are no Hazardous Substances in, on or under the Land.

(b) If Landlord becomes aware of any inquiry, investigation or administrative, judicial or other proceeding regarding Hazardous Substances or the violation of any Environmental Laws with
respect to the Property, Landlord shall, within (5) five days after first learning of same, give Tenant notice of the same, and provide all available information regarding each inquiry, investigation or
proceeding.

(c) Landlord shall not cause or permit, as the result of any intentional or unintentional act or omission on the part of Landlord, Landlord’s Representatives, tenants or other occupants of the Park
to store, use, possess, dispose or release or threaten to release Hazardous Substances in, on or from any portion of the Park.

(d) Landlord shall not cause or permit, as the result of any intentional or unintentional act or omission on the part of Landlord, Landlord’s Representatives, tenants or other occupants of the Park,
any violation of any Environmental Law.

(e) Landlord shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Tenant, its successors and assigns, its affiliates, parents, subsidiaries and subtenants, Tenant’s Representatives, and all partners, trustees,
shareholders, agents, directors, officers and employees of any of the foregoing from and against any and all claims, demands, penalties, fines, liabilities, settlements, suits, damages, losses, injuries,
costs and expenses of whatever kind or nature, known or unknown, contingent or otherwise, including, without limitation, attorneys’ and consultants’ fees and disbursements and investigation and
laboratory fees arising out of, and in any way related to: (i) the storage, use, possession, presence, disposal, release, or threat of release of any Hazardous Substance as a result of any act or omission of
Landlord, Landlord’s Representatives, tenants or other occupants of the Park; (ii) any personal injury (including, without limitation, wrongful death) or property damage (real or personal) arising out of
or related to the presence of any Hazardous Substance in the Park, except that resulting from the negligence or willful act of Tenant or any of Tenant’s Representatives; (iii) any lawsuit brought or
threatened, settlement reached or government order relating to such Hazardous Substance; and/or (iv) any intentional or unintentional act or omission on the part of Landlord, Landlord’s
Representatives or other occupants of the Park which violate any Environmental Law.

ARTICLE 10

Damage to Plumbing and other Systems

Section 10.1  Notice of Accidents. Landlord or Tenant shall give to the other prompt notice of any known damage to, or defective condition in, any part or appurtenance of the Building
Systems, serving, located in, or passing through, the Premises. Any such damage or defective condition shall be remedied by Landlord with reasonable diligence, but if such damage or defective
condition was caused by, or resulted from the improper use by Tenant or by Tenant’s Representatives, the reasonable cost of the remedy thereof shall be paid by Tenant, to the extent not covered by
Section 5.4 hereof. Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, or any other document governing the relationship between Landlord and Tenant, Tenant shall not be entitled to claim any damages
arising from any such damage or defective condition unless the same shall have been caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any of Landlord’s Representatives in the
construction, operation or maintenance of the Premises or Building or the same shall not have been remedied by Landlord with reasonable diligence after notice thereof from Tenant to Landlord; nor
shall Tenant be entitled to claim any eviction by reason of any such damage or defective condition unless the same shall have rendered the Premises untenantable and the Premises shall not have been
made tenantable by Landlord within a reasonable time (not to exceed seven (7) Business Days) after notice thereof from Tenant to Landlord.

ARTICLE 11
Notices

Section 11.1  Procedure; Addresses. Any notice, consent, approval, request, bill, demand or statement hereunder by either party to the other party shall be in writing and shall be deemed to
have been duly given if delivered personally to such other party sent by overnight mail with a reliable overnight courier or by certified registered U.S. mail, return receipt requested, postpaid and
addressed to such other party, which address for Landlord shall be c/o Albert D. Phelps, Inc., 401 Merritt 7, P. O. Box 5101, Norwalk, CT 06856, Attention: John P. Crosby, President, and for Tenant
shall be Factset Research Systems, Inc., One Greenwich Plaza, Greenwich, Connecticut 06830, Attention: Mr. John Gross, but after Tenant shall have commenced business in the Premises, any notice
to Tenant shall be sent to the Premises, with a copy (in either case) to Robinson & Cole, 695 East Main Street, Stamford, Connecticut 06901, Attention: Frank L. Baker, Esq. If the address of such other
party for notices shall have been duly changed as hereinafter provided, aforesaid, notices shall be given to such other party at such changed address. Notices by mail (except overnight mail) shall be
effective three (3) Business Days after the date mailed. Notices by overnight mail shall be effective one (1) Business Day after delivery to the service. Either party may at any time change the address
for such notices, consents, approvals, requests, bills, demands or statements by delivering or mailing, as aforesaid, to the other party a notice stating the change and setting forth the changed address.

ARTICLE 12

Conditions of Limitation

Section 12.1  Events of Default. This Lease and the Term and estate hereby granted are subject to the limitation that:

(a) in case Tenant shall make an assignment of its property for the benefit of creditors or shall file a voluntary petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, or an involuntary petition under
any bankruptcy or insolvency law shall be filed against Tenant and such involuntary petition is not dismissed within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof,

(b) in case a petition is filed by or against Tenant under the Chapter 11 provision of the United States Bankruptcy Act or under the provision of any law of like import, unless such petition under
said Chapter 11 provisions be one filed against Tenant which is dismissed within ninety (90) days after its filing,

(0) in case Tenant shall file a petition under the Chapter 7 provision of the United States Bankruptcy Act or under the provisions of any law of like import and such petition is not dismissed with
ninety (90) days thereof,

(d) in case a permanent receiver, trustee or liquidator shall be appointed for Tenant or of or for all or substantially all the property of Tenant, and such receiver, trustee or liquidator shall not have
been discharged within ninety (90) days from the date of his appointment,

(e) in case Tenant shall default in the payment of any Net Rent or additional rent or any other charge payable hereunder by Tenant to Landlord on any date upon which the same became due, and
such default shall continue for ten (10) Business Days after Landlord shall have given to Tenant a notice specifying such default,

(3] in case Tenant shall default in the due keeping, observing or performance of any covenant, agreement, term, provision or condition of this Lease on the part of Tenant to be kept, observed or
performed (other than a default of the character referred to in clause 12.1(g) of this Section 12.1), and if such default shall continue and shall not be remedied by Tenant within thirty (30) Business Days
after Landlord shall have given to Tenant a notice specifying the same, or, in the case of such a default which for causes beyond Tenant’s control cannot with due diligence be cured within said period
of thirty (30) Business Days, if Tenant (i) shall not, promptly upon the giving of such notice, advise Landlord in writing of Tenant’s intention to take all steps necessary to remedy such default with due
diligence, (ii) shall not duly institute and thereafter diligently prosecute to completion all steps necessary to remedy the same, or (iii) shall not remedy the same within a reasonable time after the date of
the giving of said notice by Landlord,

Then in any of said cases Landlord may at its option:



give to Tenant a notice of intention to end the Term of this Lease at the expiration of ten (10) Business Days from the date of the giving of such notice, and, in the event such notice
is given and the default not cured within said period, this Lease and the Term and estate hereby granted (whether or not the Term shall theretofore have commenced) shall expire
and terminate upon the expiration of said ten (10) Business Days with the same effect as if that day were the date hereinbefore set for the expiration of the full Term of this Lease,

or

re-enter the Premises following summary dispossess proceeding or appropriate suit without terminating this Lease,

but Tenant shall be or remain liable for damages as provided in this Lease or pursuant to law. If the term “Tenant”, as used in the Lease, refers to more than one person, then, as used in clauses 12.1(a),
12.1(b), 12.1(c), and 12.1(d) of this Section 12.1, said term shall be deemed to include all of such persons or any one them; if any of the obligations of Tenant under this Lease is guaranteed, the term

12.1(c), and 12.1(d) to the extent the Rent and other obligations of Tenant continue to be met such clauses by themselves shall not be deemed to constitute a default by Tenant under this Lease.
ARTICLE 13

Re-entry by Landlord

Section 13.1 Re-entry. If Tenant shall default in the payment of any Net Rent or additional rent or any other charge payable hereunder by Tenant to Landlord on any date upon which the same
becomes due, and if such default shall continue for ten (10) Business Days after Landlord shall have given to Tenant a notice specifying such default, or if this Lease shall terminate as in Article 12
hereof provided, Landlord or Landlord’s Representatives may immediately or at any time thereafter re-enter into or upon the Premises, or any part thereof, in the name of the whole, either by summary
dispossess proceedings or by any suitable action or proceeding at law, without being liable to indictment, prosecution or damages therefor, and may repossess the same, and may remove any persons

therefrom, to the end that Landlord may have, hold and enjoy the Premises again as and of its first estate and interest therein. The words “re-enter”, “re-entry” and “re-entering” as used in this Lease
are restricted to their technical legal meanings.

Section 13.2  Past Due Rent. In the event of any termination of this Lease under the provisions of Article 12 hereof or in the event that Landlord shall re-enter the Premises under the
provisions of Article 12 or this Article 13 or in the event of the termination of this Lease (or of re-entry without termination) by or under any summary dispossess or other appropriate proceeding or
action undertaken by Landlord for the enforcement of its aforesaid right of re-entry or any provision of law (any such termination of this Lease, or re-entry without termination, being hereinafter called
a “Default Termination” or “Default Re-Entry”, as the case may be), Tenant shall thereupon pay to Landlord the Net Rent, additional rent and any other charge payable hereunder by Tenant to Landlord
up to the time of such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry, or of such recovery of possession of the Premises by Landlord, as the case may be, and Tenant shall also pay to Landlord in the event of
a Default Termination damages as provided in Article 14 hereof or pursuant to law. Also in the event of a Default Termination or Default Re-Entry Landlord shall be entitled to retain all moneys, if any
paid by Tenant to Landlord, whether as advance rent, security or otherwise, but such moneys shall be credited by Landlord against any Net Rent, additional rent or any other charge due from Tenant at
the time of such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry or, at Landlord’s option, against any damages payable by Tenant under Article 14 hereof or pursuant to law.

Section 13.3  Injunction; Nonexclusive Remedies.

(a) In the event of a breach on the part of Tenant with respect to any of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions or conditions on the part of or on behalf of Tenant to be kept, observed or
performed, Landlord shall also have the right of injunction. The specified remedies to which Landlord may resort hereunder are cumulative and are not intended to be exclusive of any other remedies
or means of redress to which Landlord may lawfully be entitled at any time, and Landlord may invoke any remedy allowed at law or in equity as if specific remedies were not herein provided for,
provided, however, that no such remedy may result in a duplication of any measure of damages afforded Landlord hereunder.

(b) In the event of a breach on the part of Landlord with respect to any of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions or conditions on the part of or on behalf of Landlord to be kept, observed
or performed, Tenant shall also have the right of injunction. The specified remedies to which Tenant may resort hereunder are cumulative and are not intended to be exclusive of any other remedies or

means of redress to which Tenant may lawfully be entitled at any time, and Tenant may invoke any remedy allowed at law or in equity as if specific remedies were not herein provided for, provided,
however, that no such remedy may result in a duplication of any measure of damages afforded Tenant hereunder.

ARTICLE 14
Damages

Section 14.1 Damages. In the event of a Default Termination or Default Re-Entry of this Lease, Tenant will pay to Landlord as damages, at the election of Landlord, either:

(a) a sum at the time of such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry equal to the amount, if any, by which (1) the aggregate of the Net Rent and the additional rent under Article 26 hereof or
any other Article of this Lease, if any, which would have been payable hereunder by Tenant for the period commencing with the day following the date of such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry
and ending with the date hereinbefore set for the expiration of the full Term hereby granted, exceeds (2) the aggregate fair market rental value of the Premises for the same period discounted to their net
present value at a rate of eight percent (8%), or

(b) sums equal to the aggregate of the Net Rent and the additional rent under Article 26 hereof or under any other Article of this Lease, if any, which would have been payable by Tenant had this
Lease not terminated by such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry payable upon the due dates therefor specified herein following such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry and until the date
hereinbefore set for the expiration of the full Term hereby granted discounted to their net present value at a rate of eight percent (8%); provided, however, that if Landlord shall relet all or any part of
the Premises for all or any part of said period, Landlord shall credit Tenant with the net rents received by Landlord from such reletting, such net rents to be determined by first deducting from the gross
rents as and when received by Landlord from such reletting the expenses incurred or paid by Landlord in terminating this Lease and of re-entering the Premises and of securing possession thereof, as
well as the expenses of reletting, including altering and preparing the Premises for new tenants with a Building Standard Installation, brokers’ commissions and all other expenses properly chargeable
against the Premises and the rental therefrom in connection with such reletting, it being understood that any such reletting may be for a period equal to or shorter or longer than said period; provided,
further, that (i) in no event shall Tenant be entitled to receive any excess of such net rents over the sums payable by Tenant to Landlord hereunder, (ii) in no event shall Tenant be entitled, in any suit for
the collection of damages pursuant to this clause (b), to a credit in respect of any net rents from a reletting except to the extent that such net rents are actually received by Landlord prior to the
commencement of such suit, and (iii) if the Premises or any part thereof should be relet in combination with other space, then appropriate apportionment on a square foot gross leasable area basis shall
be made of the rent received from such reletting and of the expenses of reletting. For the purposes of clause (a) of this Section 14.1, the amount of additional rent which would have been payable by
Tenant under Article 26 hereof, for each calendar year in which and after such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry occurs, shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the amount of such additional
rent payable by Tenant for the calendar year immediately preceding the year in which such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry occurs. Suit or suits for the recovery of such damages, or any
installments thereof, may be brought by Landlord from time to time at its election, and nothing contained herein shall be deemed to require Landlord to postpone suit until the date when the Term of
this Lease would have expired but for such Default Termination or Default Re-Entry.

Section 14.2  Other Damages. Nothing herein contained shall be construed as limiting or precluding the recovery by Landlord against Tenant of any sums or damages to which, in addition to
the damages particularly provided above, Landlord may lawfully be entitled by reason of any default hereunder on the part of Tenant. Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, if Tenant

is in default under this Lease, Landlord shall not be entitled to receive from Tenant any consequential, special or punitive costs or damages incurred by Landlord as a result of Tenant’s default, unless
Tenant is a holdover pursuant to the provisions of Article 32 of this Lease.

ARTICLE 15

Supplemental HVAC System and Emergency Generator

Section 15.1  Supplemental HVAC System. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall have the option to install cooling towers and chillers on the Property to supplement the existing Building
system or, alternatively, to act as the primary HVAC system for a portion of the Premises at no additional rent to Tenant.

Section 15.2 Emergency Generator. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall have the option to install (in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations) an emergency generator
system (the “Emergency Generator”) on the Land for its exclusive use at no additional charge or Rent to Tenant. Landlord acknowledges and agrees that Tenant may locate or relocate such emergency
generator at a location on the Land that is mutually acceptable to Landlord and Tenant, and that Tenant shall have the right to install (in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations) such
cables, conduits, venting ducts, and piping as may be necessary or required to connect such emergency generator to the electrical systems servicing the Premises and/or to Tenant’s equipment located
within the Premises, as well as to vent exhaust from the operation thereof.



Section 15.3 Landlord’s Consent. Landlord’s consent for the supplemental HVAC work as permitted under Section 15.1 and for emergency generator under Section 15.2 shall be required
and Tenant shall follow the procedure for approval as is set forth in Section 5.1(e).

ARTICLE 16

Access Cards

Section 16.1 Access Cards. Landlord shall provide Tenant with one (1) access card for the Building security system per employee of Tenant, from time to time, at no charge to Tenant,
provided, however, Tenant shall be charged for additional cards in excess of one (1) card per two hundred fifty (250) rentable square feet of the Premises leased by Tenant at the then current rate.
Tenant shall be charged for replacement cards at the then current rate.

ARTICLE 17
Elevators, Cleaning, Heating, Air Conditioning, Services

Section 17.1  Cleaning; Access.

(a) Landlord will clean the Property per the specifications in Exhibit E hereto. Landlord’s cleaning costs for the Property for the services as set forth on Exhibit E attached hereto shall be
included as part of the Operating Expenses as provided in Article 26 hereof.

(b) Landlord shall also provide parking facilities consistent in quality with other Class-A office buildings in the southern Fairfield County area. Tenant and its employees shall have access to the
Building at all times.

Section 17.2 HVAC.

(a) During Business Hours, Landlord shall, through the HVAC system, furnish to, and distribute in the Premises heating, ventilation and air conditioning throughout the year consistent with
Class-A office buildings in the Norwalk area for the comfortable occupancy of the Premises by Tenant, but in all events in accordance with the following temperature standards:

@) Fresh air levels shall be maintained in accordance with prevailing Class A standards and ASHRAE Standard 62-89 or as later amended. Landlord shall also provide adequate thermal
environmental comfort and air velocity limits in accordance with ASHRAE-55.

(ii) Temperatures in the Building shall be maintained as follows:

Winter temp: Outside Conditions:

5 deg F dry bulb, 25 mph prevailing wind
Inside Conditions:

68 deg F @ - 30% humidity;

Summer temp: Outside Conditions:
Inside Conditions:
General Offices: 72 deg F @ - 50% RH

(iii) Landlord to provide minimum outside air equal to not less than 20 cfm per person based on occupancy at 1 person per 100 usable square feet. Acoustic contribution from HVAC
equipment (both refrigeration and air side) to be less than NC-38, as measured against ambient — off conditions.

(b) Unless requested by Tenant, Landlord shall have no obligation to provide the Premises with mechanical ventilation except during Business Hours. It is specifically understood that the
Premises may not be habitable when mechanical ventilation is not being provided for the Premises. In the event that Tenant shall require heat and/or air conditioning or ventilation services during non-
Business Hours, Tenant shall give Landlord reasonable advance notice (which may be by personal, oral or telephonic communication followed up by a written work order within five (5) days on
Landlord’s standard work order form) of such requirements and Landlord shall furnish same to Tenant (the current rate for non-Business Hours HVAC is $100.00 per hour). If more than one (1) tenant
arranges for non-Business Hours HVAC, the cost shall be equitably allocated among said tenants. Reasonable advance notice is defined as being given by 3:00 P.M. Monday-Friday for same day
service, and by 3:00 P.M. Friday for Saturday overtime service, or by 10:00 A.M. Saturday for Sunday service.

Section 17.3  Elevators. Except when out of service for repairs, Landlord shall operate all elevators serving the floors on which the Premises are located during Business Hours, and have no
fewer than one passenger elevator subject to call during the other hours. At any time or times all or any of the elevators in the Building may, at the option of Landlord, be manual and/or automatic
elevators and Landlord shall be under no obligation to furnish an elevator operator for any automatic elevator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all passenger elevators shall be automatic elevators. If
Landlord shall at any time or times furnish any elevator operator for any automatic elevator, Landlord may discontinue furnishing such elevator operator without any diminution, reduction or
abatement of rent, provided that the cost for such operator shall not be charged to Tenant, unless such operator is requested by Tenant. Landlord shall provide at least one (1) freight elevator for
Tenant’s use during any Tenant Changes without cost to Tenant, including during non-Business Hours and non-Business Days.

Section 17.4  Building Systems. Landlord hereby represents and warrants that as of the date hereof, all Building Systems (including without limitation mechanical, electrical, plumbing and
HVAC) are in good working order and in compliance with all Requirements and that such Building Systems shall remain in such working order and compliance throughout the Term.

Section 17.5 Other Services. Landlord shall provide additional services in accordance with the standards of a class A office building in southern Fairfield County, including without
limitation: property management, utilities, snow removal, cleaning of Common Areas, 24-hour guard service and related security, landscaping, exterior lighting, maintenance of insurance and general
repair and maintenance as required hereunder.

Section 17.6  Interruption of Service.

(a) Landlord reserves the right, without liability to Tenant and without constituting any claim of constructive eviction, to stop or interrupt any heating, elevator, escalator, lighting, ventilating, air
conditioning, gas, steam, power, electricity, water, cleaning or other service and to stop or interrupt the use of any Building facilities at such times as may be necessary and for as long as may
reasonably be required by reason of Unavoidable Delay. No such stoppage or interruption shall entitle Tenant to any diminution or abatement of Rent or other compensation nor shall this Lease or any
of the obligations of Tenant be affected or reduced by reason of any such stoppage or interruption. Tenant hereby expressly waives any and all claim for damages it may have against Landlord on
account of such stoppage of interruption.

(b) Landlord shall, however, exercise reasonable diligence to restore any service so interrupted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if: (i) any Essential Service (as defined in the following sentence)
is discontinued to the Premises for more than five (5) consecutive days following notice thereof from Tenant to Landlord; and (ii) such discontinuance renders all or any significant portion of the
Premises untenantable, then all Rent shall thereupon abate, based upon the portion of the Premises so rendered untenantable, until such discontinuance is remedied. “Essential Service” means any of
the following: heating or air-conditioning (as seasonally required), office electricity, water, plumbing or elevators.

ARTICLE 18

Lease Contains All Agreements — No Waivers

Section 18.1 No Other Promises. This Lease contains all of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions relating to the leasing of the Premises hereunder, and neither
Landlord nor Tenant has made and are not making, and Landlord and Tenant in executing and delivering this Lease are not relying upon, any warranties, representations, promises or statements, except
to the extent that the same may expressly be set forth in this Lease or to the extent contained in any writing which may be signed by both parties and made either simultaneously or subsequent to this
Lease.

Section 18.2 No Waivers. The failure of Landlord or Tenant to insist in any instance upon the strict performance of any provision of this Lease or to exercise any election herein contained
shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment for the future of such provision or election, but the same shall continue and remain in full force and effect. No waiver or modification by Landlord



or Tenant of any provision of this Lease or other right or benefit shall be deemed to have been made unless expressed in writing and signed by Landlord and Tenant. No surrender of the Premises or of
any part thereof or of any remainder of the Term of this Lease shall be valid unless agreed by both Tenant and Landlord in writing. Any breach by Tenant of any provision of this Lease shall not be
deemed to be waived by (a) the receipt and retention by Landlord of Net Rent or additional rent from anyone other than Tenant or (b) the acceptance of such other person as a tenant or (c) a release of
Tenant from the further performance by Tenant of the provisions of this Lease or (d) the receipt and retention by Landlord of Net Rent or additional rent without knowledge of the breach of any
provision of this Lease. No payment by Tenant or receipt or retention by Landlord of a lesser amount than any Net Rent or additional rent herein stipulated shall be deemed to be other than on account
of the earliest stipulated rent, nor shall any endorsement or statement of any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment as such rent be deemed an accord and satisfaction, and Landlord
may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the balance of such rent or pursue any other remedy in this Lease provided. No executory agreement hereafter made
between Landlord and Tenant shall be effective to change, modify, waive, release, discharge, terminate or effect an abandonment of this Lease, in whole or in part, unless such executory agreement is
in writing, refers expressly to this Lease and is signed by the party against whom enforcement of the change, modification, waiver, release, discharge or termination is sought.

ARTICLE 19

Parties Bound

Section 19.1 Successors and Assigns. The covenants, agreements, terms, provisions, and conditions of this Lease shall bind and benefit the respective successors, assigns and legal
representatives of the parties hereto with the same effect as if mentioned in each instance where a party hereto is named or referred to, except that no violation of the provisions of Article 25 hereof
shall operate to vest any rights in any successor, assignee or legal representative of Tenant and that the provisions of this Article 19 shall not be construed as modifying the conditions of limitation
contained in Article 12 hereof. It is understood and agreed, however, that the covenants and obligations on the part of Landlord under this Lease shall not be binding upon Landlord herein named with
respect to any period subsequent to the transfer of its interest in the Building, that in the event of such a transfer said covenants and obligations shall thereafter be binding upon each transferee of such
interest of Landlord herein named who assumes the same in a writing, a copy of which is delivered to Tenant, but only with respect to the period ending with a subsequent transfer of such interest, and
that a lease of the entire interest shall be deemed a transfer within the meaning of this Article 19. Notwithstanding the above, any obligation of Landlord accruing prior to the transfer shall remain
Landlord’s obligation unless expressly assumed by any successor, assignee or legal representative.

Section 19.2 Nonrecourse. If Landlord or any successor(s) in interest or assignee(s) shall be an individual, joint venture, limited liability company, corporation, tenancy in common, firm or
partnership, general or limited, or a trust, it is specifically understood and agreed that there shall be no personal liability on such individual or the members of the joint venture, limited liability
company, tenancy in common, firm, partnership, or the trustee(s) under such trust or the beneficiaries thereunder, or upon such joint venture, corporation, tenancy in common, firm, partnership, or trust
in respect to any of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions, and conditions of this Lease. In the event of a breach or default by Landlord of any of its obligations under this Lease, Tenant shall
look solely to the equity of Landlord in the Building and Land or its leasehold interest therein, the rental or sale proceeds therefrom and any insurance and condemnation proceeds relating thereto for
the satisfaction of Tenant’s remedies. It is expressly understood that Landlord’s liability under the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions, conditions, warranties, and obligations of the Lease shall in
no event exceed the loss of its equity interest in the Land and Building, the proceeds therefrom and any insurance and condemnation proceeds.

ARTICLE 20

Curing Defaults

Section 20.1 Cure by Landlord. If Tenant shall default in the keeping, observance or performance of any provision or obligation of this Lease and such default continues beyond the
applicable notice and cure periods set forth in Article 12, Landlord, on prior notice to Tenant and without thereby waiving such default, may perform the same for the account and at the expense of
Tenant. Bills for any reasonable expense incurred by Landlord in connection with any such performance by Landlord for the account of Tenant, and bills for all reasonable costs, expenses and
disbursements of every kind and nature whatsoever, including but not limited to, reasonable counsel fees involved in successfully collecting the Net Rent or additional rent or other charge or any part
thereof or successfully enforcing any rights against Tenant, under or in connection with this Lease, or pursuant to law, including (without being limited to) any such reasonable cost, expense and
disbursement involved in instituting and prosecuting any action or proceeding (including any summary dispossess proceeding), as well as bills for any Property, material, labor or services provided,
furnished or rendered, or caused to be provided, furnished or rendered, by Landlord to Tenant, may be sent by Landlord to Tenant monthly, and shall be due and payable in accordance with the terms of
said bills, and if not paid when due, the amounts hereof shall immediately become due and payable as additional rent under this Lease. Landlord shall also pay to Tenant all reasonable costs, expenses
and disbursements incurred by Tenant in successfully enforcing any provisions of this Lease.

Section 20.2 Landlord Default. It shall be a default by Landlord if Landlord shall (a) fail to make a required payment to Tenant within ten (10) Business Days after notice; (b) fail to correct
an emergency within a reasonable time (no more than three (3) days) after notice from Tenant (which notice may be oral followed promptly by written notice); or (c) fail to observe any other obligation
of Landlord under this Lease and then fail to cure such default within thirty (30) days after notice from Tenant; provided however that in the case of (b) or (c) if Landlord cannot with due diligence cure
within the applicable period, for causes beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, then it shall be a default if Landlord shall not (i) promptly upon the giving of such notice, advise Tenant in writing of
Landlord’s intention to take all steps necessary to remedy such default with due diligence; (ii) duly institute and thereafter diligently prosecute to completion all steps necessary to remedy the same: and
(iii) remedy the same within a reasonable time after the giving of said notice by Tenant.

Section 20.3  Self-Help;_Offsets.

(a) If Landlord shall default after notice and expiration of the applicable cure period under Section 20.2 herein, Tenant, on prior notice to Landlord and without waiving such default, may
perform the same for the account and at the expense of Landlord.

(b) Tenant may offset the reasonable, out-of-pocket costs actually expended by Tenant in curing such default, together with interest at the Default Rate (hereinafter defined) from the date of
incurring the expense, from the Rent next due and owing hereunder, until Tenant has been fully credited for such expenditure. If, upon termination of this Lease, Tenant shall not have offset the full
amount of such costs as set forth herein, Landlord shall, within ten (10) Business Days after such termination, pay the difference to Tenant. Any disputes under this Section shall be resolved by
arbitration in accordance with the provisions of Article 44 herein.

ARTICLE 21

Inability to Perform

Section 21.1  Force Majeure.

(a) Subject to other provisions of this Lease, this Lease and the obligations of Tenant to pay rent hereunder and perform all of the other covenants, agreements, terms, provisions, and conditions
hereunder on the part of Tenant to be performed shall in no way be affected, impaired or excused because Landlord is unable to fulfill any of its obligations under this Lease or is unable to supply or is
delayed in supplying any service expressly or impliedly to be supplied or is unable to make or is delayed in making any repairs, replacements, additions, alterations or decorations or is unable to supply
or is delayed in supplying any equipment or fixtures, if Landlord is prevented or delayed from so doing by reason of Unavoidable Delays.

(b) Subject to other provisions of this Lease, this Lease and the obligations of Landlord to perform all of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions, and conditions hereunder on the part of
Landlord to be performed shall in no way be affected, impaired or excused because Tenant is unable to fulfill any of its obligations under this Lease or is unable to make or is delayed in making any
repairs, replacements, additions, alterations or decorations or is unable to supply or is delayed in supplying any equipment or fixtures, if Tenant is prevented or delayed from so doing by reason of
Unavoidable Delays.

ARTICLE 22

Adjacent Excavation — Shoring

Section 22.1 Excavation. If an excavation shall be made upon land adjacent to or under the Building, or shall be authorized to be made, Tenant shall afford to the person causing or authorized
to cause such excavation, license to enter upon the Premises for the purpose of doing, at such person’s expense, such work as said person shall deem necessary or desirable to preserve the Building
from injury or damage and to support the same by proper foundations, without any claim for damages or indemnity against Landlord, or diminution or abatement of Rent, unless such excavation
interferes with Tenant’s ability to conduct its business. Entry to the Premises by such persons shall be subject to such reasonable restrictions and regulations as Tenant may impose from time to time.

ARTICLE 23



Article Headings

Section 23.1 Headings. The Article and Section headings of this Lease are for convenience only and are not to be considered in construing the same.

ARTICLE 24
Electrical Energy

Section 24.1 Direct Meter.

(a) A direct meter system shall be furnished and installed by Tenant, as part of the Tenant Work, to measure the amount of Tenant’s electrical “Usage,” as hereinafter defined. Where more than
one (1) meter measures the amount of Usage, Usage through each meter shall be computed and then aggregated and then paid by Tenant in accordance with the provisions of this Article.

(b) The Building electrical service shall provide a minimum of 6.5 watts per rentable square foot of demand electrical capacity to the Premises for lighting and general utility power, exclusive of
Building requirements.

Section 24.2 Additional Risers. Any additional risers, feeders or other equipment or service proper or necessary to supply Tenant’s electrical requirements, will, upon written request of Tenant,
be installed by Landlord, at the reasonable cost and expense of Tenant, if in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, the same will not cause permanent damage or hazardous conditions. Landlord agrees that
Tenant may use any existing risers (at no additional cost to Tenant) to provide additional electricity to supply Tenant’s requirements, provided that such risers shall be suitable and available for such
purpose in Landlord’s reasonable judgment.

Section 24.3 Tenant’s Usage.

(a) For the purposes of this Article, “Usage” shall mean Tenant’s actual usage of electricity in the Premises for lighting, office equipment, and/or any special HVAC equipment installed for
Tenant, (as distinguished from normal Building HVAC and the Common Area lighting), as measured by the aforesaid metering system for each calendar month or such other period as mutually agreed
upon by Landlord and Tenant commencing as of the Substantial Completion of the Premises (or the applicable portion thereof) through the remainder of the Term of this Lease.

(b) “Landlord’s Rate” shall mean the service classification (including all applicable taxes, surcharges, demand charges, energy charges, fuel adjustment charges, time of day charges and other
adjustments made from time to time by the utility company supplying electric current to the Building or any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction) pursuant to which Landlord purchases electric
current for the Building from the utility company supplying electric current to the Building.

(o) “Tenant’s Cost” shall mean the product of (i) the Usage multiplied by (ii) Landlord’s Rate, and in no event shall exceed the costs to Landlord; Landlord shall make no profit nor charge
Tenant any administrative or other fee.

Section 24.4  Billing and Payment. Landlord shall, from time to time but not more often than monthly, furnish Tenant with an invoice indicating the period during which the Usage was
measured and the amount of Tenant’s Cost payable by Tenant to Landlord for such period. Within thirty (30) days after receipt of such invoice, Tenant shall pay the amount of Tenant’s Cost set forth
thereon to Landlord as additional rent. In addition, if any tax is imposed upon Landlord by any municipal, state or federal agency or subdivision with respect to the purchase, sale or resale of electrical
energy supplied to Tenant hereunder, Tenant covenants and agrees that, where permitted by law, a pro rata share of such taxes (based upon the ratio that Tenant’s Usage bears to the actual usage for the
Building determined in the same manner as Usage) shall be passed onto, included in the bill to and paid by Tenant to Landlord as additional rent, provided that if Landlord’s Rate is determined based
on the rate Tenant would have paid had it purchased the electricity for the Premises from the utility company, then Tenant’s share of such taxes shall be based on the ratio of the amount payable by
Tenant for such electricity and the total cost payable for all electricity used in the Building.

Section 24.5 Failure of Supply. Except as otherwise in this Lease provided, Landlord shall not in any way be liable or responsible to Tenant for any loss or damage or expense which Tenant
may sustain or incur if, through no fault of Landlord, either the quantity or character of electric service is changed or is no longer available or suitable for Tenant’s requirements.

Section 24.6  Overloading.

(a) In no event shall Tenant use or install any fixtures, equipment or machines the use of which in conjunction with other fixtures, equipment and machines in the Premises would result in an
overload of the electrical circuits servicing the Premises. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, (a) Tenant’s use of ordinary office equipment is not hereby prohibited, and (b) Tenant, subject to Landlord’s
approval and consent, shall have the option to upgrade such electrical circuits as may be required to accommodate Tenant’s needs, at its sole cost and expense. Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant to
seek the lowest electrical rates for the Premises, from time to time.

(b) Tenant covenants and agrees that at all times its use of the electric current shall never exceed the capacity of the then existing feeder to the Building or the risers or wiring installation.
Notwithstanding the aforesaid, Tenant shall have the option, subject to Landlord’s approval and consent, to upgrade such feeders, risers and/or wiring as may be required to accommodate Tenant’s
needs, at its sole cost and expense.

Section 24.7  Survey. In the event the metering system installed in the Premises for the measurement of electricity consumption in the Premises, or any alternative submetering system installed
by Landlord at a later date, is or becomes prohibited by law from use, then Landlord at its sole cost and expense may cause a survey to be made by an independent electrical engineer or an electrical
consulting firm mutually agreed upon by Tenant and Landlord (hereinafter referred to as the “Electrical Consultant”) to determine Usage in, and Tenant’s cost for electrical service to the Premises from
time to time, at least once per twelve (12) month period, and the Electrical Consultant shall make such determination using criteria generally accepted in the southern Fairfield County area and
Landlord’s Rate in effect at the time for all electricity consumed by Tenant. The determination made by the Electrical Consultant shall be binding on both Landlord and Tenant.

Section 24.8  Alterations. In order that Landlord may at all times have the necessary information that it requires in order to maintain and protect the Building equipment, Tenant agrees that
Tenant will not make any material alteration or material addition to the electrical equipment and/or appliances in the Premises without prior notice to Landlord in each instance and will promptly advise
Landlord of any other alteration or addition to such electrical equipment and/or appliances.

ARTICLE 25

Section 25.1 Landlord’s Consent Required. Tenant covenants and agrees, for Tenant and its successors, assigns and legal representatives, that neither this Lease nor the Term and estate
hereby granted, nor any part hereof or thereof will be assigned, mortgaged, pledged, encumbered or otherwise transferred (whether voluntarily, involuntarily, by operation of law, or otherwise), and that
neither the Premises, nor any part thereof, will be encumbered in any manner by reason of any act or omission on the part of Tenant, or will be used or occupied, or permitted to be used or occupied, by
anyone other than Tenant, or for any purpose other than as hereinbefore set forth, or will be sublet, without the prior written consent of Landlord in every case; provided, however, that, the assignment
or transfer of this Lease, and the Term and estate hereby granted to any entity fifty-one percent (51%) or more of which is owned by Tenant, or to any entity that owns fifty-one percent (51%) or more
of Tenant, or to any entity which is under common Control with Tenant, or to any entity into which Tenant is merged or with which Tenant is consolidated or to which a substantial portion of Tenant’s
assets may be sold (such entity being hereinafter, in this Article 25, called an “Affiliate”) shall be permitted without the prior written consent of Landlord shall not be deemed to be prohibited hereby if
the Affiliate shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord an agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Landlord whereby the Affiliate shall assume and agree to perform, and
to be personally bound by and upon, all the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions set forth in this Lease on the part of Tenant to be performed from and after the date of such
assignment or transfer, and whereby the Affiliate shall expressly agree that the provisions of this Article 25 shall, notwithstanding such assignment or transfer, continue to be binding upon it with
respect to all future assignments and transfers. In addition, the Premises may, without Landlord’s consent, be sublet to and/or otherwise occupied by any Affiliate. The provisions of Sections 25.2 and
25.3 hereof shall not apply to any transactions which are permitted, without Landlord’s consent, under this Section 25.1.

Section 25.2 Landlord’s Right of Recapture. In the event Tenant desires Landlord’s consent to an assignment or subletting of the Premises (other than an assignment or subletting permitted
under Section 25.1 above), Tenant, by notice in writing, shall offer to vacate the entire Premises and to surrender the same to Landlord as of a date (the “Surrender Date”) specified in said offer which
shall be the last day of any calendar month during the Term hereof, provided, however, that the Surrender Date shall not be earlier than the date occurring ninety (90) days after the giving of such
notice nor be later than the effective date of the proposed assignment or the commencement date of the term of the proposed sublease. Landlord may accept such offer by notice to Tenant given within
ten (10) Business Days after the receipt of such notice from Tenant. If Landlord accepts such offer, Tenant shall surrender to Landlord, effective as of the Surrender Date, all Tenant’s right, title and
interest in and to the entire Premises. If the entire Premises be so surrendered by Tenant, this Lease shall be canceled and terminated as of the Surrender Date with the same force and effect as if the
Surrender Date were the date hereinbefore specified for the expiration of the full Term of this Lease.



Section 25.3 Conditions to Consent. In the event Landlord does not accept such offer of Tenant referred to in Section 25.2 hereof, Landlord covenants not to withhold or delay its consent for a
period of more than fifteen (15) days after the offer period expires to such proposed assignment or subletting by Tenant of such space to the proposed assignee or subtenant. If Landlord shall elect to
deny consent to the proposed assignment or sublease, Landlord shall, subject to the next succeeding sentence, give notice to Tenant of such denial within fifteen (15) days of receipt of Tenant’s notice
of the proposed assignment or sublease, and Landlord shall accompany any such denial with a statement of a reason for denial. If Landlord fails to notify Tenant of its denial or approval within such
fifteen (15) day period, then such request for Landlord’s consent to the proposed assignment or subletting shall be deemed to have been approved. Landlord shall not in any event be obligated to
consent to any such proposed assignment or subletting unless:

(a) in the reasonable judgment of Landlord the proposed assignee or subtenant is of a character and engaged in a business such as are in keeping with the standards of Landlord in those
respects for the Building and its occupancy; provided, however, a business substantially similar to that engaged in by Tenant shall be deemed acceptable to Landlord;

(b) the proposed assignee or subtenant is of a financial strength and creditworthiness as the Landlord, in the commercially reasonable discretion, deems sufficient to meet the monetary
obligations of the Lease or sublease, as the case may be; provided, however, if proposed assignee or subtenant of equal financial strength and creditworthiness to Tenant (as of the date of
execution of this Lease) shall be deemed acceptable to Landlord;

(c) in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, the purposes for which the proposed assignee or subtenant intends to use the Premises sublet or assigned to it are such as are in keeping with
the standards of Landlord for the Building and its occupancy, it being understood and agreed that any such written request for consent to a subletting or assignment shall specify the purpose for
which the assignee or subtenant intends to use the Premises so assigned or sublet and Landlord shall not be required to consent to the use of the Premises for such specified purposes should such
proposed use be prohibited by this Lease or should same be a violation of applicable law; provided, however, the uses set forth in Section 3.1 hereof are deemed acceptable to Landlord;

(d) such subletting shall not be of less than 3,500 rentable square feet per approved sublease, provided, however, that Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, construct any demising
improvements and shall comply with all codes and upon the expiration of this Lease, shall, at Landlord’s option (which option shall be exercised at the time Landlord consents to such subletting),
restore the Premises to its condition prior to demising;

(e) the proposed assignee or subtenant under such proposed subletting shall not be a government entity or any subdivision or agency thereof nor then be a tenant or subtenant in or an
occupant of any part of the Park but only if Landlord has no competitive space available for rental in the Park;

f) Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any reasonable expenses (not in excess of $5,000.00) that may be incurred by Landlord in connection with the said assignment or sublease,
including, without limitation, the costs of making investigations as to the acceptability of a proposed assignee or subtenant and legal expenses incurred in connection with the reviewing and
granting of any requested consent to an assignment or subletting;

(g the proposed subletting shall not be advertised in a written or electronic publication at a rental rate less than the rental rates (taking into account free rent periods but not tenant
improvement allowances if the applicable Premises are then built-out) at which Landlord is then offering for comparable space in the Merritt 7 Corporate Park for a comparable term;

(h) Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as and for additional rent, with each monthly installment of rent due and payable by Tenant to Landlord, in case of a subletting, during the term of the
sublease between Tenant and the subtenant, an amount equal to the positive difference between the rent payable by Tenant to Landlord with respect to the space covered by the sublease, and the
rent received and collected by Tenant from the subtenant for said space for the same period after first paying all reasonable expenses incurred by Tenant in connection with any such sublease
including brokerage fees, leasing fees, legal fees, free rent, work letter or other expenses incurred for repairing or remodeling, altering or otherwise preparing the Premises for occupancy by such
assignee or subtenant.

Section 25.4  Tenant’s Liability. Each subletting effectuated pursuant to this Article 25 shall be subject to all the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions contained in this
Lease. Tenant covenants and agrees that, notwithstanding such assignment or any such subletting to any subtenant and/or acceptance of rent or additional rent by Landlord from any subtenant and
subject to the provisions of this Section 25.4, Tenant shall and will remain fully liable for the payment of the Net Rent and additional rent due and to become due hereunder and for the performance of
all the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions contained in this Lease on the part of Tenant to be performed. Tenant further covenants and agrees that notwithstanding any such
assignment or subletting, no other and further assignment or subletting of the Premises shall or will be made except upon compliance with and subject to the provisions of this Article 25. Tenant shall
promptly furnish to Landlord an executed copy of any and each permitted sublease. In addition, Tenant shall furnish to Landlord an executed copy of an assignment and assumption agreement for any
and each permitted assignment whereby the permitted Assignee shall assume and agree to perform, and be personally bound by and upon all of the agreements, terms, provisions and conditions set
forth in this Lease on the part of Tenant to be performed after the date of suc assignment, and whereby Assignee shall expressly agree that the provisions of this Article 25 shall, notwithstanding such
assignment or transfer, continue to be binding upon it with respect to all future assignments and transfers. If Landlord consents to any assignment of this Lease: (a) the Tenant named herein shall not be
liable for any amendments or modifications of this Lease made after the date of the assignment, and (unless Tenant is released from liability under the Lease) shall be given notice of any default under
this Lease and a reasonable opportunity to cure such default, and (b) the Tenant named herein shall be released from all liability under this Lease accruing on or after the date of the assignment if the
assignee is of a financial strength and creditworthiness as the Landlord, in its commercially reasonable discretion, deems sufficient to meet the monetary obligations of this Lease (or if Landlord is
deemed to have approved same pursuant to Section 25.3(b)). If Tenant is released from liability under this Lease as a result of an assignment hereof, Landlord may require a commercially reasonable
security deposit from the assignee.

Section 25.5  Collection of Rent. If this Lease be assigned or if the Premises be sublet or occupied by anybody other than Tenant, Landlord may, after default by Tenant, collect rent from the
assignee, subtenant or occupant, and apply the net amount collected to the rent herein reserved, but no such assignment, subletting, occupancy or collection shall be deemed a waiver of any of Tenant’s
covenants contained in this Article 25, or the acceptance of the assignee, subtenant or occupant as Tenant, or a release of Tenant from the further performance by Tenant of covenants on the part of
Tenant herein contained.

Section 25.6  Directory Listings. Landlord will, at the request of Tenant, maintain listings on the Building directory of the names of Tenant and any other firm, association or corporation in
occupancy of the Premises or any part thereof as permitted hereunder, and the names of an aggregate number of not more than ten (10) officers or employees of the foregoing.

The listing of any name other than that of Tenant, whether on the doors of the Premises, on the Building directory, or otherwise, shall not operate to vest any right or interest in the Lease or in the
Premises or be deemed to be the written consent of Landlord mentioned in this Article 25; it being expressly understood that any such listing is a privilege extended by Landlord revocable at will by
written notice to Tenant.

ARTICLE 26

Additional Rent

Section 26.1 _Payment of Tenant's Share of Operating Expenses.

(a) Landlord and Tenant agree that in addition to the annual Net Rent stated in Section 1.4 herein, from and after the Substantial Completion and delivery to Tenant of any portion of the
Premises, Tenant shall be liable for the payment of its pro rata share of Landlord’s Operating Expenses (as hereinafter defined) with respect to such portion of the Premises. Tenant’s pro rata share of
Operating Expenses for the entire Premises shall be 49.58% of the annual Operating Expenses for the Building. Said 49.58% is based upon 256,000 square feet of rentable area in the Building, of
which 49.58% or 126,920 feet of rentable area is demised to Tenant. Tenant’s pro rata portion of the Operating Expenses for the entire Premises as of the Substantial Completion of the Tenant Work
under the Work Schedule shall initially be estimated at the rate of $10.00 per rentable square foot, resulting in an annual sum of $1,269,200.00 for the entire Premises. Tenant shall make estimated
payments of $105,766.67 per month with respect to the entire Premises until Landlord notifies Tenant of Tenant’s new estimated pro rata payment as hereinafter provided. If Tenant is obligated to pay
Tenant’s pro rata share of Operating Expenses for less than the entire Premises, such pro rata share shall be equitably apportioned based upon the foregoing amounts.

(b) On or prior to January 1 of each calendar year during the Term hereof, commencing on January 1, 2005, Landlord shall notify Tenant of the reasonably projected Operating Expenses along
with a statement in reasonable detail of the basis for such estimate for such upcoming calendar year and of Tenant’s new estimated pro rata payment. All monthly installments of additional rent
thereafter due during such calendar year shall be increased or decreased, as the case may be, to reflect one-twelfth (1/12) of the annual amount of the new estimate until a new adjustment becomes
effective for the next ensuing calendar year.

(0) After the end of each calendar year during the Term of this Lease, including, the 2004 calendar year, but in no event later than April 1 following such year, Landlord shall furnish Tenant with
a statement prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to the real estate industry (consistently applied) relating to the actual Operating Expenses for the prior
calendar year showing the Operating Expenses in reasonable detail (i.e., a line-by-line accounting by major category), and Tenant’s actual pro-rata share of Operating Expenses for such year. If
Tenant’s pro rata share of actual Operating Expenses for any prior calendar year shall be greater (resulting in a deficiency) or shall be less (resulting in an excess), than the estimated amount actually
paid by Tenant during such calendar year, then: (i) Tenant shall, in case of such an excess, pay to Landlord as additional rent for the Premises for such calendar year the amount of the difference, in one
lump sum on the due date of the next monthly installment of Net Rent after the date of notice to Tenant or within thirty (30) days, whichever is later, or (ii) in case of such a deficiency Landlord shall



credit to Tenant the amount of the difference against the next-owing payments of additional rent, or at Tenant’s option, refund in cash, or in the case of the expiration of the Lease, Landlord shall remit
to Tenant such difference along with the statement, such remittance or cash refund to be paid within thirty (30) days of issuance of Landlord’s statement. Any adjustment for the final year of the Term
of this Lease shall survive the expiration thereof for a period of two (2) years.

(d) For a period of at least twenty four (24) months from and after the delivery of the annual statement, Landlord shall keep at its office in Fairfield County, full and accurate books of account
covering the Operating Expenses for the preceding year, and the statement to Tenant shall accurately reflect the total of such Operating Expenses and Tenant’s pro rata share thereof. Tenant shall have
the right at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, at all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice during said twenty four (24) month period, to inspect said books of account. If Tenant takes exception to
the statement of Operating Expenses provided by Landlord, Tenant shall have the right to conduct an audit of Landlord’s records relating to Operating Expenses, which shall be conducted at Tenant’s
expense, unless the audit reveals that Operating Expenses have been overstated by more than five percent (5%) of the amount shown on Landlord’s statement, in which event Landlord shall pay the
cost of such audit. Such right to inspect the books and records and/or to audit same shall not operate to extend the date of payment of any additional rent due in accordance herewith, but such payments
may be made without prejudice to Tenant’s right to dispute such statement. There shall be no more than one inspection of Landlord’s books and records per lease year, and failure to inspect during the
twenty-four (24) month period after the delivery of an annual statement shall deem such statement conclusive and binding upon Tenant. If Tenant takes exception to any item included in Operating
Expenses and if Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree on the correctness of such item, then either party may refer the decision of said issue to a reputable firm of independent certified public
accountants mutually acceptable to Landlord and Tenant, and the decision of such accountants shall be conclusively binding on the parties. The party required to make payment under such adjustment
shall pay all fees and expenses involved in the decision. Landlord shall retain the right to correct any statement given Tenant hereunder, provided however that any annual statement given to Tenant
shall be deemed binding upon Landlord if not corrected within twelve (12) months after the initial delivery or date such annual statement should have been delivered to Tenant, and, provided, further,
that Tenant shall have the same right to review Landlord’s books and records and to take exceptions to any corrected statement following the furnishing of such corrected statement as Tenant has
following the receipt of the initial annual statement.

Section 26.2  Definition of Operating Expenses. For purposes of determining what adjustment, if any, shall be made covering the period ending on the last day of each calendar year, the term
“Operating Expenses” shall be deemed to encompass any and all actual Operating Expenses commercially reasonably paid or incurred by Landlord for operating the Building and other improvements
on the Land and shall specifically include, but not be limited to:

(a) Wages and salaries of all necessary employees engaged in the physical operation and maintenance of the Building, including clerical personnel and including employer’s social security taxes,
and any other taxes which may be levied on such wages and salaries and any and all fringe benefits provided for such employees, but excluding wages and salaries of employees over the rank of
Building Superintendent, Facilities Manager and Physical Maintenance Supervisor.

(b) All supplies and material used in the operation and maintenance of the Building and improvements, including the cost of electrical energy to the Common Areas and other utilities.

(©) The costs of maintaining, repairing, snow plowing, lining and lighting all parking, pedestrian access to Metro-North tracks, sidewalk and ingress areas, including traffic controls, and the
planting, mowing and maintaining all planted areas within the Common Areas.

(d) The costs of all maintenance and service agreements on equipment used in the Building for the benefit of all tenants thereof or in connection with the Building and improvements.

(e) Hazard and liability insurance premiums, other than that to be maintained by tenants.

® The costs of repairs, cleaning and general maintenance of the Property.

() All taxes and assessments and governmental charges whether Federal, State or municipal which are levied or charged against the Land, Building and improvements, or against any personal

property of Landlord used in the operation of the Premises and any other taxes and assessments attributable to the Building, or its operation.
(h) Management fees pertaining to operation of the Building, not, in any event, to exceed the amount set forth in Section 26.3 below.

(i) The costs of maintaining a conference facility and fitness center in the Park as well as a cafeteria in the Building (the foregoing to exclude any lost (or potentially lost) rental revenues relating
thereto), with a maximum allocation to Tenant under this clause (i) of seventeen and one-half cents ($0.175) per rentable square foot of the Premises per annum.

The Operating Expenses for the calendar year in which the Term of this Lease shall begin as well as for the calendar year in which this Lease shall end shall be apportioned so that Tenant shall pay
only those portions of each such calendar year as are within the Term. Whenever any of the foregoing expenses are performed for, or relate to, any buildings and improvements in the Park in addition to
the Building, such expenses shall be allocated equitably among such buildings and improvements and the Building based on the benefit inuring proportionately to all the buildings in the Park.

Section 26.3  Exclusions. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Operating Expenses shall not include the following:

(a) cost of alterations and capital expenses which, under generally accepted accounting principles, are properly classified as such, except to the extent that such capital expenditure be pursuant to
government law or regulation or that such capital expenditure produce actual reductions in Operating Expenses;

(b) debt service, interest, principal, points and fees, amortization or any other costs on mortgages, deeds of trust or other encumbrances upon the Building or Park, or any part thereof;
(o) any expense for which Landlord is reimbursed, could be reimbursed or should be reimbursed by insurance, condemnation awards, any tenant of the Building or the Park or any other third
party;

(d) any expense for any item or service which Tenant pays directly to a third party or separately reimburses Landlord;

(e) any expense incurred by Landlord for which Landlord is required to carry insurance, regardless of whether Landlord actually carries such insurance and regardless of whether Landlord is
actually reimbursed,;

) salaries or other compensation of (i) employees above the grade of facilities manager or building superintendent, (ii) that portion of employee expenses for employees whose time is not spent
directly and solely in the operation of the Park, and (iii) Landlord’s management-level personnel, officers, directors, and partners;

(g) any fee or expenditure paid to any person or entity which shall Control, be under the Control of, or be under common Control with Landlord or the property manager, in each case in excess
of the amount which would be paid for such services and/or materials in the absence of such relationship;

(h) the cost of performing additional services or installation to or for tenants to the extent that such services exceed that typically provided to tenants of comparable first-class office buildings;

i) the cost of electricity furnished directly to other tenants in the Building and to any rentable areas in the Building not leased by Tenant;

[0)] the cost of installations for tenants (including Tenant) incurred in connection with preparing space for a new tenant, and all costs of obtaining new tenants or extending or renegotiating leases
with existing tenants, including without limitation brokerage commissions, professional fees and the costs of assuming or otherwise “taking over” or compensating tenants of the Building for other

leases;

(k) that portion of management fees in excess of four percent (4%) of gross rents of the Building (exclusive of capital expenditures, tenant reimbursements leasing costs of the Building, and
ancillary income from other tenants [e.g., income from antennae, or satellite dishes, paid parking, security deposits and interest thereon, etc.]) applicable to the Building for the relevant calendar year;

(0] depreciation and amortization;

(m) rent and any other expenses paid under ground leases;

(n) leasing commissions, advertising, promotion costs and other fees and expenses, including, without limitation, legal fees, relating to procuring tenants to rent space in the Building;
(0) Landlord’s advertising and promotional costs;

) the costs of restoration of any improvements after a casualty or condemnation;

(q) repairs or maintenance covered by warranties, guarantees or service contracts or for which the costs of which are reimbursed by insurance, government entities, or other tenants, as
applicable;



(r) legal, arbitration and auditing fees (other than reasonable legal and auditing fees incurred in connection with the normal maintenance and operation of the Building) including fees for the
negotiation, enforcement, or disputes arising out of, any sales, financings, syndication of the Building, space leases, and ground leases;

(s) cost to correct any penalty or fine incurred by Landlord due to Landlord’s violation of any federal, state, or local law or regulation and any interest or penalties due for late payment by
Landlord of any of the Building’s Operating Expenses;

®) costs of maintaining the existence of Landlord entity;

(u) work allowances or other funds given to tenants in connection with the leasing of space in the Building;

W) any reserves or sinking funds;

w) the cost of installing any specialty facility, including without limitation a cafeteria, luncheon club, health or recreation club, and compensation for any employees in retail concessions
operated by Landlord;

(x) Landlord’s general overhead expenses not related specifically to the Building, including, without limitation, wages, salaries and overhead associated with employment of personnel outside
the Park;

) cost of sculptures, paintings and other objects of art;

(z) business interruption insurance or rental value insurance;

(aa) expenses for any item or service not provided to Tenant but exclusively to certain other tenants in the Building;
(bb) any additional operating expenses incurred by Landlord relative to any declaration of covenants or restrictions to which the Building may be subject; and

(cc) cost of repairs necessitated by Landlord’s negligence or willful misconduct, or of correcting any latent defects or original design or construction defects in the Building construction,
materials or equipment.

Section 26.4  Building Services Consultations. Landlord agrees, upon request by Tenant, to hold periodic meetings with Tenant (but not more than twice each calendar year) to consult with
Tenant and obtain Tenant’s input and recommendations with respect to any and all services for which Operating Expenses are charged, including, without limitation, the standards and quality of
cleaning services, food service and deli operations at the Building Cafeteria, and Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to implement any such recommendations.

Section 26.5 Treatment of Tax Incentives. Landlord acknowledges and agrees that Tenant is currently pursuing and applying for certain tax and economic incentives from State and local
governmental agencies and various other entities, including, without limitation, the State of Connecticut, the City of Norwalk and various public utility companies, pursuant to certain State and local
government and other tax and economic incentive programs, including, without limitation, such incentives under Connecticut P.A. 97-316 (sales tax credits), the Urban Reinvestment Act, Targeted
Investment Community Act, and Capital Investment Business Tax credits, and credits related to utility company programs, technology enhancement, training and educational grants. Landlord agrees to
reasonably cooperate with Tenant in the pursuit and application of such tax incentives, and in the event Tenant obtains any such incentive, and such reduction results in a monetary benefit to Landlord
(e.g., through a reduction of property taxes payable with respect to the Land or the Building) Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant such that Tenant shall obtain and enjoy the benefit of one hundred
percent (100%) of such incentive to the extent that such incentive is demonstrated or indicated to relate to Tenant’s use, occupancy, or relocation to the Premises, other than to the extent such incentive
is attributable to any expenditure by Landlord in connection with this Lease.

ARTICLE 27

Subordination

Section 27.1 Subordination and Nondisturbance Agreement. This Lease is subject and subordinate in all respects to all mortgages and related assignment of leases and rents which may
now or hereafter be placed on or affect the real Property of which the Premises form a part, or any part or parts of such real Property, and/or Landlord’s interest therein, and to each advance made
and/or hereafter to be made under any such mortgages, and to all increases, amendments, refinancings, renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements and extensions thereof and all
substitutions of and for such mortgages.

The subordination provided for in this Section 27.1 is conditioned upon Landlord and Tenant entering into a Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement with the existing mortgagee (or a
subsequent mortgagee) substantially in form and substance as the attached Exhibit C.

ARTICLE 28

Miscellaneous

Section 28.1 Floor Loads. Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, place a load upon any floor of the Premises exceeding the load which such floor was designed to carry
(which is 100 pounds per square foot) and which is allowed by law. Landlord reserves the right to prescribe the weight and position of all safes which must be placed by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, so
as to distribute the weight. Business machines and mechanical equipment shall be placed and maintained by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, in settings sufficient to absorb and prevent extraordinary
vibration, noise and annoyance. To the extent that Tenant desires to exceed the foregoing floor load, Tenant shall so notify Landlord and shall thereafter at its sole cost and expense reinforce the
specific area to accommodate a greater weight and shall otherwise comply with any special conditions promulgated by Landlord.

Section 28.2  Access to Sheriff. Without incurring liability to Tenant (unless such liability is incurred by Tenant as a result of Landlord’s negligence), Landlord may permit access to the
Premises and open the same, whether or not Tenant shall be present, upon proper demand of any receiver, trustee, assignee for the benefit of creditors, sheriff, marshal or court officer with proper
identification and applicable court order, if any, entitled to such access for the purpose of taking possession of, or removing, Tenant’s Property or for any other lawful purpose, or upon appropriate
demand of any representative of the fire, police, building, sanitation or other department of the city, state or federal governments.

Section 28.3 Default. Tenant shall not be entitled to exercise any right of termination or other option granted to it by this Lease at any time when Tenant, after applicable notice and cure
periods, is in material default in the performance or observance of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions or conditions on its part to be performed or observed under this Lease.

Section 28.4  Binding, This Lease shall not be binding upon Landlord or Tenant unless and until it is signed by Landlord and Tenant, and an original executed document has been delivered to
each party.

Section 28.5 Structural Damage. Tenant acknowledges that irreparable structural damage may be caused to the slabs and the entire integrity of the Building by drilling any holes into such
concrete slabs serving as the floor or ceiling (or roof) of the Premises. Tenant agrees that in no event shall Tenant or its employees, servants, agents, licensees, or any other person in anyway drill into
the floor and ceiling thereof, without having first obtained the prior written approval of Landlord for any such drilling. If the location of the proposed drilling is at structural steel members or steel deck,
Landlord will withhold its consent. If the location of the proposed drilling is between the structural beams, Landlord’s consent will be reasonable.

Section 28.6  Default Rate. If Tenant shall fail to pay, when the same is due and payable, any rent or any additional rent, or any other amount or charge payable by Tenant to Landlord
hereunder, such unpaid amounts shall bear interest from the due date thereof to the date of payment at the annual rate of four percent (4%) over Prime, but in no event shall such rate exceed the
maximum rate permitted by the governing law (the “Default Rate”). Notwithstanding the above, Landlord agrees not to charge Tenant the above interest payment on the first past due payment made
during each lease year during the Term hereof. For purposes hereof, “Prime” means the “prime rate” quoted by the Wall Street Journal for the date on which such unpaid amount was due and payable.

Section 28.7  Attorneys’ Fees. Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event that either party shall bring an action or legal proceeding for an alleged breach of any
provision of this Lease or any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement herein set forth, or to enforce, protect, determine or establish any term, covenant or provision of this Lease or the rights
hereunder of either party, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the non-prevailing party, as a party of such action or proceeding, or in a separate action brought for that purpose,
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, expert witness fees and court costs as may be fixed by the court or jury.



Section 28.8 Consents. Any consent or approval required of a party in this Lease shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. Except as otherwise specified herein, if no
response shall be given to a request for consent or approval within fifteen (15) Business Days after the request (and delivery of all data and information reasonably necessary to make the decision), the
consent or approval shall be deemed given.

ARTICLE 29

Layout and Finish

Section 29.1  Scope of the Tenant Work. Preliminary single-line layout and design control drawings (“Tenant’s Plans™) for the construction and finishing of the Premises shall be approved by
Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Based on Tenant’s Plans, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, utilizing an architect licensed and in
good standing in Connecticut, prepare all architectural, electrical and other construction drawings and specifications containing complete information and dimensions necessary for the initial
construction and finishing of the Premises (“Working Drawings and Specifications”). The Working Drawings and Specifications shall be approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

Section 29.2 Tenant’s Work. In accordance and conformance with Tenant’s Plans and the Working Drawings and Specifications, Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall cause to be
performed and completed, pursuant to the Construction Management Agreement, such specified construction and finishing of the Premises (hereinafter referred to as “Tenant Work.”

Section 29.3 Tenant’s Allowance. Within thirty (30) days after the full execution of this Lease, Landlord shall pay Tenant (Redacted) as a one-time lump sum retrofit work allowance
(“Tenant’s Allowance”) for work in the Premises. The Tenant’s Allowance shall be for Tenant’s unrestricted use; and Tenant shall apply same to hard and soft costs of the Tenant Work, moving costs,
engineering, architectural, design lay-out, professional costs as well as the costs of window treatments, wall and floor coverings, carpeting, furniture and furnishings.

Section 29.4  Additional Tenant Work. In accordance and conformance with the plans and specifications (the “Additional Tenant Work Plans and Specifications”), Tenant, at Tenant’s sole
cost and expense, shall cause to be performed and completed, pursuant to the Construction Management Agreement, such specified construction and finishing to the common areas, shell, facade and
other portions of the Building pursuant to design, plans and specifications mutually agreed upon between Landlord and Tenant (collectively, the “Additional Tenant Work™), provided, however, within
thirty (30) days after the Substantial Completion of the Additional Tenant Work, Landlord shall pay Tenant the lesser of (a) (Redacted) or (b) Fifty Percent (50%) of the aggregate out-of-pocket fees,
costs and expenses anticipated to be incurred by Tenant on account of the Additional Tenant Work (in either case, the “Additional Tenant Allowance”), which Additional Tenant Allowance shall be for
Tenant’s unrestricted use in connection therewith; and Tenant shall apply same to hard and soft costs of the Additional Tenant Work.

Section 29.5 Construction Management Agreement. For purposes of this Lease, the “Construction Management Agreement” shall mean, with respect to the Tenant Work and the Additional
Tenant Work, a construction management agreement to be executed by and between Tenant, and Landlord’s construction manager, ADP Service Corp.

Section 29.6  Telecom and Security Providers. Landlord acknowledges that Tenant shall have the right to directly contract with telecommunication service providers (including, without
limitation, voice and data telecommunication providers) and security system providers (collectively, the “Specialized Service Providers”) to install telecommunication systems (including, without
limitation, voice and data telecommunication systems) and security systems (including, without limitation, access card systems and alarm systems) in the Premises (collectively, the “Specialized
Systems”) and subject to Landlord’s approval of same within the scope of Tenant’s Plans and the Working Drawings and Specifications and otherwise under this Lease, such Specialized Service
Providers and the installation of such Specialized Systems shall be subject to the direct supervision of Tenant and not of Landlord or ADP Service Corp., and shall not be subject to the Construction
Management Agreement (including, without limitation, any construction management fee thereunder with respect to the costs thereof). For the avoidance of doubt, Landlord agrees that Tenant shall
have the right to cause the Specialized Service Providers to install such wiring, cabling, devices, instruments and equipment as may be necessary or required for Tenant’s use and occupancy of the
Premises or in furtherance of Tenant’s business thereon.

ARTICLE 30
Parking

Section 30.1 Parking, Landlord shall keep and maintain in good condition, reasonably free and clear of ice and snow, throughout the Term, common parking areas providing parking spaces in
number not less than one (1) per three hundred (300) rentable square feet of Premises. Landlord shall provide parking at no cost through the Term, including, without limitation, the provision of at least
four (4) parking access cards per one thousand (1,000) rentable square feet of Premises. Parking shall be available within all parking garages in the Park (including, without limitation), in the parking
garages under the buildings currently designated as “Building 101", “Building 201” and “Building 301” within the Park) on a non-exclusive basis to Tenant, its employees, agents and business invitees.
To the extent that Tenant reasonably determines that there is consistently insufficient parking in the parking garages under the Building and the buildings designated as “Building 401” and “Building
501” within the Park, Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant to provide valet parking services for Tenant’s exclusive use in a designated area within the Garage, provided that Tenant shall reimburse
Landlord for its actual out-of-pocket costs in connection therewith. Subject to the foregoing, the use, rules and regulations of parking shall be determined solely by Landlord. Parking for other tenants
of the Building shall be subject to such reasonable rules and regulations as Landlord may promulgate from time to time.

ARTICLE 31

Broker

Section 31.1 Identity; Payment. The parties respectively covenant, warrant and represent that there was no broker instrumental in consummating this Lease, and that no conversations or prior
negotiations were had with any broker concerning the renting of the Premises other than Albert B. Ashforth, Inc., whose commission shall be paid by Landlord pursuant to written agreements between
Landlord and Albert B. Ashforth, Inc. Each party agrees to hold the other party harmless and indemnify the other party from all losses, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses including legal fees
arising out of or in connection with any claims for brokerage commission, other than the aforesaid brokers, arising out of the actions of the indemnifying party.

ARTICLE 32

Holding Over

Section 32.1 Liability. In the event Tenant holds over after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease without the written consent of Landlord, Tenant shall:
(a) pay as liquidated damages, one hundred twenty five (125%) percent of the Net Rent and one hundred twenty five (125%) percent of the additional rent in effect during the last day of the
Term of Lease for each day the tenancy is held over for the first thirty (30) days and pay as liquidated damages, one hundred fifty (150%) percent of the Net Rent and one hundred fifty (150%) percent
of the additional rent in effect during the last day of the Term of Lease for each day the tenancy is held over after thirty (30) days, and

(b) in the event the holdover exceeds ninety (90) days, indemnify and save harmless Landlord from any and all actual and reasonably foreseeable liability, charges, penalties, judgments or claims
arising from any other tenant or prospective tenant to whom Landlord has leased all or any part of the Premises effective upon the expiration or termination of this Lease.

ARTICLE 33
Severability

Section 33.1 Severability. Unless a provision of this Lease goes to a material matter of this transaction and expressly so states to the contrary, if any term or provision of this Lease or the
obligation hereof to any person or circumstances shall, to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances
other than those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each term and provision of this Lease shall be valid and be in force to the fullest extent permitted by
law.

ARTICLE 34



Governing Law
Section 34.1 Governing Law. This Lease shall be governed exclusively by the provisions hereof and by the laws of the State of Connecticut, as the same may, from time to time, exist.
ARTICLE 35
Quiet Enjoyment

Section 35.1 Quiet Enjoyment. Landlord covenants that so long as Tenant is not in default hereof beyond applicable notice and cure periods, Tenant shall quietly enjoy the Property without
hindrance or molestation.

ARTICLE 36

Tenant’s Option to Extend Term

Section 36.1 First Extended Term.

(a) Provided that Tenant is not then in material default under the terms of this Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure periods, or, has not been in default beyond applicable notice, grace
and cure period therefor more than two (2) times in any twelve (12) month period, Tenant may, at Tenant’s option, extend the Term for an additional period of ten (10) years (the “Extended Term”),
commencing on the date following the expiration of the Initial Term, such option to be exercised by Tenant giving notice thereof to Landlord pursuant to Article 11, not later than fifteen (15) months
prior to the expiration of the Initial Term, TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE. If Tenant fails to give said notice as above provided, it shall be deemed without further notice or agreement between the parties
hereto that Tenant elected not to exercise said option. If Tenant timely exercises its option to extend the Term, then if this Lease shall be in full force and effect on the last day of the Initial Term, this
Lease shall be extended for a period of ten (10) years commencing on the date following the expiration of the Initial Term. Except as hereinafter provided, the Extended Term shall be upon all the
covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions of this Lease (except such covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions of this Lease as shall be inapplicable or irrelevant). If
Tenant shall have increased the size of the Premises pursuant to Article 39 herein, the Term may be extended as to the entire Premises or as to the space leased in the Building plus one or more of the
additional spaces leased pursuant to Article 39.

(b) During the Extended Term, the annual Net Rent shall be (Redacted) of the fair rental value of the Premises, as determined pursuant to this Article, but in no event less than (Redacted) per
rentable square foot.

(o) The fair rental value of the Premises to be determined in fixing the rental for the Extended Term, by agreement of the parties, shall be based upon the fair rental value of the Premises as of
the end of the Initial Term as paid by a new tenant who receives no free rent, construction or other inducements. There shall be taken into account all relevant factors, including without limitation the
then current rentals and terms of comparable space in the Park and in comparable buildings in the same rental area, except that consideration shall also be given to any special features of the Building
and other buildings, such as floor sizes, hours of operation of building services; the size, credit quality and stature of Tenant as compared to other tenants; and the loss of Rent in a re-lease period
between tenants. In comparing rents in other buildings, consideration must be given that the Net Rent hereunder is net, and other buildings may be leased on a gross basis.

(d) Landlord shall notify Tenant at least two hundred seventy (270) days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term of Landlord’s determination of fair rental value. If Landlord and Tenant cannot
agree at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term as to the fair rental value, then in such event either party may elect to have such rent determined by appraisal in
the manner set forth in subsection (e) below.

(e) In the event that Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree as to the fair rental value on the effective commencement date of the term applicable thereto, such fair rental value shall be
determined by appraisal as follows:

@) Within five (5) Business Days of the determination that Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree as to the fair rental value (but no event later than one hundred seventy-five (175) days
prior to the expiration of the Initial Term), Tenant shall appoint a disinterested person who is an MAI appraiser with at least ten (10) years’ experience in appraising major office buildings (and their
rental values) in southern Fairfield County as an appraiser on its behalf and shall notify Landlord as to the name of the person so appointed. Within fifteen (15) days after the giving of said notice,
Landlord shall, by notice to Tenant, appoint a second disinterested person possessing like qualifications as the appraiser on its behalf. If the appraisers thus appointed cannot reach agreement on the fair
market annual rental value within thirty (30) days after the appointment of the second appraiser, then the two (2) appraisers thus appointed shall appoint a third disinterested person possessing the
aforesaid qualifications and such third appraiser shall alone determine the question presented within thirty (30) days, provided that if the fair market annual rental value determined by such third
appraiser shall exceed the higher of the annual rental value determinations of the first and second appraisers or shall be less than the lower of such annual rental value determinations, then the
determination of such third appraiser shall be disregarded and the appraisal next closest in amount to such third appraisal shall instead determine said fair rental value.

(ii) Tenant and Landlord shall be entitled to present evidence and arguments to the appraisers(s).

(iii) The appraisers or appraiser, as the case may be, shall be required to give written notice to Tenant and Landlord stating their or his determination, and shall furnish to Tenant and
Landlord a signed copy of such determination, including an appraisal report establishing the factors used in rendering the determination.

(iv) Tenant and Landlord shall pay the costs and expenses of the appraiser appointed by it and one half of the other expenses of the appraisal procedure incurred hereunder.

) In the event that the fair rental value has not been determined as hereinabove provided by the commencement of the Extended Term, then Tenant shall pay the amount it was paying for the
last month of the Initial Term (or the last option term as the case may be), and after the determination of such fair rental value as herein provided, either Landlord or Tenant shall make, within thirty
(30) days after said determination, such payments to Tenant or Landlord, as applicable, as may be required after the new Net Rent is determined, on account of any underpayment or overpayment, as
applicable.

ARTICLE 37

Tenant’s Further Option to Extend Term

Section 37.1 Second Extended Term.

(a) Provided that Tenant is not then in material default under the terms of this Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure periods, or, has not been in default beyond applicable notice, grace
and cure periods therefor more than two (2) times in any twelve (12) months period, Tenant may, at Tenant’s option, extend the Term for an additional period of ten (10) years (the “Further Extended
Term”), commencing on the date following the expiration of the Extended Term, such option to be exercised by Tenant giving notice thereof to Landlord pursuant to Article 11, not later than fifteen
(15) months prior to the expiration of the Extended Term, TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE. If Tenant fails to give said notice as above provided, it shall be deemed without further notice or agreement
between the parties hereto that Tenant elected not to exercise said option. If Tenant timely exercises its option to extend the Term, then if this Lease shall be in full force and effect on the last day of the
Extended Term, this Lease shall be extended for a period of ten (10) years commencing on the date following the expiration of the Extended Term. Except as hereinafter provided, the Further Extended
Term shall be upon all the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions of this Lease (except such covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions of this Lease as shall be
inapplicable or irrelevant). If Tenant shall have increased the size of the Premises pursuant to Article 39 herein, the Term may be extended as to the entire Premises or as to the space leased in the
Building plus one or more of the additional spaces leased pursuant to_Article 39.

(b) During the Further Extended Term, the annual Net Rent shall be 95% of the fair rental value of the Premises as determined pursuant to this Article, but in no event less than the Net Rent
payable during the last year of the Extended Term.

(o) The fair rental value of the Premises to be determined in fixing the rental for the Further Extended Term, by agreement of the parties, shall be based upon the fair rental value of the Premises
as of the end of the Extended Term as paid by a new tenant who receives no free rent, construction or other inducements. There shall be taken into account all relevant factors, including without
limitation the then current rentals and terms of comparable space in the Park and in comparable buildings in the same rental area, except that consideration shall also be given to any special features of
the Building and other buildings, such as floor sizes, hours of operation of building services; the size, credit quality and stature of Tenant as compared to other tenants; and the loss of Rent in a release
period between tenants. In comparing rents in other buildings, consideration must be given that the Net Rent hereunder is net, and other buildings may be leased on a gross basis.



(d) Landlord shall notify Tenant at least two hundred seventy (270) days prior to the expiration of the Extended Term of Landlord’s determination of fair rental. If Landlord and Tenant cannot
agree at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the expiration of the Extended Term as to the fair rental, then in such event either party may elect to have such rent determined by appraisal in the
manner set forth in subsection (e) below.

(e) In the event that Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree as to the fair rental value on the effective commencement date of the term applicable thereto, such fair rental value shall be
determined by appraisal as follows:

(i) Within five (5) Business Days of the determination that Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree as to the fair rental value (but no event later than 175 days prior to the expiration of
the Extended Term), Tenant shall appoint a disinterested person who is an MAI appraiser with at least ten (10) years’ experience in appraising major office buildings (and their rental values) in
southern Fairfield County as an appraiser on its behalf and shall notify Landlord as to the name of the person so appointed. Within fifteen (15) days after the giving of said notice, Landlord shall, by
notice to Tenant, appoint a second disinterested person possessing like qualifications as the appraiser on its behalf. If the appraisers thus appointed cannot reach agreement on the fair market annual
rental value within thirty (30) days after the appointment of the second appraiser, then the two (2) appraisers thus appointed shall appoint a third disinterested person possessing the aforesaid
qualifications and such third appraiser shall alone determine the question presented within thirty (30) days, provided that if the fair market annual rental value determined by such third appraiser shall
exceed the higher of the annual rental value determinations of the first and second appraisers or shall be less than the lower of such annual rental value determinations, then the determination of such
third appraiser shall be disregarded and the appraisal next closest in amount to such third appraisal shall instead determine said fair rental value.

(ii) Tenant and Landlord shall be entitled to present evidence and arguments to the appraisers(s).

(iif) The appraisers or appraiser, as the case may be, shall be required to give written notice to Tenant and Landlord stating their or his determination, and shall furnish to Tenant and
Landlord a signed copy of such determination, including an appraisal report establishing the factors used in rendering the determination.

(iv) Tenant and Landlord shall pay the costs and expenses of the appraiser appointed by it and one half of the other expenses of the appraisal procedure incurred hereunder.
) In the event that the fair rental value has not been determined as hereinabove provided by the commencement of the Further Extended Term, then Tenant shall pay the amount it was paying

for the last month of the Extended Term, and after the determination of such fair rental value as herein provided, either Landlord or Tenant shall make, within thirty (30) days after said determination,
such payments to Tenant or Landlord, as applicable, as may be required after the new Net Rent is determined, on account of any underpayment or overpayment, as applicable.

ARTICLE 38
Tenant’s Exclusivity in Building

Section 38.1 (Redacted)
Section 38.2 Limitations to Exclusivity. The provisions of Section 38.1 shall be effective (a) as to the Building, if Tenant occupies at least 90,000 rentable square feet within the Building, (b)

as to another building, in the Park if Tenant occupies at least 20,000 rentable square feet within such other building, or (c) if Tenant has timely renewed the Initial Term of this Lease pursuant to the
provisions hereof.

ARTICLE 39

Section 39.1 (Redacted)
Section 39.2 (Redacted)
(a) (Redacted)
(b) If Tenant delivers a response under Section 39.2(a) electing to lease the applicable Additional Space and such Additional Space is located in the Building, then the following shall apply:
@) such Additional Space shall be added to and form a part of the Premises with the same force and effect as if originally demised under this Lease;
(ii) the term “Premises” as used in this Lease shall include such Additional Space;

(iii) the Net Rent payable by Tenant for such Additional Space shall be equal to the product of (x) the rentable square footage of such Additional Space multiplied by (y) the Additional
Space Fair Rental Value (as hereinafter defined), calculated on a rentable square foot basis;

(iv) the term under this Lease for such Additional Space shall commence on a date determined by Tenant, which date shall be (x) no sooner than sixty (60) days and no later than (y) one
hundred twenty (120) days after the later of (A) the date of the Additional Space Notice or (B) the date upon which such Additional Space is vacated and delivered to Landlord by the tenant thereof;

V) Tenant’s pro rata share of the Operating Expenses under this Lease shall be increased appropriately to reflect the incorporation of such Additional Space into the Premises;

(vi) Landlord shall install a meter(s) to measure the consumption of electricity in such Additional Space, and, until such time as the meter or meters that measure electricity furnished to
such Additional Space have been installed, Tenant shall pay for electricity at the same rate per rentable square foot of such Additional Space as Tenant is required to pay hereunder;

(vii) within thirty (30) days after the commencement of the term of this Lease with respect to such Additional Space, Landlord shall contribute the Additional Space Contribution (as
hereinafter defined) as a one-time lump sum retrofit work allowance for work in such Additional Space, and which Additional Space Contribution shall be for Tenant’s unrestricted use consistent with
the provisions of Section 29.3 of this Lease, and the Construction Management Agreement shall be modified, mutatis mutandis, to reflect such work as may be proposed to be performed by Tenant in
such Additional Space (subject to the consent and approval of Landlord in accordance with this Lease), provided, however, in the event Landlord’s construction manager is no longer ADP Service
Corp., then Tenant shall have no obligation to use ADP Service Corp. as the construction manager for such work, provided, further, however, Landlord’s construction manager at such time shall have
the right to submit a bid to furnish construction management services to Tenant with respect to such work; and

(viii) Landlord and Tenant agree to enter into such amendments or modifications of this Lease to evidence and memorialize such changes as may be necessary or required to effectuate
the foregoing provisions of this Section 39.2(b).

(0) If Tenant delivers a response under Section 39.2(a) electing to lease the applicable Additional Space and such Additional Space is located in an Other Building, then the following shall apply:
(i) Landlord and Tenant shall enter into a new lease (each, a “New Lease”) for such Additional Space on the same terms and conditions set forth in this Lease, subject to the other
provisions of this Section 39.2(c) and such changes as may be necessary or required to reflect the location of such Additional Space in such Other Building (provided, however, if there is already an
existing lease between Landlord and Tenant in such Other Building, then Landlord and Tenant shall modify such existing lease to include such Additional Space in such existing lease in a manner
consistent with the intent of the provisions of this Section 39.2(c));

(ii) the “Premises” under the New Lease shall be deemed to mean such Additional Space;

(iii) the “Net Rent” payable by Tenant for such Additional Space shall be equal to the product of (x) the rentable square footage of such Additional Space multiplied by (y) the Additional
Space Fair Rental Value, calculated on a rentable square foot basis;

(iv) the term under the New Lease for such Additional Space shall commence on a date determined by Tenant, which date shall be (x) no sooner than sixty (60) days and no later than (y)
one hundred twenty (120) days after the later of (A) the date of the Additional Space Notice or (B) the date upon which such Additional Space is vacated and delivered to Landlord by the tenant

thereof;

W) the term under the New Lease shall be co-terminus with this Lease, subject to Tenant’s rights of extension thereunder;



(vi) Tenant shall be liable for the payment of its pro rata share of the operating expenses for such Other Building, calculated based upon the ratio of rentable square footage of such
Additional Space to the total rentable square footage in such Other Building

(vii) Landlord shall install a meter(s) to measure the consumption of electricity in such Additional Space, and, until such time as the meter or meters that measure electricity furnished to
such Additional Space have been installed, Tenant shall pay for electricity at the same rate per rentable square foot of such Additional Space as Tenant is required to pay hereunder;

(viii) within thirty (30) days after the commencement of the term of the New Lease with respect to such Additional Space, Landlord shall contribute the Additional Space Contribution as
a one-time lump sum retrofit work allowance for work in such Additional Space, and which Additional Space Contribution shall be for Tenant’s unrestricted use consistent with the provisions of
Section 29.3 of this Lease (as incorporated into the New Lease), and the Construction Management Agreement shall be modified, mutatis mutandis, to reflect such work as may be proposed to be
performed by Tenant in such Additional Space (subject to the consent and approval of Landlord in accordance with the New Lease), provided, however, in the event Landlord’s construction manager is
no longer ADP Service Corp., then Tenant shall have no obligation to use ADP Service Corp. as the construction manager for such work, provided, further, however, Landlord’s construction manager
at such time shall have the right to submit a bid to furnish construction management services to Tenant with respect to such work; and

(ix) Sections 1.5, 1.6, 1.9, 15.2, 29.4, 43.2 and 43.3, and Articles 39, 41, 45, and 47 of this Lease shall not be incorporated in the New Lease (and the other provisions of the New Lease

shall be modified, interpreted or construed as if such provisions were excluded therefrom).
Section 39.3  Additional Space Notices. (Redacted)
(a)(b)(i)-(vi) (Redacted)

(vii) Tenant shall be liable for the payment of its pro rata share of the operating expenses calculated based upon the ratio of rentable square footage of such Additional Space to the total
rentable square footage of the building in which such Additional Space is located;

(viii) Landlord shall install a meter(s) to measure the consumption of electricity in such Additional Space, and, until such time as the meter or meters that measure electricity furnished to
such Additional Space have been installed, Tenant shall pay for electricity at the same rate per rentable square foot of such Additional Space as Tenant is required to pay hereunder; and

(ix) Sections 1.5, 1.6, 1.9, 15.2, 43.2 and 43.3, and Articles 29, 39, 41, 45, and 47 of this Lease shall not be incorporated in the New Recapture Lease (and the other provisions of the New

Recapture Lease shall be modified, interpreted or construed as if such provisions were excluded therefrom).

Section 39.4 Landlord’s Right to I.ease Additional Space. If Tenant elects (or is deemed to have elected) not to lease any Additional Space pursuant to Sections 39.2 or 39.3, as applicable,
then Landlord shall have the right to offer such Additional Space for lease to prospective tenants, subject to the right of Tenant set forth in Section 39.7 of this Lease.

Section 39.5 Failure of L.andlord to Deliver Possession of Additional Space. If Landlord is unable to give possession of any Additional Space because of the holding over or retention of
possession of any tenant, undertenant or occupant or for any other reason whatsoever, including without limitation, that any construction being performed in the Building or Other Building, as
applicable, has not been sufficiently completed such that Tenant’s access, use or occupancy of such Additional Space shall be adversely affected or otherwise impaired, the validity of this Lease shall
not be impaired under such circumstances, nor shall the same be construed in any way to extend the Term, but the rent (including, without limitation, additional rent) payable hereunder for the
Additional Space shall be abated (provided Tenant is not responsible for the inability to obtain possession) until Landlord is able to deliver possession of the Additional Space to Tenant. Landlord shall
use all commercially reasonable efforts to dispossess any such tenant, undertenant or other occupant, including, without limitation, commencing and diligently prosecuting an eviction proceeding.

Section 39.6  Condition of Additional Space. Landlord shall deliver each Additional Space which Tenant has elected to lease hereunder in a “base building” configuration, broom clean and in
good order and condition (reasonable wear and tear excepted) unless Tenant elects to accept the Additional Space in its then “as is” condition (which election shall be in Tenant’s response to the
applicable Additional Space Notice), provided, however, any Additional Space delivered hereunder in connection with a New Recapture Lease shall be delivered in its then “as is” condition.

Section 39.7 Revival of Offer Rights. If Tenant elects not to lease any Additional Space pursuant to Sections 39.2 or 39.3 of this Lease, as applicable, and Landlord then proposes to enter into
a lease (each, an “Additional Space Third Party Lease”) with a third party for such Additional Space at a base rental rate that is ninety percent (90%) or less than Landlord’s proposal of the Additional
Space Fair Rental Value (calculated on a rentable square foot basis) set forth in the applicable Additional Space Notice for such Additional Space pursuant to this Section 39, Landlord shall deliver
written notice thereof to Tenant, and within ten (10) days after receipt of such notice from Landlord, Tenant shall deliver a written response (TIME OF THE ESSENCE) to Landlord stating either that
(a) Tenant elects to lease such Additional Space from Landlord at such rental rate as is proposed in such Additional Space Third Party Lease, but otherwise consistent with the provisions of Section
39.2 or 39.3, as applicable, or (b) Tenant elects not to lease such Additional Space from Landlord pursuant to the proposed terms, conditions and provisions of such Additional Space Third Party Lease
(it being agreed that in the event Tenant fails to deliver any such response by the expiration of such ten (10) day period, Tenant shall be deemed to have waived its right of second offer with respect to
such Additional Space hereunder).

Section 39.8  Certain Definitions.
(a) For purposes of this Lease any Additional Space shall be deemed to be “Available for Lease” in the event any of the following shall occur with respect to such Additional Space:

(i) any then existing lease expires or is terminated in accordance with its terms (it being agreed that, other than pursuant to an express right of extension in favor of a tenant set forth in
any such existing lease as of the date hereof or in any lease entered into by Landlord and a tenant after the date hereof, Landlord shall not enter into any amendments or modifications of any such leases
providing for renewals of such leases, extend any such lease or enter into any agreement extending any such lease, other than with respect to the Financial Accounting Standards Board lease in
Building 401); or

(ii) the tenant under an existing lease for such Additional Space and Landlord enter into a termination, surrender or relocation agreement for such Additional Space; or

(iii) Landlord has a right of recapture (each, a “Right of Recapture”) with respect to any existing lease (each a “Original Recapture Lease”) for such Additional Space and the tenant
thereunder has noticed Landlord in writing of its offer to Landlord to exercise such Right of Recapture.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, spaces within an Other Building of less than 20,000 contiguous rentable square feet in area shall, regardless of whether any of clauses (i) through (iii) above shall be
applicable, shall not be deemed Available for Lease, provided, however, if multiple spaces of less than 20,000 rentable square feet in area each shall (or are reasonably anticipated to) become Available
for Lease pursuant to any of clauses (i) through (iii) above within a ninety (90) day period, and such multiple spaces are contiguous with each other and in the aggregate constitute 20,000 or more
rentable square feet in area, then such multiple spaces shall, in the aggregate, be deemed to constitute Additional Space that is Available for Lease hereunder. If any multiple spaces becomes Available
for Lease pursuant to the foregoing, Tenant shall be obligated to deliver a response to the applicable Additional Space Notices for all such multiple spaces or none of them. Spaces of any area within
the Building shall be deemed Available for Lease in the event any of clauses (i) through (iii) above shall be applicable.

(b) For purposes of this Lease, the “Additional Space Fair Rental Value” for any Additional Space with respect to the applicable lease term for such Additional Space shall mean an amount
equal to ninety-five percent (95%) of the fair rental value of the Premises (either for the entire period of such term or for the period between the Original Recapture Lease Expiration Date and the
balance of such term, whichever is applicable) as of the commencement of the applicable commencement date for the term of such Additional Space, as paid by a new tenant who receives no free rent,
construction or other inducements. There shall be taken into account all relevant factors, including without limitation the then current rentals and terms of comparable space in the Park and in
comparable buildings in the same rental area, except that consideration shall also be given to any special features of the Building, Other Building, and other buildings, such as floor sizes, hours of
operation of building services; the size, credit quality and stature of Tenant as compared to other tenants; and the loss of rent in a re-lease period between tenants. In comparing rents in other buildings,
consideration must be given that the Net Rent hereunder is net, and other buildings may be leased on a gross basis. Tenant and Landlord must mutually agree upon Landlord’s determination of fair
rental value, and if Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree as to the fair rental value on the Additional Space by the commencement date for the term of such Additional Space (or if Tenant is
exercising its rights pursuant to Section 39.2 of this Lease, on or prior to the date Landlord delivers its notice to Tenant pursuant to the provisions thereof), such fair rental value shall be determined by
an appraisal process substantially similar to the process set forth in Section 36.1(e) of this Lease, and in the event Tenant leases such Additional Space, Tenant shall, until such determination of the
Additional Space Fair Rental Value, pay rent on the basis of the fair rental value set forth in the applicable Additional Space Notice. In the event that the Additional Space Fair Rental Value has not
been determined by the commencement of the term of the applicable Additional Space, then Tenant shall pay the amount estimated by Landlord for such Additional Space Fair Rental Value in the
applicable Additional Space Notice, and after the determination of such Additional Space Fair Rental Value as herein provided, either Landlord or Tenant shall make, within thirty (30) days after said
determination, such payments to Tenant or Landlord, as applicable, as may be required after the new Additional Space Fair Rental Value is determined, on account of any underpayment or
overpayment, as applicable.

(o) For purposes of this Lease, the “Additional Space Contribution” shall mean, with respect to any Additional Space, an amount equal to the product of (i) the rentable square footage of such
Additional Space and (ii) Forty-Eight and XX/100 Dollars ($48.00), and (iii) a fraction, (x) the numerator of which is the number of remaining months in the Initial Term (as same may be extended
pursuant to the provisions of this Lease), denominated in months (each partial month of less than 15 days being disregarded, and each partial month of more than 15 days being deemed a whole month)
and (y) the denominator of which is one hundred eighty (180). For the avoidance of doubt, no Additional Space Contribution shall be applicable to any Additional Space leased pursuant to a New
Recapture Lease.



Section 39.9 Additional Space Notices. Each Additional Space Notice shall set forth the following information:
(a) A description of the applicable Additional Space, including, without limitation, the rentable square footage and location thereof.
(b) The date on which such Additional Space shall be (or is anticipated to be) vacated by the existing tenant thereof.
(o) The basis on which such Additional Space has become Available for Lease.

(d) If such Additional Space (i) has become Available for Lease other than pursuant to a Right of Recapture, or (ii) has become Available for Lease pursuant to a Right of Recapture, but the
lease term of such Additional Space expires on a date later than the Original Recapture Lease Expiration Date, then Landlord shall include in the Additional Space Notice Landlord’s proposal of the
Additional Space Fair Rental Value for such Additional Space for the applicable term.

(e) If such Additional Space has become Available for Lease pursuant to a Right of Recapture, Landlord shall also state the rents payable under such Original Recapture Lease, the Term
(including any extensions thereof) with respect to such Original Recapture Lease, and the date on which the Right of Recapture shall expire, and furnish Tenant with a copy of such Original Recapture
Lease, with confidential information and, at Landlord’s option, the name of the tenant, redacted.

Each Additional Space Notice (i) may be given up to twelve (12) months prior to the expiration of a lease for the applicable Additional Space, (ii) may be given up to sixty (60) days after the
termination of such lease by agreement or by reason of such tenant’s default, and (iii) shall be given at least fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the expiration of any Right of Recapture with respect to
such lease.

Section 39.10 Termination of Rights Upon Contraction. Tenant hereby agrees that if Tenant exercises its right of contraction pursuant to Article 41, Tenant’s rights to lease Additional Space
under this Article 39 shall terminate and be without further force or effect.

ARTICLE 40

Antenna/Satellite Dish Installation

Section 40.1  Tenant’s Rights; Procedures. During the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall have the right, for the use of Tenant and its Affiliates only, to use a portion of the roof of the Building
for the installation of antennas, satellite dishes and the like (collectively, the “Antennas”) and cabling and other related equipment as is reasonably necessary to operate the Antennas (the “Site
Equipment”) at no additional rent to Tenant. Prior to installing the Antennas and the Site Equipment, Tenant shall submit to Landlord detailed plans and specifications for the Antennas and the Site
Equipment and shall have obtained Landlord’s prior written consent. The style, color, materials, exact location and method of installation of the Antennas and the Site Equipment shall be mutually
agreed upon by Landlord and Tenant. At the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease or upon termination of the operation of the Antennas, the Antennas and the Site Equipment and all cabling
and other equipment relating thereto shall be removed from the Building and the area where the Antennas and the Site Equipment were located shall be restored to its condition existing prior to such
installation, ordinary wear and tear excepted. Landlord will not allow the installation of any future communications equipment (“Future Equipment”) by any future tenant or licensee (“Subsequent
User”) which will result in interference problems with the Antennas and the Site Equipment or which, in Tenant’s reasonable discretion, will adversely affect the aesthetics of the roofline. For purposes
of this Section, the term “interference” shall mean any material degradation in the system performance of the Antennas and/or the Site Equipment. In the event of any interference to the Antennas
and/or the Site Equipment by any such Future Equipment, Landlord, upon written notice from Tenant, shall require the Subsequent User to cease and/or correct such interference. The installation of the
Antennas and Site Equipment is subject to Tenant obtaining any and all governmental approvals as may be required.

Notwithstanding anything set forth in the above paragraph, Tenant shall have the right, upon sixty (60) days notice to Landlord, to remove the Antennas.

Section 40.2  Third Party Rights. Landlord shall have the right to enter into agreements with third party providers or other tenants in the Building for satellite dish and/or antenna service on
the roof of the Building, provided same do not interfere with Tenant’s use or adversely affect the aesthetics of the roofline, as set forth in Section 40.1 hereof.

ARTICLE 41

One-Time Contraction Right

Section 41.1 One-Time Contraction Right. Tenant shall have the one-time option to decrease the initial space covered by this Lease by up to 25,000 contiguous rentable square feet of space
(“Surrendered Space”) at the fifth (5“‘) year anniversary of the Term Commencement Date. Such option to decrease the square footage of the Premises may be exercised upon not less than twelve (12)
months prior written notice to Landlord. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective downsizing date, a sum equal to the unamortized (on a straight-line basis over fifteen
(15) years) portion of the sum paid by Landlord for the Tenant Allowance and broker commissions as to the Surrendered Space. Landlord and Tenant shall execute a lease amendment confirming the
downsizing of the Premises and the release of the Surrendered Space and modifying any and all terms of the Lease as may be required in that regard.

ARTICLE 42

Stairwells

Section 42.1 Use By Tenant. Tenant, subject to and only in accordance with the terms hereof, shall have the right to use the stairwells and stairs located between such floors of the Building on
which portion of the Premises are located (collectively, “Fire Stairwells”). Tenant also shall have the right to modify the entrances and exits leading from the Fire Stairwells into the interior floor area
of the Premises (and common area corridors if permitted by law provided the appearance thereof is not altered and entrance to the stairwell is not restricted) by installing a card access or comparable
system in the doorway leading from the Fire Stairwells to each interior space of the Premises (and common area corridors if permitted by law provided the appearance thereof is not altered and
entrance to the stairwell is not restricted). In addition if permitted by applicable law, Landlord, at Tenant’s expense, shall modify the Building freight elevator to restrict access to the Premises from
such elevator without proper authorization code or keycard, if possible.

ARTICLE 43

Section 43.1  (Redacted)
Section 43.2  (Redacted)

Section 43.3 Reduction of Occupancy. In the event Tenant fails to occupy at least 90,000 rentable square feet in the Building, due to subletting or otherwise, Landlord, at its option, shall
notify Tenant of Landlord’s election to cause Tenant to remove any signage as may have been installed in accordance with the provisions of this Article 43. Tenant shall remove such signage within
thirty (30) days of said notice from Landlord.

Section 43.4  Applicable Requirements. Tenant, in connection with the installation and maintenance of the signage expressly permitted by this Article, shall perform all work in connection
therewith in a good and workmanlike manner, in accordance with all applicable Requirements (and in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.1(e) hereof), and in a manner so as not to interfere
with the rights of the other tenants of the Building. Tenant immediately shall repair any damage to the Building or any improvements therein occasioned by Tenant’s installation and maintenance of its
signs. Tenant hereby indemnifies, holds harmless and agrees to defend Landlord from and against any and all claims, causes of action, losses, costs, expenses, including attorneys’ fees, damages and
other liabilities which arise by, through or in connection with the exercise of the rights granted Tenant pursuant to this Article.

ARTICLE 44

Arbitration



Section 44.1 Procedures. The parties hereto shall not be deemed to have agreed to determination of any dispute arising out of this Lease by arbitration unless determination in such manner
shall have been specifically and unequivocally provided for in this Lease. Any arbitration shall be conducted under the commercial rules (or the construction industry rules, as appropriate) of the
American Arbitration Association then pertaining in the City of Norwalk; provided, however, such arbitration shall be conducted by a sole arbitrator, sitting on successive days, who shall determine the
allocation of costs of such arbitration proceeding. The prevailing party shall also be entitled to interest on the amount of the award, if any, at the Default Rate. Landlord and Tenant shall, during the
pendency of any such arbitration proceeding, continue to perform their obligations hereunder, including without limitation, with respect to Tenant, the payment of all items of Rent.

ARTICLE 45
Building Cafeteria
Section 45.1 (Redacted)
ARTICLE 46

Equitable Access to Amenities

Section 46.1 Equitable Access to Amenities. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, in the event, during the Term, Landlord provides any non-monetary amenity to any
other tenant in the Park that may reasonably be provided to another tenant in the Park, Landlord shall likewise offer to provide such non-monetary amenity to Tenant on the same terms and conditions
as such non-monetary amenity may be provided to such other tenant, provided, however, in the event Tenant is required to pay or reimburse Landlord for the provision of such non-monetary amenity,
then Tenant shall have the right to either accept or not accept such non-monetary amenity.

ARTICLE 47

Vista/Aesthetic Consultation

Section 47.1 (Redacted)

[signatures on next page]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have duly executed this Lease as of the day and year first above written.

MERRITT 7 VENTURE L.L.C.

By: _/s/ _John P. Crosby
John P. Crosby

By: _/s/ Sara B. Queen
Sara B. Queen
FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS, INC.

By: _/s/ Philip A. Hadley
Philip A. Hadley

STATE OF CONNECTICUT)
) ss:
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )

On this 16th day of December, 2003, before me, personally appeared John P. Crosby who acknowledged himself to be a Member of the Executive Committee of MERRITT 7 VENTURE L.L.C,, a
Delaware limited liability company, and that he as such Member of the Executive Committee being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained, by signing
the name of the company by himself as a Member of the Executive Committee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

/s/ Robin A. Zabravez
Robin A. Zabravez, Notary Public
My commission expires: 10/3/07

STATE OF NEW YORK )
) ss:
COUNTY OF QUEENS )

On this 16th day of December, 2003, before me, personally appeared Sara B. Queen who acknowledged herself to be a Member of the Executive Committee of MERRITT 7 VENTURE L.L.C., a
Delaware limited liability company, and that she as such Member of the Executive Committee being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained, by
signing the name of the company by herself as a Member of the Executive Committee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.
/s/ Anna M. Messineo

Anna M. Messineo, Notary Public
My commission expires: 11/3/07

STATE OF CONNECTICUT)
) ss:
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )



On this 15th day of December, 2003, before me, personally appeared Philip A. Hadley who acknowledged himself to be the CEO of FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS, INC., a corporation, and
that he as such CEO being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained, by signing the name of the corporation by himself as CEO.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

/s/ Wendy Boccuzzi
Wendy Boccuzzi, Notary Public
My commission expires: 1/31/06

A-1

EXHIBIT A

FLOOR PLANS

[see attached]

B-1
EXHIBIT B

DESCRIPTION OF LAND

All those certain pieces, parcels or tracts of land, together with the buildings and improvements thereon, situated in the City of Norwalk, County of Fairfield and State of Connecticut and more
particularly bounded and described as follows:

PARCEL 601

Beginning at a point on the easterly side of land now or formerly of Metro North at its intersection with the northerly line of land now or formerly of Merritt River Partners, Inc.; thence, running along
said Metro North N 02° 42’ 00” E a distance of 348.64 feet to the southerly side of land of Merritt 7 Venture LLC said land also known as 501 Merritt 7; thence, running along said 501 Merritt 7 S 87°
18’ 00” E a distance of 289.74 feet to the westerly side of Main Avenue (CT Route 719); thence, generally southerly along said Main Avenue the following courses: S 03° 19’ 56” W a distance of
78.33 feet; along a tangent anti-clockwise curve the radius of which is 1,625.00 feet and the central angle of which is 06° 23” 42” for an arc distance of 181.38 feet; N 86° 56’ 13” E a distance of 15.55
feet; S 01° 58’ 52” E a distance of 127.17 feet; S 88° 04’ 20” W a distance of 11.13 feet; and, S 01° 55’ 40” E a distance of 208.61 feet to the aforesaid land now or formerly of Merritt River Partners,
Inc.; thence along said Merritt River Partners, Inc. the following courses: S 88° 06 07” W a distance of 123.33 feet; N 00° 40" 45” E a distance of 72.11 feet; N 12°19” 19” W a distance of 9.32 feet; N
01° 29’ 15“E a distance of 60.47 feet; N 04° 20’ 16” W a distance of 40.59 feet; N 14° 26° 38” W a distance of 68.15 feet; N 11° 39’ 33” W a distance of 10.62 feet; and, N 88° 08’ 46” W a distance of
171.73 feet to the point of beginning.

Together with the easement rights set forth in a Reciprocal Easement Agreement dated February 23, 1983 between Fairfield Investors, Inc. and First Merritt Seven Corp. recorded in Volume 1461 at
Page 261 of the Norwalk Land Records.

Together with the easement rights set forth in a deed from First Merritt Seven Corp. to Fairfield Investors, Inc. dated December 17, 1981 and recorded in Volume 1387 at Page 69 of the Norwalk Land
Records.

Parcel Tax I.D. #5-37-33-0

EXHIBIT C

FORM OF SNDA

WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:

The Northwestern Mutual Life Ins. Co. — Law Department720
East Wisconsin Ave. — Room N16WC

Milwaukee, WI 53202Attn:
Frederick Bessette, Esq.

Loan No. C-332747

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE




NON-DISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into as of , 20 , between

(“Tenant”), (“Borrower”), and THE NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, a Wisconsin corporation (“Lender”), whose address for notices is 720 East Wisconsin Avenue,
Milwaukee, WI 53202, Attention: Real Estate Investment Department, Reference Loan No. C-332747.

RECITALS
A. Tenant is the lessee or successor to the lessee, and Borrower is the lessor or successor to the lessor under a certain lease dated , 20_(the “Lease”).
B. Lender has made, or will make, a mortgage loan to be secured by a mortgage, deed to secure a debt or deed of trust from Borrower for the benefit of Lender (as it may be amended, restated or

otherwise modified from time to time, the “Lien Instrument”) encumbering the fee title to and/or leasehold interest in the land described in Exhibit A attached hereto and the improvements thereon
(collectively, the “Property”), wherein the premises covered by the Lease (the “Demised Premises”) are located.

C. Borrower and Lender have executed, or will execute, an Absolute Assignment of Leases and Rents (the “Absolute Assignment”), pursuant to which (i) the Lease is assigned to Lender and (ii)
Lender grants a license back to Borrower permitting Borrower to collect all rents, income and other sums payable under the Lease until the revocation by Lender of such license, at which time all rents,
income and other sums payable under the Lease are to be paid to Lender.

D. Tenant acknowledges that, as its consideration for entering into this Agreement, Tenant will benefit by entering into an agreement with Lender concerning Tenant’s relationship with any
purchaser or transferee of the Property (including Lender) in the event of foreclosure of the Lien Instrument or a transfer of the Property by deed in lieu of foreclosure (any such purchaser or transferee
and each of their respective successors or assigns is hereinafter referred to as “Successor Landlord”).

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, Tenant, Borrower and Lender agree as follows:

1. Tenant and Borrower agree for the benefit of Lender that:
(@ Tenant shall not pay, and Borrower shall not accept, any rent or additional rent more than one month in advance.
(b) Tenant will not terminate the Lease because of a default thereunder by Borrower unless Tenant shall have first given Lender written notice of such default and the period of time

within which Lender shall have the right (but not the obligation) to cure such default shall have expired, which period of time shall be ten (10) days after receipt by Lender of such
notice of default with respect to any default capable of being cured by the payment of money and thirty (30) days after receipt by Lender of such notice of default in respect to any
other default (provided, that in the case of any default which cannot be cured by the payment of money and cannot with diligence be cured within such 30-day period because of the
nature of such default or because Lender requires time to obtain possession of the Demised Premises in order to cure the default, if Lender shall proceed promptly to attempt to obtain
possession of the Demised Premises, where possession is required, and to cure the same and thereafter shall prosecute the curing of such default with diligence and continuity, then
the time within which such default may be cured shall be extended for such period as may be necessary to complete the curing of the same with diligence and continuity).

(o) Tenant, upon receipt of notice from Lender that it has exercised its rights under the Absolute Assignment and revoked the license granted to Borrower to collect all rents, income and
other sums payable under the Lease, shall pay to Lender all rent and other payments then or thereafter due under the Lease, and any such payments to Lender shall be credited against
the rent or other obligations due under the Lease as if made to Borrower.

(d) Tenant will not conduct any dry cleaning operations on the Demised Premises using chlorinated solvents nor will Tenant use any chlorinated solvents in the operation of their
business on the Demised Premises other than any chlorinated solvents found in common office supplies and common cleaning supplies.

2. The Lease is hereby subordinated in all respects to the Lien Instrument and to all renewals, modifications and extensions thereof, subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set
forth in this Agreement, but Tenant waives, to the fullest extent it may lawfully do so, the provisions of any statute or rule of law now or hereafter in effect that may give or purport to
give it any right or election to terminate or otherwise adversely affect the Lease or the obligations of Tenant thereunder by reason of any foreclosure proceeding.

3. Borrower, Tenant and Lender agree that, unless Lender shall otherwise consent in writing, the fee title to, or any leasehold interest in, the Property and the leasehold estate created by
the Lease shall not merge but shall remain separate and distinct, notwithstanding the union of said estates either in Borrower or Tenant or any third party by purchase, assignment or
otherwise.

4. If the interests of Borrower in the Property are acquired by a Successor Landlord:

(a If Tenant shall not then be in default in the payment of rent or other sums due under the Lease beyond any applicable notice, grace or cure periods or be otherwise in material default

under the Lease beyond any applicable notice, grace or cure periods, the Lease shall not terminate or be terminated and the rights of Tenant thereunder shall continue in full force and
effect except as provided in this Agreement;

(b) Tenant agrees to attorn to Successor Landlord as its lessor; Tenant shall be bound under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease for the balance of the Term thereof,
including any renewal options which are exercised in accordance with the terms of the Lease;

(c) The interests so acquired shall not merge with any other interests of Successor Landlord in the Property if such merger would result in the termination of the Lease;

(d) If, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the acquisition by Successor Landlord of the interests of Borrower in the Property results, in whole or part, in the
termination of the Lease, there shall be deemed to have been created a lease between Successor Landlord and Tenant on the same terms and conditions as the Lease for the remainder
of the Term of the Lease, with renewal options, if any; and

(e) Successor Landlord shall be bound to Tenant under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease, and Tenant shall, from and after Successor Landlord’s acquisition of the
interests of Borrower in the real estate, have the same remedies against Successor Landlord for the breach of the Lease that Tenant would have had under the Lease against Borrower
if the Successor Landlord had not succeeded to the interests of Borrower; provided, however, that Successor Landlord shall not be:

@) Liable for the breach of any representations or warranties set forth in the Lease or for any act, omission or obligation of any landlord (including Borrower) or any other party
occurring or accruing prior to the date of Successor Landlord’s acquisition of the interests of Borrower in the Demised Premises, except for any repair and maintenance

obligations of a continuing nature as of the date of such acquisition;

(ii) Subject to any offsets or defenses which Tenant might have against any landlord (including Borrower) prior to the date of Successor Landlord’s acquisition of the interests of
Borrower in the Demised Premises;

(iii) Liable for the return of any security deposit under the Lease unless such security deposit shall have been actually deposited with Successor Landlord;

(iv) Bound to Tenant for any matter first arising or occurring subsequent to the date upon which Successor Landlord transfers its interest in the Demised Premises to any third party
and the Lease is assumed by such third-party;

W) Liable for any damages in excess of Successor Landlord’s equity in the Property;

(vi) Bound by any agreement for the cancellation of the Lease or the surrender of the Demised Premises unless Lender gave its prior written consent to such agreement or unless
such agreement is specifically provided for in the Lease; or



(vii) Bound by any agreement amending or modifying the Lease unless Lender gave its prior written consent to such amendment or modification or unless such amendment or
modification is specifically contemplated in the Lease for confirming the lease commencement date, the rent commencement date, the term, the square footage leased, the
renewal or extension of the Lease, or the leasing of additional space at the Property. If requested, any proposed amendment or modification to the Lease shall be reviewed and
approved by Lender, as applicable, in accordance with the Absolute Assignment.

The provisions of this paragraph shall be effective and self-operative immediately upon Successor Landlord succeeding to the interests of Borrower without the execution of any other instrument.

5. This Agreement may not be modified orally or in any other manner except by an agreement in writing signed by the parties hereto or their respective successors in interest. In the event of any
conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Lease, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto,
their respective heirs, successors and assigns, and shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any renewal, extension, increase, or refinance of the indebtedness secured by the Lien Instrument,

without further confirmation. Upon recorded satisfaction of the Lien Instrument, this Agreement shall become null and void and be of no further effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

TENANT:

By:

Attest:

Secretary

BORROWER: MERRITT 7 VENTURE L.L.C.

By:

Sara B. Queen

By:

John P. Crosby

LENDER: THE NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE
INSURANCE COMPANY, a Wisconsin

corporation
By:
, Managing Director
Attest:
, Assistant Secretary
STATE OF )
) ss:
COUNTY OF)
On this day of , 20___, before me, personally appeared who acknowledged himself to be the of a
and that he as such being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained, by signing the name of the by himself as

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

Notary Public
My commission expires:

STATE OF NEW YORK )
) ss:
COUNTY OF )
On this day of , 20___, before me, personally appeared Sara B. Queen who acknowledged herself to be a Member of the Executive Committee of MERRITT 7 VENTURE

L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, and that she as such Member of the Executive Committee being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained,
by signing the name of the company by herself as a Member of the Executive Committee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

Notary Public
My commission expires:



STATE OF CONNECTICUT)
) ss:
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD )

On this day of , 20___, before me, personally appeared John P. Crosby who acknowledged himself to be a Member of the Executive Committee of MERRITT 7 VENTURE
L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, and that he as such Member of the Executive Committee being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained,
by signing the name of the company by himself as a Member of the Executive Committee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

Notary Public
My commission expires:

STATE OF WISCONSIN)
) ss:
COUNTY OF )

On this day of ,20___, before me, personally appeared who acknowledged himself to be the Managing Director of NORTHWESTERN
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of THE NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, a
Wisconsin corporation, and that he as such Managing Director being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained, by signing the name of the company by
himself as Managing Director.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

Notary Public
My commission expires:

EXHIBIT A

All those certain pieces, parcels or tracts of land, together with the buildings and improvements thereon, situated in the City of Norwalk, County of Fairfield and State of Connecticut and more
particularly bounded and described as follows:

PARCEL 601

Beginning at a point on the easterly side of land now or formerly of Metro North at its intersection with the northerly line of land now or formerly of Merritt River Partners, Inc.; thence, running along
said Metro North N 02° 42’ 00” E a distance of 348.64 feet to the southerly side of land of Merritt 7 Venture LLC said land also known as 501 Merritt 7; thence, running along said 501 Merritt 7 S 87°
18’ 00” E a distance of 289.74 feet to the westerly side of Main Avenue (CT Route 719); thence, generally southerly along said Main Avenue the following courses: S 03° 19’ 56” W a distance of
78.33 feet; along a tangent anti-clockwise curve the radius of which is 1,625.00 feet and the central angle of which is 06° 23’ 42” for an arc distance of 181.38 feet; N 86° 56° 13” E a distance of 15.55
feet; S 01° 58’ 52” E a distance of 127.17 feet; S 88° 04’ 20” W a distance of 11.13 feet; and, S 01° 55’ 40” E a distance of 208.61 feet to the aforesaid land now or formerly of Merritt River Partners,
Inc.; thence along said Merritt River Partners, Inc. the following courses: S 88° 06’ 07” W a distance of 123.33 feet; N 00° 40’ 45” E a distance of 72.11 feet; N 12°19’ 19” W a distance of 9.32 feet; N
01° 29’ 15“E a distance of 60.47 feet; N 04° 20’ 16” W a distance of 40.59 feet; N 14° 26’ 38” W a distance of 68.15 feet; N 11° 39’ 33” W a distance of 10.62 feet; and, N 88° 08’ 46” W a distance of
171.73 feet to the point of beginning.

Together with the easement rights set forth in a Reciprocal Easement Agreement dated February 23, 1983 between Fairfield Investors, Inc. and First Merritt Seven Corp. recorded in Volume 1461 at
Page 261 of the Norwalk Land Records.

Together with the easement rights set forth in a deed from First Merritt Seven Corp. to Fairfield Investors, Inc. dated December 17, 1981 and recorded in Volume 1387 at Page 69 of the Norwalk Land
Records.

Parcel Tax I.D. #5-37-33-0

EXHIBIT D

RULES AND REGULATIONS

To the extent the provisions of these Rules and Regulations conflict with the provisions of the Lease, the provisions of the Lease shall control.

1. The sidewalks, driveways, entrances, passages, courts, lobby, esplanade areas, plaza, elevators, vestibules, stairways, corridors or halls shall not be obstructed or encumbered by any tenant or
used for any purpose other than ingress and egress to and from the Premises (although the esplanade and other outdoor Common Areas may be used for outdoor smoking), and Tenant shall not permit



any of its employees, agents or invitees to loiter in any of said areas (except for outdoor smoking). No door mat of any kind whatsoever shall be placed or left in any public hall or outside any entry
door of the Premises.

2. No awnings or other projections shall be attached to the outside walls of the Building. No curtains, blinds, shades or screens that are visible from the exterior of the Premises or Building shall
be attached to or hung in, or used in connection with, any window or door of the Premises, without the prior written consent of Landlord (including the manner of hanging or attachment).

3. No sign, insignia, advertisement, object, notice or other lettering shall be exhibited, inscribed, painted or affixed by any tenant either (a) on any part of the outside of the Building, or (b) inside
of the Common Areas, or (c) outside of the Premises, without in each such case the prior written consent of Landlord. In the event of the violation of the foregoing by any tenant, Landlord may remove
the same without any liability, and may charge the expense incurred in such removal to the tenant or tenants violating this rule. Interior signs in Common Areas of the Building (if and when approved
by Landlord), and lettering on doors and directory tablets shall be inscribed, painted or affixed for each tenant by Landlord at the reasonable expense of such tenant, and shall be of a size, color and
style which matches Building standard or is otherwise reasonably acceptable to Landlord.

4. The sashes, sash doors, skylights, windows, and doors that reflect or admit light and air into the halls, passageways or other public places in the Building shall not be covered or obstructed by
any tenant, nor shall any bottles, parcels, or other articles be placed on the window sills or on the peripheral air-conditioning enclosures.

5. No showcases or other articles shall be put in front of or affixed to any part of the exterior of the Building, nor placed in the halls, corridors or vestibules.
6. The water and wash closets and other plumbing fixtures shall not be used for any purpose other than those for which they were designed or constructed, and no sweepings,

rubbish, rags, acids or other substances shall be thrown or deposited therein. All damages resulting from any misuse of the fixtures shall be borne by the tenant who, or whose servants, employees,
agents, visitors or licensees shall have, caused the same. Except as specified in Landlord’s cleaning specifications, any cuspidors or containers or receptacles used as such in the Premises shall be
emptied, cared for and cleaned by and at the expense of Tenant.

7. No tenant shall mark, paint, drill into, or in any way deface any part of the Premises or the Building. No borings or cuttings shall be permitted, except with the prior written consent of
Landlord, and as Landlord may direct. Subject to the foregoing, Tenant may install and hang normal office decorations and cabinetry in the Premises.

8. No bicycles, vehicles, birds or animals of any kind (except fish) shall be brought into or kept in or about the Premises. However, this prohibition shall not apply to dogs which are assisting
visually impaired personnel or which may be utilized for detecting illegal drugs or explosives.

9. No noise, including, but not limited to, music or other playing of musical instruments, recordings, radio or television, which, in the judgment of Landlord, might disturb other tenants in the
Building, shall be made or permitted by any tenant. Nothing shall be done or permitted in the Premises by any tenant which would impair or interfere with the use or enjoyment by any other tenant of
any other space in the Building.

10. No tenant nor any of tenant’s servants, employees, agents, visitors or licensees shall at any time bring or keep upon the Premises any inflammable, combustible or explosive fluid, chemical
or substance, except in small quantities as may be required for the proper operation, maintenance and/or cleaning of customary office equipment, provided Tenant shall comply with any and all laws
and regulations governing usage and disposal of same.

11. Additional locks or bolts of any kind which shall not be operable by the Grand Master Key for the Building shall not be placed upon any of the doors or windows by any tenant, nor shall any
changes be made in locks or the mechanism thereof which shall make such locks inoperable by said Grand Master Key. Each tenant shall, upon the termination of its tenancy, turn over to Landlord all
keys of stores, offices and toilet rooms, either furnished to, or otherwise procured by, such tenant, and in the event of the loss of any keys furnished by Landlord, such tenant shall pay to Landlord the
cost thereof.

12. The removal or delivery of furniture or extra-large or heavy items which may interfere with the use and occupancy of the Building by other tenants, or with their access to their respective
leased premises, must take place during such hours and in such elevators as Landlord or its Agent may reasonably determine from time to time. Landlord reserves the right to inspect all objects and
matter to be brought into the Building and to exclude from the Building all objects and matter which violate any of these Rules and Regulations or the Lease of which these Rules

and Regulations are a part. Landlord may require any person leaving the Building with any package or other object or matter to submit a pass, listing such package or object or matter is being removed,
but the establishment and enforcement of such requirement shall not impose any additional responsibility on Landlord for the protection of any tenant against the removal of property from the premises
of such tenant. Landlord shall in no way be liable to any tenant for damages or loss arising from the admission, exclusion or ejection of any person to or from the Premises or the Building under the
provisions of this Rule 12 or Rule 16 hereof.

13. Tenant shall not occupy or permit any portion of the Premises to be occupied as an office for a public stenographer or public typist, or for the storage, manufacture, or sale of liquor,
narcotics, dope, tobacco in any form, or as a barber, beauty or manicure shop, or as a school, or as a hiring or employment agency. Tenant shall not engage or pay any employees on the Premises,
except those actually working for Tenant on the Premises (excluding independent contractors). Tenant shall not use the Premises or any part thereof, or permit the Premises, or any part thereof to be
used for manufacturing or for the sale at auction of merchandise, goods or property of any kind.

14. No tenant shall obtain, purchase or accept for use in the Premises, ice, water cooler, towel service, barbering, boot blackening, special cleaning, floor polishing or other similar services from
any persons not expressly authorized by Landlord to furnish such service; provided, however, that such service may be furnished by an outside vendor or caterer in the event the vendors and/or caterers
doing business at the Merritt 7 Corporate Park fail to bid competitive prices or rates for such services. Such services shall be furnished only during regular Business Hours, in the Premises, and under
such reasonable regulations as may be fixed by Landlord. Notwithstanding the above, this prohibition shall not prevent Tenant from furnishing such services for its employees, guests, invitees and
independent contractors, or prevent Tenant’s employees from bringing in lunch items and/or having coffee breaks or to prevent Tenant from using caterers of its choosing.

15. Landlord shall have the right to prohibit any advertising or identifying sign by any tenant which, in Landlord’s judgment, tends to impair the reputation of the Building or its desirability as a
building for offices and upon written notice from Landlord, such tenant shall refrain from or discontinue such advertising or identifying sign.

16. Landlord reserves the right to exclude from the Building during hours other than Business Hours (as defined in the foregoing Lease) all persons connected with or calling upon Tenant who
do not present a pass to the Building signed by Tenant or whose entry Tenant does not approve in response to telephone inquiry from the front desk upon such person’s arrival at the Building. Tenant
shall furnish Landlord with a facsimile of such pass. All persons entering and/or leaving the Building on weekends or Holidays or on non-Holiday weekends before or after Business Hours may, after a
single notice from Landlord to Tenant, be required to sign a register. Tenant shall be responsible for all persons for whom it issues any such pass and shall be liable to Landlord for all acts or omissions
of such persons.

17. Tenant, before closing and leaving the Premises at any time, shall see that all lights are turned out, provided the cleaning service has finished. All entrance doors in the Premises shall be left
locked by Tenant when the Premises are not in use. Entrance doors shall not be left open at any time.

18. Unless Landlord shall furnish electrical energy hereunder as a service included in the rent, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s expense, provide artificial light and electrical energy for the employees of
Landlord and/or Landlord’s contractors while doing janitor service or other cleaning in the Premises and while making repairs or alterations in the Premises.

19. The Premises shall not be used for lodging or sleeping or for any immoral or illegal purpose.

20. The requirements of tenants will be attended to only upon notice to Landlord’s managing agent and, if Landlord or its managing agent requests, upon execution and submission or written
application or purchase order. Employees of Landlord shall not perform any work or do anything outside of their regular duties, unless under special instructions from Landlord.

21. Canvassing, soliciting and peddling in the Building are prohibited and each tenant shall cooperate to prevent the same.

22. There shall not be used in any space, or in the public halls of the Building, either by any tenant or by any others, in the moving or delivery or receipt of safes, freight, furniture, packages,
boxes, crates, paper, office material, or any other matter or thing, any hand trucks except those equipped with rubber tires, side guards and such other safeguards as Landlord shall require.

23. Tenant shall not cause or permit any odors of cooking or other processes or any unusual or objectionable odors to emanate from the Premises in disturbance of other tenants or which creates
a public or private nuisance. No cooking shall be done in the Premises except as is expressly permitted in the foregoing Lease.

24, Landlord reserves the right to rescind, alter or waive any rule or regulation at any time prescribed for the Building when, in its judgment, it deems it necessary or desirable for the reputation,
safety, care or appearance of the Building, or the preservation of good order therein, or the operation or maintenance of the Building, or the equipment thereof, or the comfort of tenants or others in the
Building. No rescission, alteration or waiver of any rule or regulation in favor of one tenant shall operate as a rescission, alteration or waiver in favor of any other tenant.



25. The parking areas servicing the Building, including but not limited to any reserved spaces of Tenant, shall not be used for storage of vehicles or long-term parking of vehicles; it being the
intention that Tenant’s use of said parking areas is to be directly related to Tenant’s use

of Premises as said use is permitted by the terms of its Lease. Landlord reserves the right to cause the removal, by towing, of vehicles in violation of this parking rule, it being understood and agreed by
Tenant that Landlord’s right to tow illegally parked vehicles is hereby noticed to Tenant and no notice of Landlord’s right to tow illegally parking vehicles by signage need be posted on the Land or the
Building. All costs of the towing of illegally parked cars shall be borne by Tenant and shall be deemed additional rent.

EXHIBIT E

CLEANING SPECIFICATIONS

DAILY:

Sweep, dry mop or vacuum all floor areas of resilient wood or carpet, remove matter such as gum and tar which has adhered to the floor.

Empty all ashtrays and waste baskets and remove all trash.

Spot wash to remove major smudges, marks and fingerprints from such areas as walls, equipment, doors, partitions and light switches within reach.
Damp mop all non-resilient floors.

Furniture dusted, as needed, (excluding desks and furniture with papers, etc.).

WEEKLY: Spot clean carpet stains.

Spot wash interior partition glass and door glass to remove smudge marks.

MONTHLY:

Scrub resilient floor areas using buffable non-slip type floor finish.

Clean all interior glass, both sides.

QUARTERLY:

High dust all horizontal and vertical surfaces not reached in nightly cleaning.
‘Wash vertical terrazzo or marble surfaces.

Damp wash such items, including surrounding wall or ceiling areas, that are soiled.

SEMI-ANNUALLY:

Vacuum drapes.
Dust all storage shelves and damp mop floor areas.
‘Wash all interior surface of exterior glass.

Refinish resilient floor areas using buffable non-slip floor finish.

EXHIBIT F

WORK SCHEDULE

[see attached]



